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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has positioned as a market designed to accommodate
companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration. The
greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean
that it is a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Ziyuanyuan
Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Hong Kong
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
R

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Ziyuanyuan
Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year").

During the Year, the Group is principally engaged in provision
of medical equipment finance leasing services, maternal and
child postpartum care industry services and trading of medical
equipment and consumables business in the PRC.

OUTLOOK

The Group expects that after the epidemic, the healthcare industry
will become a new economic breakthrough with great potential for
value addition, and the Group has set up the finance leasing service
to focus on the field of medical equipment and to develop the
trading of medical equipment and consumables business, to help
upgrade the healthcare industry, but also to diversify the Group's
income point.

As early as the "The Outline of the 14th Five-Year Plan for
Economic and Social Development and Long-Range Objectives
through the Year 2035 of the People's Republic of China” (referred
to as the “14th Five-Year Plan”) released in March 2021, it
emphasized the key layout for medical equipment. The healthy
development of the medical equipment industry is closely related to
the long-term national policy of promoting the development of the
medical equipment industry. China's medical equipment industry
has maintained a high growth rate and become the second largest
market in the world. The optimization of the policy environment,
the improvement of national health awareness, and medical
technology innovation have all provided strong momentum for the
industry's development. Especially under the impetus of the 14th
Five-Year Plan, the medical equipment industry is expected to usher
in a new peak of development.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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In August 2023, the “Pharmaceutical Industry High-Quality
Development Action Plan (2023-2025)" and the “Medical
Equipment Industry High-Quality Development Action Plan (2023-
2025)" were released, aiming to improve the resilience and
modernization level of the pharmaceutical industry and medical
equipment industry, enhance the supply capacity of high-end
medical equipment, key technologies, as well as raw materials,
and accelerate the filling of gaps in China's high-end medical
equipment.

In March 2024, the State Council of China issued the “Action
Plan for Promoting Large-Scale Equipment Renewal and Consumer
Goods Replacement” (hereinafter referred to as the “Action
Plan”).
investment in industries such as industry, agriculture, construction,

It pointed out that by 2027, the scale of equipment

transportation, education, culture and tourism, and healthcare
would increase by more than 25% compared to 2023. The Action
Plan clearly states the goal of improving the level of medical
equipment. It specifies the strengthening of the construction of
a high-quality and efficient medical and health service system,
promoting the upgrade of medical and information technology
facilities in healthcare institutions, encouraging eligible medical
institutions to accelerate the renewal and transformation of
medical equipment such as medical imaging, radiotherapy,
telemedicine, and surgical robots. It also promotes the
transformation and upgrade of medical institution wards, filling the
gaps in ward environments and facilities.

In July 2024, the Third Plenary Session of the 20th CPC Central
Committee adopted the “Decision of the CPC Central Committee
on Further Comprehensively Deepening Reforms and Promoting
Chinese-style Modernization”, which clearly proposed to “improve
the mechanism to support the development of innovative drugs
and medical devices.” This policy orientation has injected strong
impetus into the innovative development of the medical device
industry.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
R

The Group's medical equipment and consumables trading
business aligns with national policies, focusing on promoting
the development of the medical equipment industry. The Group,
through the existing medical equipment and consumables trading
business integrates supply chain resources, opens up the upstream
and downstream of the supply chain, with supply chain planning
and distribution (SPD), Internet plus medical and trade installments,
so as to provide one-stop solutions for customers all over the
country. In the future, the Group will increase its investment in
research and development, actively carry out innovative projects,
and enhance its competitiveness in technology and products.

In the new year, the global economic situation remains grim. We
will continue to increase investment in various businesses and
continue to strive to find opportunities in the face of challenges,
so as to return shareholders and the public, and realize corporate
value as well as social value.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express sincere appreciation
to the support and trust of our Shareholders, banks, customers and
business partners. | would also like to express heartfelt gratitude to
the effort and contribution of our staff members.

Zhang Junshen
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group is principally engaged in provision
of medical equipment finance leasing services, maternal and
child postpartum care industry services and trading of medical
equipment and consumables business in the PRC.

Finance leasing services

During the Year, the Group has been focusing on provision
of finance leasing services to SMEs customers in the medical
equipment industry in various provinces, municipalities, and
autonomous regions in the PRC, where the Group has established
connections with industry players and gained operational
expertise. The finance lease offered by the Group comprises direct
finance leasing and sale-leaseback. The Group provided services
to approximately 5,000 SMEs customers across 30 provinces,
municipalities and autonomous regions in the PRC as at 31
December 2024. The Group recorded a revenue of RMB9.2 million
from the finance leasing services during the Year.

In order to cope with the adverse macroeconomic environment and
control credit risks, the Group reduced its investment in financial
leasing services, resulting in a decrease in revenue for the Year.

Risk management policies

The Group faces a variety of risks in providing finance leasing
services, including credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk,
operational risk, and legal and compliance risk. The Group
recognises the importance of an effective risk management system
for identifying and mitigating these risks. The Group has developed
a risk management system tailored to the characteristics of our
business operations, with a focus on managing the risks through
comprehensive due diligence on the customer, independent
information review and multi-level approval process. The Group
continues to monitor and review the operation and performance
of the risk management system, and to improve the system from
time to time to adapt to the changes in market conditions and
regulatory environment. The core principle of risk management
system is to minimise such risks in business activities and to protect
the long-term interests of the Group and the Shareholders.

EEEw RO

E S ACINEE
FEBRAFETENTREFRHER
EMREREAERS SBAFEERS
RBREMRERFEMEZER-

REHE RS

AREE  AEBEIREFEHZSELE MK
BEREREBESMRETENPNEESR
FRUEREAERS AEEBEZSEHED
AN EERUBBUIESEXEENH A
EEREHNRETECEEEMERER
EgEQE - R _Z_ME+_B=+—H"
AEBHEMTHIER TAREAEY
5,000/ NPEZRIRERB - AFEE A&
EEMEHERFBREBHBRAARIZES

T ©

MR AEEA T YRR N R BRI
EEEEAR BRLRRLRERER
%o EAE A T

BEEERE
K%lf%ﬁ%%ﬂ&W$¢ﬁﬁ%%E

BoAEEEREBR - RBETAR AR
ﬂ % %LHB /£1$J§2Aiﬁﬂﬁm o KEH
DHFBEMABREERAH B R ERZ
STEBNEZML -FsEEEHHEBEEN
SHEI—ERBEEAG EXNEEHE
FREZEEREET - BUBHERARZER]R
ERFREEZFRAR FERFEEER
BN ABREERMNEMFRRE LA
HEZZRR E2BETRKEERENE
E- RBEERAMHZORMNZBEERTEH
PREZEER REAERRRRIEH
Mo e

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2024

9



10

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R RN

The following summary illustrates the major credit risk MTHRAFEZEERMEEEH I HME

management measures:

° Due diligence: The Risk Management Department is °
responsible for conducting thorough due diligence on
each customer, covering their background, operational and
financial conditions, credit history, financing purposes, major
shareholders and guarantors. This process includes on-site
interviews and document reviews at the customer's business
premises, as well as cross-verification through online sources,
remote video calls, and other digital channels. By carrying out
a comprehensive due diligence process, the Risk Management
Department gains a holistic understanding of the customer’s
operations and financial standing. Based on this, it prepares
a detailed credit assessment report evaluating the customer’s
financing needs and their ability to fulfill lease payment
obligations.

o Asset quality: The Group evaluates the value and liquidity of o
assets under each finance leasing transaction to ensure that
the outstanding lease payments are adequately secured by the
value of leased assets.

o Approval process: The Group has a multi-level review and o
approval system that enables thorough evaluation and
discussion of potential issues and risks associated with each
finance leasing transaction. Once receiving the customer’s
application materials, the Risk Management Department
conducts a preliminary assessment of the customer’s capital
needs, repayment ability, the value and liquidity of the leased
equipment, and any major risks related to the transaction to
determine whether the customer meets the Group's entry
criteria. Following this, the Risk Management Department
performs a detailed assessment of the customer's operational
and financial conditions and prepares a credit assessment
report. Depending on the transaction type and the amount
of funds involved, the risk management committee evaluates
the transaction either through a review of the transaction
packet or a formal committee meeting. After review,
the risk management committee determines whether to
grant final approval. For significant business decisions, the
Risk Management Committee first reviews the relevant
documents. Once unanimous agreement is reached, the
Risk Management Committee submits the documents to
the Board, which makes the final decision following its own
review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o Post-drawdown management: The post-drawdown
management includes routine inspections, on-site inspections,
daily supervision, as well as monthly review, of the collection
status of finance lease receivables, repayment reminders,
overdue collection and overdue warnings, and ongoing
monitoring of leased assets. Finance and accounting
department conducts daily supervision by examining the
daily log for each transaction, which includes the name,
amount due and payable to the Group at relevant times, as
well as the collection status of customers. In the event that
the finance lease receivables are collected, the finance and
accounting department marks the relevant collection status
to be “normal repayment” and records the repayment date in
the log. In the event that the finance lease receivables are not
collected, the finance and accounting department notifies the
business development department of such overdue payment,
and the business department follows up with the relevant
customers. The continuous review process coordinated among
various departments and risk management committee enables
the Group to identify any potential default of the customers
and take remedial actions to enhance the security of leased
assets at an early stage.

Lease portfolio

Lease portfolio by industry

The following table sets forth our net amount of receivables arising
from finance leasing services by industry as of the dates indicated:

EEEw RO

e RHRER:RENREESENTE
E EBEMBEE - HEEE UKEAR
SR EAE R UGRIENWER R B
FOE R~ B HR R O] Ko E AR AR R R B A
ERHEEE-MHERGStHBERE
BEREXZWAGETEAEE
% & BB AE R R R BV R U R
BN EER UkE R WEIER - fHikE
MEBERBRIE BB G5 EBE
RAEEAWEBERRELS S TEEER
0 7 50 B FH AC Br 2 AR E HA o i I R UK
[O] B & T & FE Wk I8 - B 35 K F 5T R
ERERAPAMBEBNEB LR
MEBLRFBGREABEL LR
& ERE o A B &R R EREL
T -AEREZEMNMFMRARREERES
EEgHFEWRETEERRF &
AEBEREMNEAZLPNEEHER
IR REREAERITHURANEES
FE BYFREE ©

HEHS

BRITESDNEEES
TEREJEBEEMTHBRTERDNER
EHERBMEENBURUESE !

As at 31 December

®+ZA=+—H
2024 2023
—E_ME —EZ=

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

AREBFT % ARBTT %

Medical equipment B2 124,716 83.3 123,955 94.3

Printing Ef1 21,301 14.2 4,139 3.1

Logistics Y 3,686 2.5 3,375 2.6
Net amount of receivables arising FFEEHRERF MESE

from finance leasing services B & U R 1B 5 A 149,703 100.0 131,469 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEw RO

Lease portfolio by exposure size

The Group primarily offered equipment-based finance leases,
the terms of which generally ranged from 12 to 60 months,
and the size of which generally ranged from RMBO.1 million to
RMB30.0 million. The following table sets forth net amount of our
receivables arising from finance leasing services by exposure size as
of the dates indicated:

REBRESONEEES
AEEFERMUURBAERIRERE
BH—RNF12260ER » HE—RNTFA
RBOI1HEETEARK30.06887T TXRHE
SIBEMTHERARERE ONERE
HERF ME LRI EWRIEFER

As at 31 December

BK+ZB=+—8H
2024 2023
ZEINE “B_=F
Number of Number of
customers RMB’000 % customers RMB'000 %
EFYE  ARETR % EFBE  ARETR %
Up to RMB1,000,000 R®%AANE1,000,0007T 223 31,414 21.0 1,252 62,008 47.2
RMB1,000,001 to AR#1,000,0017E
RMB3,000,000 AR 3,000,0007T 1 15,937 10.6 17 25,412 19.3
RMB3,000,001 to AE#3,000,00175%
RMB5,000,000 AR #5,000,00075 - - 2 7,032 53
RMB5,000,001 to AR #5,000,00170E
RMB10,000,000 AR #10,000,00070 1 7,716 5.2 1 9,453 7.2
RMB10,000,001 to AE110,000,0017cE
RMB20,000,000 AE#20,000,0007T 4 67,178 44.9 1 27,564 21.0
RMB20,000,001 to AR 20,000,001t 2
RMB30,000,000 AR #30,000,00070 1 27,458 18.3 - - -
Net amount of receivables arising  [REE T ERMETEE
from finance leasing services RIS 240 149,703 100.0 1,273 131,469 100.0

Lease portfolio by security
The following table sets forth net amount of our receivables arising
from finance leasing services by security as of the dates indicated:

REFRIONBEEES
TEREJEBEEMTHBZEREDNER
EHERBMEENBURURSE !

As at 31 December

®W+ZBA=+—H

2024 2023

—EmM4E —EZ=
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR®F % ARBTT %
Secured and guaranteed BEEAERBEER 149,703 100.0 130,798 99.5
Guaranteed BER - 671 0.5

Net amount of receivables arising FEREHEERFEMESE

from finance leasing services B & U R 1B 5 A 149,703 100.0 131,469 100.0

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Maternal and child postpartum care industry services
Postpartum confinement (8¢ B)is a traditional Chinese custom,
which allows women to rest fully after giving birth, and to recover
through diet. It is said that it is the best time for women to improve
their physical well-being. Hence, postpartum care centres (B
H ) had emerged. The Group provides postpartum care services
in the PRC, consisting of four major areas of (i) health care for
postpartum mothers and newborn babies; (ii) dietary and nutrition
for postpartum mothers; (iii) recovery and beauty for postpartum
mothers; and (iv) intellectual development for newborn babies.

The maternal and child postpartum care industry services recorded
a revenue of RMB24.2 million during the Year. The decline in
revenue was primarily attributed to several factors, including: (i) the
adverse macroeconomic environment, which led to more cautious
consumer spending and a subsequent decrease in the revenue for
the Year; and (ii) intense price competition among postpartum care
centers, resulting in customer attrition.

Profit guarantees in relation to the acquisitions of subsidiaries

On 22 July 2020, the Group entered into an investment
agreement and a shareholders’ agreement (the “"Desheng Meimei
Agreements”) with a vendor (the “Vendor”) to acquire 51%
equity interest in Wuhan Desheng Meimei Health Management
Co., Ltd. ("Desheng Meimei”), a company incorporated in the
PRC with the consideration of RMB3.4 million ("Desheng Meimei
Consideration”). Desheng Meimei is engaged in the provision of
postpartum care services in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Pursuant to the Desheng Meimei Agreements and the supplemental
agreement to the Desheng Meimei Agreements, the Vendor agreed
to provide profit guarantee to the Group that Desheng Meimei
shall attain the net profit after tax no less than RMB1.8 million
and RMB2.2 million for the period from the date of completion of
the acquisition (the “Desheng Meimei Completion Date"”) to 31
December 2022 and year ended 31 December 2023 respectively
("Desheng Meimei Profit Guarantee”). In the event the Desheng
Meimei Profit Guarantee is not fully met for any period during
the commitment period, the Group has the option to request
the Vendor to (i) repurchase the 51% equity interest in Desheng
Meimei from the Group. The repurchase consideration of Desheng
Meimei is calculated as Desheng Meimei Consideration plus interest
of 8% p.a. from the Desheng Meimei Completion Date; or (ii)
compensate the shortfall of Desheng Meimei Profit Guarantee, i.e.
the difference between Desheng Meimei Profit Guarantee and the
actual profit after tax of the corresponding guarantee period.

Based on the actual financial information, the actual profit after
tax of the Desheng Meimei for the period from the Desheng
Meimei Completion Date to 31 December 2022 was approximately
RMBO0.9 million, as a result, the Desheng Meimei Profit Guarantee
was not met. After reviewing the forecast of Desheng Meimei and
the information currently available to the Group, the Group has
exercised the right to request the Vendor to repurchase the 51%
equity interest in Desheng Meimei from the Group during the Year.
However, the Vendor failed to fulfil the obligation of repurchase in
accordance with the Desheng Meimei Agreements. In August 2023,
the Group has filed a lawsuit against the Vendor due to the above
mentioned dispute. In December 2023, the Group received the
Civil Judgment served by the Shenzhen Nanshan District People’s
Court and the Vendor was ordered by the Court to buy back the
Equity Interest of Desheng Meimei. The Group reached a settlement
agreement with the Vendor in June 2024, and the Vendor
repurchased Desheng Meimei for RMB1.3 million. The repurchase
was completed in July 2024 and a loss of RMB1.8 million was
recorded during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 4 December 2020, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement, an investment agreement and a shareholders’
agreement (the “Jiaenbei Agreements”) with vendors to
purchase 54% of equity interest of Wuhan Jiaenbei Health
Management Co. Ltd. (“Jiaenbei”), a limited liability company
incorporated in the PRC with consideration of RMB3.24 million
(“Jiaenbei Consideration”). Jiaenbei is engaged in provision of

postpartum care service in the PRC.

Pursuant to the Jiaenbei Agreements, the vendors of Jiaenbei
agreed to provide profit guarantee to the Group that Jiaenbei
shall attain the net profit after tax no less than RMB1.0 million for
each of the period from the date of completion of the acquisition
(the “Jiaenbei Completion Date”) to 31 December 2021, year
ended 31 December 2022 and year ended 31 December 2023
respectively (“Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee”). In the event the
Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee is not fully met for any period during
the commitment period, the Group has the option to request the
vendors to (i) repurchase the 54% equity interest in Jiaenbei from
the Group. The repurchase consideration of Jiaenbei is calculated as
Jiaenbei Consideration plus interest of 10% p.a. from the Jiaenbei
Completion Date; or (ii) compensate the shortfall of Jiaenbei Profit
Guarantee, i.e. the difference between Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee
and the actual profit after tax of the corresponding guarantee
period.

Based on the actual financial information, the actual profit after
tax of the Jiaenbei for the period from the Jiaenbei Completion
Date to 31 December 2021 was approximately RMB1.0 million,
as a result, the Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee was met and the actual
profit after tax of the Jiaenbei for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately RMBO0.3 million, as a result, the Jiaenbei
Profit Guarantee was not met. After reviewing the forecast of
Jiaenbei and the information available to the Group, the Group
decided neither exercised the option to request the vendors to
repurchase the 54% equity interest in Jiaenbei from the Group
nor requested the vendors to compensate the shortfall of Jiaenbei
Profit Guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group
entered into a supplemental agreement with the vendors, the
vendors agreed to revise the Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee that Jiaenbei
shall attain the net profit after tax no less than RMB1.0 million
for each of the year ended 31 December 2023 and year ended 31
December 2024 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Based on the actual financial information, the actual profit after
tax of the Jiaenbei for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMBO0.3 million, as a result, the Jiaenbei Profit
Guarantee was not met. After reviewing the forecast of Jiaenbei
and the information currently available to the Group, the Group
decided neither exercise the option to request the vendors to
repurchase the 54% equity interest in Jiaenbei from the Group
nor request the vendors to compensate the shortfall of Jiaenbei
Profit Guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group
entered into a further supplemental agreement with the vendors,
the vendors agreed to revise the Jiaenbei Profit Guarantee that
Jiaenbei shall attain the net profit after tax no less than RMB1.0
million for each of the year ended 31 December 2024 and year
ending 31 December 2025 respectively.

Based on the actual financial information, the actual profit after
tax of the lJianbei for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately RMB1.0 million, as a result, the Jianbei Profit
Guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2024 was met.

Impairment of gooadwill and intangible assets

The Group performed a year end annual impairment test on
goodwill. Taking into consideration of Guangzhou Sheng Cheng
Dunnan Enterprise Management Co., Limited (“Dunnan”) and its
subsidiaries (“Dunnan Group”) suffered a continuous operating
loss, all of the postpartum care centres in Dunnan Group were
ceased operations after the reporting date and the unfavourable
market condition facing by Dunnan Group, the Group determined
that there was an indication for impairment on the goodwill arising
from the acquisition of the Dunnan Group. An impairment loss
on goodwill and trademark amounted to approximately RMB9.9
million and RMB8.5 million were recognised respectively for the
Year. Please refer to Note 18 to these consolidated financial
statements for details of impairment of goodwill and intangible
assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 29 December 2022, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Meikangmao Equity Transfer Agreement”)
with an independent third party to purchase the entire equity
interest in Wuhan Meikangmao Health Management Co., Ltd.
("Meikangmao”), a limited liability company established in
the PRC, for a consideration of RMB40.0 million. As of the
date of signing of the Meikangmao Equity Transfer Agreement,
Meikangmao owned a postpartum care center in Wuhan, China
(the “Meikangmao Postpartum Care Center”) which had not yet
opened and was expected to open before 30 June 2023.

In the post-epidemic era, the Group plans to provide high-end
postpartum care services at the Meikangmao Postpartum Care
Center in line with the three-child policy. The equity transfer
agreement of Meikangmao stipulates that certain conditions
precedent need to be met before the acquisition can be completed.
Among the conditions precedent, it is stipulated that Meikangmao
Postpartum Care Center needs to obtain all necessary licenses
and permits required for daily business operations and started its
operations. As the approval of relevant licenses and permits took
longer than expected, the completion of the renovation of the
Meikangmao Postpartum Care Center was delayed and the opening
time was also delayed accordingly.

The acquisition was completed in April 2024. However, due to an
unfavorable market environment and the intense price competition,
the Meikangmao Postpartum Care Center has been operating at
a loss since its opening. In September 2024, the Group signed an
agreement with another postpartum care center to transfer the site
of the Meikangmao Postpartum Care Center to this postpartum
care center for operation under its brand for a period of five years.
This postpartum care center pays a fixed rent and 30%-40% of the
operating profit of the underlying postpartum care service center
business to the Group.

For the annually impairment testing of goodwill arising from the
acquisition of Meikangmao, the company recognised goodwill
impairment loss of approximately RMB7.1 million in the current
year. Details of the impairment of goodwill are set out in the Note
18 to these consolidated financial statements.

Except the above, the Group did not recognise any impairment loss
of goodwill in relation to the other acquisitions.

EEEw RO

W _E__F+_RA+hB AEEEE
UEZAFTUMNBEBARKI0.08ELE
BEREZRLBREEBRAR ((EER))
(—FRKRAPERINERETLE) 25
ez e Eng ((EREREEER
B EEIEBRXREEEREEH =
BEREFEREEE —XERBEENATF
L (TEERAFHROL)  ERERIZZ=
FERB=1+HAHZE-

REEGREREERA EafR=RK
ROEERXABFRORESHA FRE -
EEREREFEHZTOET BEEM
BT FRRIFEA BET RIS » ORI E S
METERXBFHIORENSHEES
BREFMEZABELEBRKETA 1B 5
2 o P AR HE AR R BF B JE HE BY B ) B TR BT
RO BERERA FRONKETAH R BT
%> REREIEEIRIE -

ZWENR S ZMHFENAB R - T M TG
RIERBIIBRBEIZE  ZBEXATFHL
BREUR—BEERBERE ZSHF
NB AEBHRS—KRAFHRLEBT W
BEBRXBTFHRLZHEMBERIFZA FH
ODUEREEE BlAF - ZBTHLE
FEBENEBRBTFILERZETCHES
LU R230%-40% & 5EF 5 o

HRWEERXFMEENBEZFERE
A ZFERIBEREBROARE
T BB -AHMBEREZFRENGS
MBHERME 18 -

Pr EXPREtE SN AEE I EGL H U E 2
e ERIE

EnnZEREERERAT FERE 2024

17



18

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Trading of medical equipment and consumables business

The Group expects that after the epidemic, the healthcare industry
will become a new economic breakthrough with great potential
for value addition. Benefiting from the PRC government's policy
of encouraging innovation in medical equipment and promoting
high quality development of the medical equipment industry, the
Group has been able to leverage on its experience in the medical
equipment industry from its previous finance leasing business, its
cooperation with medical equipment suppliers and its practical
understanding of the characteristics and needs of its customers
to commence its medical equipment and consumables trading
business in the PRC, mainly focusing on aesthetic medicine, dental,
maternal and child and large hospital medical equipment. The
Group recorded a revenue of RMB493.2 million from the trading of
medical equipment and consumables business for the Year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue consists of (i) finance leasing income and interest income
from loan receivables in finance leasing services; (ii) operating lease
income; (iii) postpartum care services income; (iv) income from
trading of medical equipment and consumables; and (v) Income
from IT services. The Group's revenue increased by approximately
RMB54.3 million or approximately 10.9%, from approximately
RMB498.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Prior Year”) to approximately RMB552.3 million for the Year.
The increase in revenue for the Year was mainly attributable to
income from trading of medical equipment and consumables
increased from approximately RMB417.0 million for the Prior Year
to approximately RMB493.2 million for the Year, which offsetting (i)
the finance leasing income decreased from approximately RMB25.1
million for the Prior Year to approximately RMB9.2 million for the
Year; and (ii) postpartum care services income decreased from
approximately RMB28.4 million for the Prior Year to approximately
RMB24.2 million for the Year; (iii) operating lease income from
RMBO0.8 million for the Prior Year decreased to approximately
RMBO.3 million for the Year; and (iv) income from IT services from
RMB26.6 million for the Prior Year decreased to approximately
RMB25.4 million for the Year.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales increased from approximately RMB375.0 million
for the Prior Year to approximately RMB465.7 million for the
Year, including an increase in the cost of medical equipment and
consumables sold from approximately RMB359.3 million for the
Prior Year to approximately RMB444.4 million for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Staff cost

Staff costs include primarily Directors’ remuneration, employee
salaries, allowances and other staff benefits as well as employee
retirement benefits scheme contributions. Staff costs decreased
from RMB38.7 million for the Prior Year to approximately RMB24.9
million For the Year.

Impairment losses under expected credit loss (“ECL") model,
net of reversal

The Group is not required to provide general provisions as
commercial banks and other financial institutions which the
China Banking Regulatory Commission regulates. The provisioning
policies are based on the applicable accounting standards. The
management assesses the measurement of ECL in relation to trade
receivables, finance lease receivables, loan receivables and financial
guarantee. In determining the impairment of trade receivables,
finance lease receivables, loan receivables and financial guarantee,
the management considers shared credit risk characteristics
including industry types, historical past due information and
lessees’ creditworthiness for grouping, and assesses credit losses
based on internal credit rating and on a forward looking basis
with the use of appropriate models and assumptions relate to the
economic inputs and the future macroeconomic conditions.

For the Year, an additional impairment loss of approximately
RMBA43.7 million (2023: RMB6.0 million) was recognised due to the
adverse macroeconomic environment, which caused the increase in
the customers' past due ratio.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses include primarily audit fees, legal and
professional fees, travel and transportation expenses, promotion
expenses, depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
depreciation of right-of-use assets, amortisation of intangible
asset, short-term leases payments, research and development
costs and the miscellaneous expenses of postpartum care business.
Other operating expenses decreased from approximately RMB46.0
million for the Prior Year to approximately RMB37.4 million for the
Year. The decrease was mainly attributable to (i) the promotion
expenses decreased from approximately RMB5.1 million for the
Prior Year to approximately RMB1.1 million for the Year; (ii) travel
and transportation expenses decreased from approximately RMB3.4
million for the Prior Year to approximately RMB1.0 million for
the Year; and (iii) office expenses decreased from approximately
RMB4.2 million for the Prior Year to approximately RMB2.5 million
for the Year.
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Finance costs

Finance costs mainly consist of (i) interest on bank and other
borrowings; and (ii) interests on lease liabilities. Finance costs
decreased from approximately RMB13.9 million for the Prior Year
to approximately RMB11.5 million for the Year. The decrease
was mainly due to the interests on bank and other borrowings
decreased from approximately RMB12.4 million for the Prior Year to
approximately RMB9.4 million for the Year.

Income tax credit/(expenses)

Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group qualified as small low profit
enterprises with annual taxable income not more than RMB1.0
million, and the portion that exceeds RMB1.0 million but does not
exceed RMB3.0 million (inclusive) are entitled to enterprise income
tax calculated at 25% of its taxable income at a tax rate of 20%.
A PRC subsidiary of the Group recognised as high technology
enterprise is entitled to a preferential enterprise income tax rate of
15%. The enterprise income tax rate applicable to the other PRC
subsidiaries of the Group is 25%.

(Loss)/Profit for the Year attributable to owners of the
Company

The Group recorded loss and total comprehensive income
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB53.0
million for the Year, compared to profit and total comprehensive
income attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB14.6 million for Prior Year. The turnaround was mainly due
to (i) the decrease in finance leasing income and income from
postpartum care services; (ii) the decrease in gross profit in
trading of medical equipment and consumables business; (iii) the
significant increase in impairment losses under expected credit
loss model, net of reversal; and (iv) impairment loss on goodwill
and intangible assets included in other gains and losses, net which
offsetting (i) the decrease in staff costs; (ii) the decrease in other
operating expenses; and (iii) the decrease in finance costs as
compared to the Prior Year.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances and cash were
approximately RMB13.0 million (2023: RMB108.3 million). The
working capital (current assets less current liabilities) and total
equity of the Group were approximately RMB237.1 million (2023:
RMB199.6 million) and approximately RMB302.1 million (2023:
RMB315.3 million), respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank and other borrowings
due within one year were amounted to approximately RMB108.3
million (2023: RMB101.0 million) and the Group’s bank and other
borrowings due after one year were amounted to approximately
RMB74.5 million (2023: RMB31.8 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio was approximately
37.7% (2023: 29.6%), which is calculated as bank and other
borrowings divided by total equity plus bank and other borrowings.
Such increase was mainly due to the expansion in the Group’s
trading of medical equipment and consumables business, resulting
in a increase in demand for bank and other borrowings.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Shares were successfully listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 9 July 2018. There has been no change in the capital
structure of the Group since then. The share capital of the Group
only comprises ordinary Shares.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$43,000,000 and the number of its issued ordinary Shares was
430,000,000.

Subscriptions of new shares under general mandate

On 29 December 2023, the Company entered into two subscription
agreements with two subscribers, pursuant to which the Company
has agreed to allot and issue, and the two subscribers have
conditionally agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of 30,000,000
subscription shares at the subscription price of HK$1.47 per
subscription share (the “Subscription”). The Subscription was
completed on 12 January 2024. For details of the Subscription,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 29
December 2023 and 12 January 2024. The net proceeds from the
Subscription was approximately HK$43.5 million (gross proceeds:
approximately HK$44.1 million) which have been fully utilised
as working capital to develop trading of medical equipment and
consumable business of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEw RO

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s income and expenditure during the Year were
principally denominated in RMB, and most of the assets and
liabilities as at 31 December 2024 were denominated in RMB.
The Group did not experience any material impact or difficulties
in liquidity on its operations resulting from the fluctuation in
exchange rate, and no hedging transaction or forward contract
arrangement was made by the Group during the Year.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital commitments
RMB2.0 million in respect of the acquisition of an associate (2023:
acquisition of a subsidiary and purchase of computer software of
RMB18.8 million).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s finance lease receivables
with an aggregate carrying values of approximately RMB112.2
million (2023: RMB72.1 million) were pledged to a bank and
a finance lease company in the PRC to secure bank and other
borrowings of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the entire equity interests of
a subsidiary of the Group were pledged to a bank in the PRC to
secure a bank borrowing of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

On 29 December 2022, the Group entered into the equity transfer
agreement with an independent third party to purchase the entire
equity interests of Wuhan Meikangmao Health Management Co.,
Ltd.* (“Meikangmao”), a limited liability company incorporated
in the PRC with consideration of RMB40.0 million. Meikangmao is
engaged in provision of postpartum care service in the PRC. The
acquisition was completed in April 2024. Details of the acquisition
are set out in Note 35 to these consolidated financial statements
and the Company’s announcements dated 29 December 2022, 4
January 2023, 30 June 2023 and 29 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Save as the above, the Group did not have other material
acquisition nor disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies
during the Year.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
other future plans for material investments or capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
other significant contingent liabilities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 125 employees (2023:
184 employees) with total staff cost of approximately RMB26.7
million incurred during the Year (2023: RMB41.6 million), which
included the employees retirement benefit expense incurred
during the Year of approximately RMB3.2 million (2023: RMB4.7
million). As required by the applicable laws and regulations, the
Group participates in various employee social security plans for our
employees that are administered by local government. The Group’s
remuneration policy rewards employees and Directors based on
individual performance, demonstrated capabilities, involvement,
market comparable information and the performance of the Group.
The Group improves the professional skills and management level
of its employees through internal and external training. To ensure
that the Group attracts and retains competent staff, remuneration
packages are reviewed on a regular basis. Performance bonuses are
offered to qualified employees based on individual and the Group’s
performance. The Group did not experience any material labour
disputes during the Year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERCHREEBREHRS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Junshen (“Mr. Zhang”) aged 38, was appointed
as a Director on 28 October 2016 and was redesignated as
Executive Director on 13 January 2017. He is also the chairman
of the Board, the chief executive officer, the chairman of the
nomination committee, the compliance officer and the director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for
strategic planning, operation planning and overall management
of the Group. Mr. Zhang is vice president of Shenzhen Federation
of Young Entrepreneurs*, a committee member of the Eighth
Committee of Shenzhen Federation of Youth* and a member of
the People's Congress Legal Work Committee of Futian District,
and he has been a deputy to the Municipal People’s Congress of
Shenzhen* since 2015. Mr. Zhang has approximately 15 years of
experience in general corporate management and approximately
10 years of experience in finance leasing industry. Mr. Zhang is the
elder brother of Mr. Zhang Junwei.

Mr. Zhang graduated from the University of Texas at Arlington
in the United States with an executive master of business
administration degree in December 2014.

Mr. Tian Zhiwei (“Mr. Tian”), aged 34, was appointed as our
Executive Director on 19 June 2024. He has approximately 10 years
of experience in the fields of investment, capital market financing
and merger and acquisition. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tian
was the founder and the chairman of Xiaoju Lexing (Beijing)
Technology Co., Ltd. since June 2019. From August 2016 to
November 2018, Mr. Tian worked for Beijing Zhongzhi Fund Sales
Co., Ltd. as Senior Investment Advisor.

Mr. Tian has obtained a bachelor of Economics degree from Wuhan
Technology and Business University in June 2014.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lyu Di (“Mr. Lyu”), aged 38, was appointed as our Non-
executive Director on 15 August 2019. He is also a member of our
audit committee and the deputy general manager of the Group.
Mr. Lyu is currently holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of
the Company. He is responsible for the project investments and
capital market operations of our Group. Mr. Lyu has over 10 years
of experience in investments and capital market. From December
2014 to May 2019, Mr. Lyu worked at Shenzhen Qianhai Black
Swan Asset Management Company Limited with his last position as
fund manager. He worked at Huatai Jinkong Investment Consulting
(Shenzhen) Co Ltd* from October 2013 to November 2014 with his
last position as an analyst and he was also a representative in Type
4 (advising on securities) regulated activity under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") at
Huatai Financial Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited from March 2014 to
November 2014,

Mr. Lyu graduated from Deakin University with a Bachelor of
Commerce degree, majoring in finance in October 2010. He further
obtained a Master of Commerce degree majoring in finance and
banking from the University of Sydney in October 2012.

Ms. Li Xinpei ("Ms. Li"), aged 31, was appointed as our Non-
executive Director on 24 December 2024. She is the Joint Company
Secretary and the chief officer of Office of the Chairman of the
Board of the Group. Ms. Li is currently holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Li joined the Group as the Joint
Company Secretary in February 2017 and has served as assistant
of General Manager and chief Executive Officer of ZYY Finance
Leasing, with her latest position as the chief officer of Office of
the Chairman of the Board. She is primarily responsible for investor
relations, statutory compliance, project investment related review,
operational management and management of maternal and child
postpartum care business of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERCHREEBREHRS

Ms. Li has over 10 years of experience in administration and
business management. Prior to joining the Group, from April 2015
to January 2017, Ms. Li was the assistant of the General Manager
of Shenzhen Suhao Investment Limited.

Ms. Li obtained a bachelor's degree in Finance and a master's
degree in Business Administration from Twintech International
University College of Technology in Malaysia in April 2016 and
February 2019 respectively.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Chi Fung Leo (“Mr. Chan"), aged 46, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director on 12 June 2018. He
is also the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee and remuneration committee. Mr. Chan
is responsible for providing independent advice to our Board. Mr.
Chan has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting
industry. He also has extensive knowledge and expertise on capital
markets transactions (such as initial public offerings, and merger
and acquisitions). Since August 2017, Mr. Chan has been an
independent non-executive director of Sisram Medical Ltd, a listed
company on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1696). Since October
2017, Mr. Chan has been the responsible officer and managing
director of Red Solar Capital Limited, a company providing advisory
services on corporate finance. Since October 2023, Mr. Chan has
also been an independent non-executive director of Luyuan Group
Holding (Cayman) Limited, a listed company on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2451). Since October 2020 to June 2023, Mr. Chan
was also an independent non-executive director of Jinke Smart
Services Group Co., Ltd., a listed company on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 9666).

Mr. Chan obtained his bachelor’s degree in business administration
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in Hong
Kong in November 2001. Mr. Chan has been a member of HKICPA
since October 2005.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chow Siu Hang (“Mr. Chow"), aged 48, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director on 12 June 2018. Mr.
Chow is responsible for providing independent advice to our
Board. Mr. Chow has more than 20 years of experience in finance
and accounting industry. He also has extensive knowledge and
expertise on capital market transactions including initial public
offerings, financial advisory, and merger and acquisitions. All his
experience in the corporate finance market and investment banking
enables him to support the Group’s operations through providing
advice on funding solutions and their intended applications, and
to assist the Group in formulating our overall business strategies
and development plan. Since October 2019, Mr. Chow has been an
independent non-executive director of Yincheng Life Service Co.,
Ltd., a listed company on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1922).

Mr. Chow has been a fellow member of HKICPA and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Chow obtained
his bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the City University of
Hong Kong in November 1998.

Dr. Deng Bin (“"Dr. Deng”), aged 50, was appointed as our
Independent Non-executive Director on 31 December 2021. He is
also the chairman of the remuneration committee, a member of
the nomination committee and a member of the audit committee
of the Company. Dr. Deng is responsible for providing independent
advice to our Board. He was graduated from Xi‘an Medical
University (now known as Xi‘an Jiaotong University) in China with
a bachelor of medicine degree in 1999, majoring in Stomatology.
He further graduated from National University of Singapore in
Singapore with a doctor of philosophy degree in 2006, majoring
in dental restoration. Dr. Deng has over 20 years of experience in
Stomatology. He is the chief dental officer of Shenzhen Yixin Dental
Clinic* currently, mainly responsible for clinical fields on dental

implant and restoration.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERCHREEBREHRS

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Mou Peng (“Mr. Mou”), aged 44, is the deputy general
manager and risk director of the Group. He joined the Group in
May 2014 as the deputy general manager and head of the risk
management department of ZYY Finance Leasing. He is responsible
for overseeing customer due diligence and credit assessment,
supervising post-drawdown performance, and formulating risk
management policies and rules of the Group.

Mr. Mou has over 10 years of working experience in risk
management. From April 2013 to January 2014, Mr. Mou was the
project director at Shenzhen Zhongxing Supply Chain Management
Limited*. From March 2012 to January 2013, Mr. Mou served as
manager of the integrated management department at Eternal Asia
Supply Chain Management Ltd*, a company listed on Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002183). In January 2008, Mr. Mou
started to work at Shenzhen Branch of the Postal Savings Bank of
China Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1658) (the “"PSBOC SZ Branch”). In November 2009, he was
promoted to the deputy head of the credit and loan department of
the Xinan Division of the PSBOC SZ Branch, and later left PSBOC SZ
Branch in February 2012.

Mr. Mou obtained a bachelor of business administration degree
from Wuhan University in the PRC in June 2004.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report in the
Company’s annual report for the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the important roles of its Board in
providing effective leadership and direction to the Group's business,
and ensuring transparency and accountability of the Company’s
operations. The Board sets appropriate policies and implements
corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct and
growth of the Group’s business.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions as
set out in Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 to the GEM
Listing Rules. For the year, the Company adopted and complied
with, where applicable, the CG Code to ensure that the Group’s
business activities and decision making processes are regulated in a
proper and prudent manner.

In the opinion of the Board, other than the deviation from code
provision C.2.1, the Company complied with the provisions of
the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules
during the Year. Key corporate governance principles and practices
of the Company are summarised below.

A. THE BOARD

A.1 Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility
for promoting the success of the Company by providing
effective leadership and direction to its business,
and ensuring transparency and accountability of its
operations. The Board reserves its decisions for all major
matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, internal control systems, risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
change of Directors, ad hoc projects and other
significant financial and operational matters. The Board
has the full support of the management to discharge its
responsibilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELARS

The day to day management, administration and
operation of the Company are delegated to executive
Directors and the senior management. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to
any significant transactions entered into by the above
mentioned officers. All Directors have full and timely
access to all relevant information of the Company,
with a view to ensure that Board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations in Cayman Islands and
Hong Kong are followed. Each Director is normally able
to seek independent advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense, upon making request to the
Board.

In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the board committees of the
Company. Further details of the board committees of
the Company are set out below in this report.

The Board is also responsible for, among others,
performing the corporate governance duties as set out
in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, which
include:

- to develop and review the Group’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

- to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and
senior management;

- to review and monitor the Group's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

- to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to the Directors and employees; and
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- to review the Group's compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability
insurance coverage for all the Directors, including
company securities, employment practices, regulatory
crisis event, investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and
public relation, etc., which is to be reviewed by the
Board on a regular basis.

The Board has delegated day-to-day operation
responsibility to the management of the Company
under the supervision of the executive Directors and
various Board committees. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entering into by the foregoing
officers and senior management.

Board Composition
The Board comprised the following Directors during the
Year and up to the date of this annual report:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tian (appointed on 19 June 2024)

Mr. Wong Kwok San ("Mr. Wong")
(resigned on 19 June 2024)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lyu
Ms. Li (appointed on 24 December 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan

Mr. Chow

Dr. Deng
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The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee” or “NC”) ensures the
composition of the Board constitutes a balance of
skills, experiences, qualifications and diversity of
perspective appropriate to the requirements of the
business and development of the Company. The
current Board composition of two executive Directors,
one non-executive Director and three independent
non executive Directors (the "INEDs”) can effectively
exercise independent judgment. The list of all Directors
(by category) is set out under the section headed
“Corporate Information” in this annual report and is
also disclosed in all corporate communications issued
by the Company pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules
from time to time. The INEDs are expressly identified in
all corporate communications of the Company. There
is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material or relevant relationships) between
the Board members, and in particular, between the
Chairman and the Chief Executive.

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three INEDs with at least one of
them possessing appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

The participation of INEDs in the Board brings a diverse
range of expertise, skills and independent judgment on
issues relating to the Group’s strategies, performance,
conflicts of interests and management process to ensure
that the interests of all Shareholders of the Company
have been duly considered. Each of the INED has
confirmed in writing his independence to the Company
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
Board considers that all the INEDs are independent.

There is a balance of skills and experience for the
Board, which is appropriate for the requirements
of the business of the Company. The Directors’
biographical information is set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors” of this annual report.
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The list of current Directors (by category) is also
disclosed in this annual report and all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules from time to time. The Company
also maintains on its website at www.ziyygroup.com
and on the HKEXnews website at www.hkexnews.hk an
updated list of current Directors (by category) identifying
their roles and functions.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Zhang is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
and is responsible for major decision-making and
implementation of business strategies of the Group. The
Chairman also takes the lead to ensure that the Board
works effectively and acts in the best interest of the
Company by encouraging the Directors to make active
contributions to Board's affairs and promoting a culture
of openness and debate.

Code Deviation

In accordance with the code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The Board is of the view that
although Mr. Zhang is the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, this structure will not impair
the balance of power and authority between the Board
and the management of the Company. The balance
of power and authority is ensured by the operations
of the Board, which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals and meets regularly to discuss
issues affecting operations of the Company. The Board
believes that this structure is conducive to strong and
consistent leadership, enabling the Group to make
and implement decisions promptly and efficiently. The
Board has full confidence in Mr. Zhang and believes that
his appointment to the posts of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer is beneficial to the business prospects
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code.
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A.4 Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Director and each of the INEDs has
respectively entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of three (3) years unless
terminated by either party by giving at least three (3)
month’s written notice to the other.

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association (the
“Articles of Association”), at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for reelection. The Company at
the general meeting at which a Director retires may fill
the vacated office.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election
and removal of Directors are laid down in the Articles of
Association. The Company has established a Nomination
and Corporate Governance Committee and its primary
functions are to make recommendations to the Board
regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board
and policies/practices on corporate governance of
the Group. Details of the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee and its work performed are set
out in the “Board Committees” section below.
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Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills as to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the Group structure, Board and
Board Committees meetings procedures, business,
management and operations of the Company, etc.
and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements in the Cayman Islands and
Hong Kong.

All Directors are continually updated with legal and
regulatory developments, and the business and
market changes to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.
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According to the records maintained by the Company,
the Directors received the following training regarding
roles, function and duties of a director of a listed
company or professional skills in compliance with
the new requirement of the CG Code on continuous
professional development during the Year:

REBEARBAFEZLER &F
E-EFERECEELRTAER
RESEXERZMRE  BEEZU
TEBRLTRATREEFZAE B
FERBBENFEEREZEI

Attending seminars/
induction training/
reading materials

HEHRSE,
ABEEN,
MR
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Zhang (Chairman and SRICE (EFE R AT HAEE)
Chief Executive Officer) v
Mr. Tian (appointed on 19 June 2024) HEE(MR IS
NB+NBEET) v
Mr. Wong (resigned on 19 June 2024) BELEM
~NB+ N BET) v
Non-executive Directors EHMITES
Mr. Lyu =P e 4
Ms. Li (appointed on 24 December 2024) T+ IENOF+H
Z+HOHEEMT) 4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIuERITES
Mr. Chan R 5 4 v
Mr. Chow Bt v
Dr. Deng i v

Besides, the Company keeps circulating information and
materials to develop and refresh Directors’ knowledge
and skills from time to time. All the information and
materials are relevant to the Group’s business, the
economy, corporate governance, rules and regulations,
accounting, financial or professional skills and/or
directors’ duties and responsibilities. There are also
arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing
and professional development to each Director. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expense. The company
secretary is responsible to keep records of training taken

by each Director.
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A6 EXEEE
A6l EFEERREFETHI

A.6 Board Meetings
A.6.1 Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Pursuant to Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG
Code, the Board should meet regularly and Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year
for reviewing and approving financial statements,
operating performance, budgets, rules and
regulations, announcements and circulars issued
by the Company and considering and approving
the progress of the various on going projects, the
overall strategies and policies of the Company.
Additional meetings would be arranged if and
when required. Annual meeting schedules of each
meeting of the Board and for the audit committee,
nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Committees”)
are normally made available to Directors and
members in advance. Board members are provided
with all agenda and adequate information for
their review at least 14 days before the meetings.
The Board and Board Committees members are
supplied with comprehensive meeting papers and
relevant materials within a reasonable period of
time in advance of the intended meeting date
(in any event no less than 3 days before the date
of the meeting). All Directors and the Board
Committees members are given opportunities to
include matters in the agenda for regular Board
and Board Committees meetings and/or their
meetings, if required. To facilitate the decision
making process, the Directors and the Board
Committees members are free to have access
to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information, when required.
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After the meeting, draft minutes are circulated
to all Directors and Committees’ members for
comments. Minutes of Board meetings and
meetings of Board Committees are kept by the
company secretary and are available for inspection
by the Directors at all times.

Directors may participate in meetings either
in person or through electronic means of
communications. Directors are free to contribute
and share their views at meetings and major
decisions will only be taken after deliberation at
Board meetings. Directors who are considered to
have conflict of interests or material interests in
the proposed transactions or issues to be discussed
will not be counted in the quorum of meeting
and will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolutions.

A.6.2 Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board meets regularly for reviewing
and approving the financial and operating
performance, and considering and approving the
overall strategies and policies of the Company.
Additional meetings are held when significant
events or important issues are required to be
discussed and resolved.
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During the Year, the Board convened 6 full Board
meetings. The attendance records of the Directors
at Board meetings, Audit Committee meetings,
Remuneration Committee meetings, Nomination
Committee meetings and the general meetings
held during the Year are as follows:

EXELARS

RER BEFETARANGOR
EREFETE-BZEFY
FERAFEAHNESE
EEAERIE LT A
MEETER RBHEEY
TRARRRAGHCEH
HanT

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

HE/ AERHEEERY
RC AC NC AGM
RRBEF
FMESE BHEEE RYZAE xg

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang (Chairman and

HER
RELE (ERRTHER)

Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tian BEE
Mr. Wong Bh4E
Non-executive Directors FHTEZ
Mr. Lyu BRE
Ms. Li Fgt
Independent Non-executive BIFYTES
Directors
Mr. Chan BiLE
Mr. Chow B%4E
Dr. Deng HEL

Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring
Board approval were arranged by means of
circulation of written resolutions of all Board
members.

All business transacted at the Board meetings and
by written resolutions were well-documented.
Minutes of the Board meetings and written
resolutions are kept by the Company and are
available to all Directors.

NA R B
N/A R
1

NA FEH
NA R B

1
NA FEH
1

NA TBEH 3
NATRER NATER
NATER NATER
4 NATER
NATER NATBEE
4 3 1
NATER NATER 1
4 3 1

PRt EEN BEERS
HEZEEHEBE2ESE
FENECREERER
2 EHEe

REFEEZENEEER
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RABREF WA HEEE
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A.7 Board Diversity Policy

The Company is committed to equal opportunities in
all aspects of its business and does not discriminate on
grounds of gender, family status, disability, nationality,
race, ethnicity, religious or philosophical belief, age,
sexual orientation, or any other factor.

The Company recognises and embraces diversity in
the boardroom. The Company believes that a diversity
of perspective can benefit the Company and diversity
can be achieved by considering factors such as gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. All Board appointments are therefore made
based on merit, and candidates are considered against
various objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

As of the date of this annual report, the Board consists
of seven Directors, including one female member. Three
Directors serve as independent non-executive Directors,
ensuring critical oversight and governance of the
management process.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board Committees, namely,
the audit committee (“Audit Committee” or "AC"), the
remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”
or "RC") and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company's affairs. All Board
Committees have been established with defined written
terms of reference, which are posted on the HKEXnews
website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company's website at
www.ziyygroup.com. All the Board Committees should report
to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.
The practices, procedures and arrangements in conducting
meetings of Board Committees follow in line with, so far as
practicable, those of the Board meetings set out above.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

B.1 Remuneration Committee

The Company established the RC pursuant to a
resolution of passed on 12 June 2018 in compliance
with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The primary functions of the RC are to (i) make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of
the Group, (ii) review performance based remuneration;
and (iii) ensure none of the Directors determine their
own remuneration.

As at 31 December 2024, the RC currently consists
of an executive Directors, namely Mr. Tian, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan
and Dr. Deng. Dr. Deng currently serves as the chairman
of the RC.
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Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code,
the remuneration of the members of the Board and the
senior management by band for the Year is set out in
Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the remuneration of each Director and the five
individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group
for the Year are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The members of the RC should meet at least once a
year. During the Year, the individual attendance records
of the each Director at the meeting of the RC is set out
on page 39 of this annual report.

Set out below is a summary of the work and related
tasks performed by the RC during the Year:

- reviewed the summary of remuneration package
paid to each Directors and senior management of
the Company;

- studied the current remuneration package,
policy and structure of all Directors (including
appointment(s), resignation(s) and retirement(s)
during the year);

- proposed remuneration packages with reference
to the duties and responsibilities of Directors,
business performance and profitability of the
Group and market conditions, the corporate
objective and goal set by the Board and a report
of salaries paid by the comparable companies to
directors and senior management; and

- reviewed the procedures of remuneration
policy, procedures and structure for fixing the
remuneration packages.
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B.2 Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the AC currently consists
of a non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lyu and
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan
and Dr. Deng. Mr. Chan currently serves as the chairman
of the AC, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 5.05(2) and 5.28
of the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the AC are mainly to review the
financial information and reporting process, internal
control procedures and risk management system,
audit plan and relationship with external auditors and
arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters of the Company.

The members of the AC should meet not less than
two times a year to consider interim report and annual
report prepared by the Board and meet the external
auditors at least twice a year. During the Year, the
individual attendance records of each Director at the
meeting of the AC is set out on page 39 of this annual
report.
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B.3

During the Year, the AC met 4 times and performed the
following major tasks:

- Review and discussion of the interim and annual
financial statements, results announcements and
reports, the related accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and the relevant
audit findings;

- Review and discussion of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system of
the Group;

- Review the internal control reports submitted by
the internal audit department of the Group; and

- Discussion and recommendation of the re-
appointment of external auditor.

During the Year, the fee paid/payable to auditors in
respect of audit service and/or non-audit services
provided by the auditors to the Group were as follows:

TFEE BREEGTRTINEG
B METUTEERTE:

- EBERRSIBRPHARFEEY
BRER FRASRERSE
AEBRMZAERE R
Al R 18 5 LA T2 48 Rl 28 1% 3
R

- REkIwEIEERZAR
EERABEESEZMN
M

- BRAEBERIESER
BN EERRE 5 &

- AmkEZREBINEBEZHE
ik

ANEE o ph A% HEN R A S R
ZBERB R RIEFEZRBM
BN/ EOzEMmBERNT

RMB'000
Nature of services RFEHE AREFIT
Audit services BEIZARTE 1,323

Nomination Committee

The principal duties of the Nomination review the
structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of Committee are to (i)
review the Board; (ii) develop and formulate relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of
directors; (iii) identify qualified individuals to become
members of the Board; (iv) monitor the appointment
and succession planning of directors; and (v) assess the
independence of INEDs.
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As at 31 December 2024, the NC consists of an
executive Director, namely Mr. Zhang, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan and Dr. Deng. Mr. Zhang currently serves as the
chairman of the NC.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board,
the summary of which are set out below:

- With a view to achieving a sustainable and
balanced development, the Company sees
increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development;

- In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service; and

- All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The members of the NC should meet at least once
a year where appointment of the Directors will be
considered. During the Year, the individual attendance
records of the each Nomination Committees at the
meeting of the NC is set out on page 39 of this annual
report.
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During the Year, the NC met three times and performed
the following major tasks:

- Review and discussion of the existing structure,
size and composition of the Board to ensure that
it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements for the business of
the Group;

- Assessment of the independence of the existing
INEDs;

- Recommendation on the re-appointment of
retiring Directors at the AGM pursuant to the
Articles of Association;

- Review and development of the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance
and make recommendations to the board;

- Review and monitoring of the training and
continuous professional development of directors
and senior management;

- Review and monitoring of the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

- Review and monitoring of the code of conduct
applicable to employees and directors; and

- Review of the Company’s compliance with the CG

Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that the
Board policy and procedures are followed. The Company
Secretary is responsible for advising the Board on the
corporate governance matters and facilitating induction and
professional development of the Directors. All Directors have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
to ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable laws,
rules and regulations, are followed.

Mr. Wong Kwok San and Ms. Li Xinpei were appointed as
the Joint Company Secretaries of the Group on 28 August
2019 and 13 January 2017 respectively. Both Mr. Wong Kwok
San and Ms. Li Xinpei have complied with all the required
qualifications, experiences and training requirements under
the GEM Listing Rules. For the Year, both of Mr. Wong Kwok
San and Ms. Li Xinpei complied with the GEM Listing Rules
by taking not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs,
results and cash flows of the Group and are in compliance
with the relevant accounting standards and principles,
applicable laws and disclosure provisions required of the GEM
Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board was not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
might cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore the Directors continue
to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The responsibilities of the Group's external auditors, BDO
Limited, on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 101
to 108 of this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

A nomination and corporate governance committee has
been established and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions such as developing
and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management, the
Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors will review the Group’s corporate governance
policies and compliance with CG Code each financial year
and comply with the “comply or explain” principle in the
corporate governance report which will be included in the
annual reports after the Listing.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the rules set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors (the “Required
Standard”). Having made specific enquiry, all the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Required
Standard during the Year.

In addition, the Company has also adopted provisions of
the Required Standard as written guidelines for relevant
employees in respect of their dealings in the securities of
the Company. Such relevant employees did and would abide
by the provisions of the Required Standard. Besides, the
Company has adopted internal control policy in relation to
the disclosure of inside information of the Company (the
“Inside Information Policy”).

No incident of non compliance of the Required Standard and/
or the Inside Information Policy by such relevant employees
was noted by the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment,
maintenance and review of the Group’s internal control
system to safeguard the assets of the Group and shareholder
investments. The internal control system of the Group aims
to facilitate effective and efficient operation which in turn
minimises the risks to which the Group is exposed. The system
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against misstatement or losses.

The Board has conducted a review of the implemented
system and procedures, covering financial, operational and
legal compliance controls and risk management functions.
The Directors consider that the Group has implemented
appropriate procedures for safeguarding the Group's assets
against unauthorised use or misappropriation, maintaining
proper accounting records, segregation of duties and putting
plans and routines into execution with appropriate authority
and in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations.

The Company has an internal audit function. The Company’s
internal audit department identifies the risks of the Group,
and independently reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems, including financial,
operational and compliance, in the key activities of the
Company’s business. The internal audit department reports
to the Audit Committee, and submits regular reports for its
review in accordance with the approved review and audit
mechanisms. The department submits a detailed report at
least once a year to the Board for its review and monitors
the risks identified and the effectiveness of the systems of
internal control and risk management of the Group.

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control review
report submitted by internal audit department and the
Company's risk management and internal control systems in
respect of the Year and considered that they are effective and
adequate. The Board assessed the effectiveness of internal
control systems by considering the internal control review
report and reviews performed by the Audit Committee and
concurred the same.
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The Group adopts a risk management framework which
comprises the following processes:

- Identify significant risk in the Group’s operation
environment and evaluate the impacts of those risks on
the Group's business;

- Develop necessary measures to manage those risks; and
- Monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The Group formulated the policies and procedures of risk
management and internal control as follows:

- The Group established an organizational structure
with clear operating and reporting procedures, lines of
responsibility and delegated authority;

- Each operating subsidiary maintains internal controls
and procedures appropriate to its structure whilst
complying with the Group’'s policies, standards and
guidelines;

- Relevant executive Directors and senior management
have been delegated with specific accountability for
monitoring the performance of designated business
operating units;

- A systematic review of the financial and business
processes in order to provide management on the
adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls.
Where weaknesses are identified in the system of
internal controls, management will evaluate and take
necessary measures to ensure that improvements are
implemented; and

- Code of ethics are established and adhered to by all
employees to ensure high standards of conduct and
ethical values in all business practices.

The Board reviewed that the risk management and internal

control system adopted by the Group for the Year and
considered that it was effective.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FEERMBEUATEFZRAREE

HEZR .

- BIAEEKERRBEZERR
Bun)\ D$TEEZ£}—HZ %j-zlx%%
%%Zz‘?\fa >

- HEXBEREEZERR &

- BERBSERERETAN -

AEBEHE 2 B EIE R AT
RRERWMT :

— FEERIAGBMEERFR
BEUREEREESEZBHE
B

- REENBARERIGHZRE
ZABEERRER  RRETE
EBEZBR RERIES];

— MHREZATEFEkEREEER
BEEEAREME UREETE
BREBEUZRE

— HUBREBRRBETZRGE
OUTEABEERTDIRBENZ
ERTETERE - HMERNEEE
ERMETRE BEERENT
STt > M ER AN B2 B I DA B AR AF
HNE &

- HIEEEREEETZERTA
BRIAEEFBRPERETS K
TR TRERERE

EEgNNAEEREEMRMNZ A
BMEEMNEEERRIRAEHER
R o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board has approved and adopted the Inside Information
Policy for the Company for monitoring inside information
to ensure compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance. The procedures and internal
controls for handling and dissemination of inside information
as set out in the Inside Information Policy are summarised
below:

Handling of Inside Information

1. Inside information shall be announced as soon as
reasonably practicable after it becomes known to the
Board and/or is the subject of a decision by the Board
in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. In cases
where a decision by the Board is pending or in cases
of incomplete negotiations, the Group shall implement
the procedures set out in the Inside Information Policy
to maintain the confidentiality of information. Until an
announcement is made, the Directors should ensure
that such information is kept strictly confidential. If the
confidentiality cannot be maintained, an announcement
shall be made as soon as practicable.

2. Each department shall keep inside information on
transactions confidential. If there is a leakage of inside
information, they shall inform the Directors and the
Company Secretary immediately, so that remedial
actions, including making an inside information
announcement, can be taken at the earliest opportunity.

3.  The Group’s Finance Department shall keep track of
the Group’s threshold levels for disclosure pursuant
to the size tests under the GEM Listing Rules, so that
an announcement can be made as soon as practicable
should a notifiable transaction arises.

Dissemination of Inside Information

Inside information is announced promptly through the
websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.ziyygroup.com). The electronic publication
system of the GEM is the first channel of dissemination of the
Group's information before any other channel.
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I. INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board puts great emphasis on investor relationship in
particular fair disclosure and comprehensive report of the

Company's performance and activities.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the general meetings
of the Company and the Directors always make efforts to
fully address any questions raised by the Shareholders at the
annual general meetings (the “AGM") and the extraordinary

general meetings (the “EGM") of the Company.

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on Friday,
6 June 2025 (the “2025 AGM"), the notice of which shall be
sent to the Company’s shareholders in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company, the GEM Listing Rules

and other applicable laws and regulations.

J. SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar
and transfer office, namely, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
whose contact details are stated in the section headed

"Corporate Information” of this annual report.

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company may deposit a requisition to convene
an EGM of the Company and state the purpose therefore to

the Board or the Company Secretary.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such EGM, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same

manner.
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The Company has adopted Communications Policy with
Shareholders and investors of the Company that provide
ready, equal and timely access to understandable information
about the Company. The Board welcomes Shareholders
for their comments and/or enquiries about the Company.
Shareholders may send their comments and/or enquiries to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary.
Shareholders who wish to put forward proposal for the
Company’s consideration at the general meetings of the
Company can send their proposal to the Company Secretary.

Pursuant to Articles of Association, if a Shareholder wishes
to propose a person other than retiring Directors for election
as a Director at a general meeting of the Company, the
Shareholder should deposit a written notice of nomination
which shall be given to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong within the 7 day period commencing
the day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting (or
such other period as may be determined and announced by
the Directors from time to time). The relevant procedures is
posted on the Company’s website (www.ziyygroup.com).

The shareholders of the Company may at any time send
their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing. Contact
details are as follows:

Address:  Unit 6A, 4/F, Wing On Plaza, 62 Mody Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

E-mail: info@ziyuanyuan.com
Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns will be forwarded to

the Board and/or relevant Board Committees of the Company,
where appropriate, to answer the Shareholders’ questions.

EEERERS

ARBEHMWERRRARBDREE
ZEMBR ERRHEEBRART F
F - BRKEZNERNERTER E
FEROREMEARARDREBER R/
HEH RRAMEFEFTIHER
K/ REH WHEAZFREADMWE K
RUNNIEHEZUAE AR R ERET
REXREEER FIARBMWEFTR
HEs#-

RIBENEGBERMAR > RENMNEZ
BREEFLOINNALIREARTIRER
RELEFEE RRENFEAR
AREBREBHES AR (HEET
FRERASHEBEMBAR @
ARBZERATEEEMHRERS
EHiRRBEN B FENR A QB MEIL

(www.ziyygroup.com)F & o

ARBRRABEHUEALARAES
CEHEREEHRARBETEE  BAEFS
LI

sk : BESBEEMIE625
KR EIZABOAE

B#E . info@ziyuanyuan.com

RENEARBEIFTEREIAQT
EEQK/NERMESFEES (REA
&) UREBRRIER

EnnZEREERERAT FERE 2024

53



54

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELARS

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in
an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders and the
investment community to engage actively with the Company,
the Company has established a number of channels for
maintaining on-going dialogue with the Shareholders as
follows:

(a) corporate communications such as annual reports,
interim reports and circulars are issued in printed
form and are available on the GEM's website and the
Company'’s website;

(b) periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the respective websites of
the GEM of the Stock Exchange and the Company;

(c) corporate information is made available on the
Company’s website;

(d) AGM and EGM provide a forum for the Shareholders to
make comments and exchange views with the Directors
and senior management; and

(e) the Company’s share registrars serve the Shareholders in
respect of share registration, dividend payment, change
of Shareholders’ particulars and related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
there was no amendment in the constitutional documents
of the Company. The Articles of Association are available on
the websites of the GEM of the Stock Exchange and of the
Company. To comply with the GEM Listing Rules, resolutions
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to adopt the amended and restated Articles
of Association of the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THE REPORT

Ziyuanyuan Holdings Group Limited (hereinafter referred to as

the "Group”, the "Company” or “we") is pleased to present its
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”
or the “Report”). This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with
disclosure obligations under the “comply or explain” provisions
contained in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” (the "ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the GEM
Listing Rules. The purpose is to allow all stakeholders to learn more
about the Group’s progress and development direction in respect
of operation and sustainable development. The Group understands
the importance of the ESG report and is committed to making
continuous improvements in corporate social responsibility during
our course of business in order to better respond to the changing

needs of the advancing society.

APPLICABLE SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD
OF THE REPORT

This report covers the Group’s overall environmental, social and
governance performance and selected key performance indicators
("KP1") during 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the
“Reporting Period”). A complete index is appended in the last
chapter hereof for reading this Report in accordance with the ESG
Guide.

CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL

The information contained herein is sourced from official
documents and statistics of the Group, and management and
operation information collected in accordance with the Group’s
systems. This report was approved by the board of directors on 31
March 2025.
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RIE - HEREREKS

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The ESG Report is based on the following four reporting principles:

Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment
were conducted to identify material ESG issues, and to ensure that
these issues are addressed in the report.

Quantitative: Data presented in this ESG Report have been
collected prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social
performance data for standards and methodologies used for
calculation of key performance indicators.

Balance: Both positive and negative sides of the performance have
been presented in a transparent manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures, data
collection and calculation methods have remained consistent
throughout the years to facilitate comparability over time.

REPORTING BOUNDARIES

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of medical
equipment finance leasing services, maternal and child postpartum
care industry services and trading of medical equipment and
consumables business in the PRC. The Group's major operations
are located in Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Wuhan. Therefore,
the disclosures in this ESG Report focus on the policies and
performance of offices and business premises located in Shenzhen,
Guangzhou and Wuhan during the Reporting Period in relation to
the environmental aspects and social aspects.

OPINIONS AND FEEDBACK FROM
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group attaches great importance to valuable opinions from
all stakeholders. If you are in any doubt or have any opinion
for this report, please feel free to contact the Group via E-mail
info@ziyuanyuan.com to share your opinions and suggestions.
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STAKEHOLDERS' ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholders’ engagement is essential to the formulation of
strategies for sustainable development. It allows the Group to
understand risks and opportunities. The Group has identified
key stakeholders that are important to the Group’s business and
established various channels for communication.

Stakeholders Expectation

RIR HERERERS

FhENSH

Communication Channel

ROENZ2AENHENRFELREUKE
WEE - BAEERBRARBNKE ~EH
BETHAEREXZEHEZNHEEEN
FURYTEEBBER

Key Measures to Respond

FinE FEHA EBEAR EIFER X B
Government - Comply with the laws - On-site inspections and The Group operated and managed according

- Tax payment according

to laws
- Promote regional

economic development

and employment

13453 - BTEE
— AR
- HBEHAKEERK

checks

Research and discussion
through work
conferences, work
reports preparation and
submission for approval
Publish information on
HKEXnews website,

such as annual and
interim reports and
announcements
Company's website

binb Lt e
BRIFgE - LIFRS
MR IR AL ) BARR
EVrEE
BEXZMIKEZHILE
Bk MER - REER
TRAE

NSNS

to laws, strengthened safety management,
cooperated with government’s supervision,
inspection and evaluation (if any), and
actively undertaken social responsibilities.

AEEEEENEE MAZLEE B
BFB0EE B RTHE (10F) - WA
BHGEE
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Communication Channel

BEAR

Stakeholders
HHE

Expectation

FaHA

Key Measures to Respond

O] FEBY = EHE 5E

Shareholders and - Return on investment - Annual general meeting ~ The Group has issued notices of general

Investors - Information disclosure and other general meetings and proposed resolutions
and transparency meetings according to regulations, disclosed
- Shareholders” interests - Publish information on the Group's information by publishing
and fair treatment and HKEXnews website, announcements/notices and periodic
security such as annual report, reports. The Group has also carried out
- Control of operational interim report and different forms of investor activities, such
risk announcements as results briefing, with an aim to enhance
- Meeting with investors investors' recognition. The Group disclosed
and analysts the Company’s contact details on website
- Company's website and in reports to ensure all communication
channels are available and effective.
RERKESE — REMLR - REBEAGREMER ZAEEERBREEHREAGBESRIER
- BHIRBEKRERE g RER BBEGAS/ BSNEHREH
- BRAGRATFE — EBXZMEBEZIALE BAEEER LN AEEEHEFARLR
R EK > NER PHR ANKREEZY AINEERER SERS
- KERBRER ERAS REEFTE zt:%@wma&%&iq:;m
— BREERDOMEE REMEEE RIRFTEBBEENR A
— REIHEL X o
Employees - Safeguard the rights - Conferences The Group aims to provide a healthy and safe
and interests of - Trainings and seminars working environment and develops a fair
employees - Cultural and sport mechanism for promotion. The Group has
- Occupational health activities established communication platforms for
and safety - Intranet and emails employees.
- Working environment - Performance appraisals
- Career development
opportunities
- Self-actualization
(== — REREENERN K - & FEBEERHE—ERE - Z2NIFRER,
Gl — BEIlKRME HERATFEAKS AEERESRMES
- BiEEREZ2 - X(EEREFEH Fae
— IfFRE — MEBERKREE
- BXERKE — BTG
- BRER
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Expectation

Communication Channel

RIR HERERERS

Key Measures to Respond

Fin& FEHA EBEBR [EIFERY X E e
Customers - Safe and high-quality - Website, brochures and The Group has developed a customer
products and services published information feedback system in order to evaluate
- Stable relationships on HKEXnews website, services provided.
- Information such as annual report,
transparency interim report and
- Integrity announcements
- Business ethics - Emails and customer
service hotlines
- Feedback forms
- Regular meetings
=R - Z2BEERKRE - P -EEM -FERE FEEREFTREERG MEHEFTRMHN
- REBR% PR B 7 iR hER R o
- BRBHE MER -PHRERAS
- #E — BEREFRBRE
- BEER — BERBEX
- THg=
Suppliers/Business - Long-term - Business meetings, The Group has invited tenders publicly

Partners

HIEm,EBBH

partnerships
- Honest cooperation
- Fairness and openness
- Information resources
sharing
- Risk reduction

~ RHAERE
- HEAaf
~ HEENKE

- BRERR

supplier conferences,
phone calls and
interviews

Regular meetings
Reviews and assessments
Emails, circulars and
manuals

Company's website
xmaz HEEgR
B5h @

THEZ

et KT il

BT~ oK K F
NSIE b

to select the best suppliers/business
partners performed contracts according

to agreements, enhanced daily
communications, and established long-term
cooperation with quality suppliers/business
partners.

AEBNRBADREEREMRED EH
B BRRBZETE0 NeERESE
IEEERER, EBBHRIRBAE
B
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Stakeholders Expectation

RinE TaH8 BEAR

Communication Channel

Key Measures to Respond

O] FEBY = EHE 5E

Peer/Industry - Experience sharing -

Associations — cooperation - Site visits
- Fair competitions

B /1TEHE - £R9=E - 1T%8=

HE - Biff — BEMEH
- REHEF

Market Regulators - Compliance with laws

and regulations - Reports
- Information disclosures
mEEEE — BFERER - BEfHE
- BRKE - WA
Public - Community - Voluntary work
involvement - Charity and social
- Social responsibilities investments
- Employment
promotion
HEAR - ftE2H - RIIfF
- HE8HE - BENHERE
— {RERE

Materiality Assessment

The management and employees that perform major functions
in the Group have all participated in preparing the ESG Report to
assist the Group in reviewing its operation, identifying relevant ESG
matters, and assessing the importance of such relevant matters
to our business and stakeholders. Information was collected from
relevant departments and business units of the Group based on the
major ESG matters that had been assessed.

During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that appropriate
and effective management policies and control systems for ESG
matters have been established and that the disclosed contents
are in compliance with the requirements of the Reporting Guide.
Corporate governance is addressed separately in the “Corporate
Governance Report” of the Annual Report.
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Industry conferences

Information disclosure

The Group has insisted on fair competitions,
cooperated with peers to realise win-win
situations, shared experience and attended
various seminars of the industry so as to
promote sustainable development of the
industry.

BEEATRP HERESE BRER P=F
K 2MERBITEMA S HHITENT
FERE-

The Group has strictly complied with
regulatory requirements and disclosed and
reported true information in a timely and
accurate manner according to laws.

FEBBRBETEERT REBELERF L
MR ERZREAEER -

The Group has given priority to local
citizens in respect of job opportunities so
as to promote community building and
development and maintained smooth
communication channels between the
Group and the community.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

The sector where the Group operates is not a major source of

environmental pollution. In addition, the business of the Group

does not involve industrial activities. Therefore, total amount of

emissions, resource usage and waste production is relatively low.

However, the Group believes that it is the social responsibility of all

corporations to ensure that emissions of pollutants and resource

consumption are minimised and carbon emissions is reduced.

For such purpose, the Group aims to achieve its stated goals by

reducing carbon dioxide emissions, resource consumption and

waste production.

A1l.

Emissions Management

Exhaust Emission

The exhaust emission of the Group mainly derives from
the fuels used by vehicles. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had two vehicles which consumed an aggregate
of approximately 12,600 litres of gasoline and travelled
approximately 41,108 km in total. Due to the business
nature of the Group, employees take public transport to visit
customers’ companies and vehicles of the Group are used
only in special cases. Meanwhile, the Group encourages
employees to take electric public transport whenever possible
for meetings or activities and reduce the use of private cars.
For activities at nearer destinations, the Group encourages
employees to walk as far as possible instead of taking the
transportation.

During the Reporting Period, exhaust emissions were as
follows:

RIR HERERERS

IRIGEE
AEEMEEZ AU FRBESRANEE
RER SN REBMBEBT AP R TEE
g EIEHR BEREBMNERYEESE
AR ETFEH B

AT AEER B ER SRR ER
FHERERBI R D HRBIFREMMA X
BEENHEEE AL FEEASEEB
> — S ACHRBEE ~ B BE TR OE #E ~ R
BEYEEMEIREER

Al. BFRMEIRE
BER B
AEBNERFBENETERBER
MREER - B8E " _WE+_4
=t B AEEREEE@MRE EH
A HA512,6000 7 BITHAE
HAEMN08RNB BN AEBMER
HE BEIGFEARBDREAFEAR
ERXBITE REEEHREBRAEH
EEEH-FR AEEERMETITS
ML ERIEHR  BREFHE
NEZBTE  B/ERAKRE %
BEMMESENES AEBEBET
BEUSITREFREBRBIA

PREREHAA BERIFRAT

Amount of

Emissions (kg)

Type of Exhaust EEEE4E BEE (F3=)
Nitrogen oxides a8t 7.56
Sulphur oxides meaty 0.13
Particulate emissions SRR 0.50
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group's main sources of greenhouse gas emissions
are direct emissions from vehicles, indirect emissions from
electricity consumption for office operation and indirect
emissions from employees taking planes for business trips.
The Group attaches great importance to adopting the
energy saving initiatives as mentioned in the section “Use of
Resources”, and reduce the impact of these emissions on the
environment by monitoring energy consumption and reducing
itineraries which require the Group’s senior management
taking private cars.

Greenhouse gas emissions are partly generated from
combusting gasoline by the three vehicles owned by
the Group. The Group's vehicles are mainly used by the
senior management to commute between Hong Kong and
Shenzhen. However, in consideration of environmental
protection and cost saving, the senior management chose to
take the public transport for commuting between Shenzhen
and Hong Kong.

Meanwhile, greenhouse gas emissions are also generated
from electricity consumption for the operation in the Group's
office and the postpartum care centers. The Group aims
to reduce electricity consumption in daily operation as the
amount of indirect greenhouse gas emissions depend on the
units of electricity consumed. Specific measures adopted by
the Group to reduce electricity consumption are set out in the
section headed “Use of Resources—Electricity” of this Report.

During the Reporting Period, employees travelled by plane
174 times for business trips. Those trips by plane generated
an aggregate of approximately 22 tonnes of carbon dioxide
emissions. Employees only take plane for business trips
when necessary as the Group pursues the policy of emissions
reduction. Under normal circumstances, the Group will
arrange for conference calls or video conferences instead
of face-to-face meetings to reduce indirect greenhouse gas
emissions from transportation.
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During the Reporting Period, greenhouse gas emissions were

RIR HERERERS

REBSHA BEREBHFRUOT

as follows:

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Unit Amount
BERBEHERK B =
Scope 1 - Direct Emissions Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 34
HEN —BHEHMW W —EERE 2
Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 243
#HE2—EREEHN MR ICIRER
Scope 3 - Other Indirect Emissions Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 22
#HES—HEMEEHR MR ICIRER
Total Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 299
s MR ICREE

Waste and Wastewater

Solid waste produced by the Group was mainly generated
from the office and the postpartum care centers, including
daily paper usage, office document waste, food waste,
paper towels, masks, plastic gloves and disposable protective
gowns. All waste is uniformly classified, collected and
disposed by the property management office on a regular
basis.

The Group is committed to reducing waste production and
encourages employees to recycle stationery and reduce waste
with an aim to reduce waste production from the source.
Moreover, the Group has adopted a digital operation model
to centralise the handling of documents and regularly convey
environmental protection messages to employees. Permission
is also required for printing in the office for statistics and
adjustments in respect of paper usage in order to enhance
resource utilization.
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A2.

The Group has established appropriate measures for the
disposal of computer and related products, such as printers
and toner cartridges. The Group transfers or reuses excess
digital products, while obsolete accessories or used toner
cartridges are collected by third party companies for recycling.

In case it is necessary to dispose of an item, the Group also
encourages employees to collect and classify the waste
before disposing so as to reduce negative impacts on the
environment.

No hazardous wastewater was generated by the Group
during the Reporting Period as the only type of wastewater
produced was domestic wastewater from the office and the
postpartum care centers. Domestic wastewater is directly
discharged to the sewer network and is treated by local
municipal wastewater treatment plants. During the Reporting
Period, domestic wastewater generated by the Group was
solely controlled by the property management company.
In this case, it is not feasible for the Group to provide
wastewater data as there is no sub-meter to record the data.
As wastewater volume depends on water consumption,
specific measures have been adopted by the Group to reduce
water consumption, details of which are set out in the section
headed “Use of Resources — Water” of this ESG Report.

Use of Resources

The Group attaches great importance to the effective use of
resources, and is committed to reducing waste of resources
in daily operation. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has complied with relevant laws and regulations in relation
to the use of energy. Since the Group has not engaged in
the manufacturing business, no problem was encountered in
identifying suitable water source and no packaging materials
were used. Resources used by the Group were mainly
electricity, water and paper.
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Electricity

The Company acknowledges the importance of energy
saving and the fact that reducing electricity consumption will
indirectly reduce greenhouse gas emissions so the Group has
promoted various energy saving strategies. To strengthen
each employee’s awareness on environmental protection
and energy saving, the Group has placed reminders of “For
electricity saving, please switch off the light when leaving”
at prominent places in the office and the postpartum care
centers. The Group encourages employees and the customers
the postpartum care centers to set air conditioner at a
moderate temperature and switch them off when they are not
in use to reduce electricity consumption.

All electricity consumption by the Group was directly from
daily operation in the office and the postpartum care centers.
During the Reporting Period, total electricity consumption of
the Group amounted to approximately 650,211 kWh.

Water

Water was mainly consumed by staff at work in the Group
and the customers in the postpartum care services centres.
To improve the utilisation efficiency of water resource, the
Group and all its employees have laid emphasis on water
conservation and are committed to saving every drop of the
precious water resource through practicable but effective
ways, for examples, promote to and educate employees to
save water regularly, place water saving slogans in prominent
places and encourage water conservation and report to
the property management company to fix dripping taps
immediately when the taps are broken. During the Reporting
Period, the water consumption of the Group amounted to
approximately 7,949 m3.

Paper

The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures to minimise paper usage at the office and the
postpartum care centres. Employees are encouraged to use
both sides of paper, and the back of single-sided documents
is used for printing or as draft paper. If possible, employees
may use the suitable font size and indentation to minimise
the pages. Besides, electronic media is recommended for
circulation and communication so as to minimise paper
usage. During the Reporting Period, the total office paper
consumption was approximately 1 tonnes.
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A3.

During the Reporting Period, total resource consumption was
as follows:

RESHA ERERBHEENT

Use of Resources Unit Amount
BRAR B e
Electricity consumption kWh 650,211
BIHFE T RS

Water consumption Cubic metres 7,949

KIHFE TR
Paper consumption Tonnes
HIREFE g

The Group will keep recording its resource consumption for
reviewing effectiveness of its conservation measures in the
future and formulating more specific improvement measures
and objectives.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Regarding the operation of the Group, the Group was
not aware of any significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources. With the implementation
of green measures, the Group strived to minimise impacts
on the environment and natural resources. The Group will
continue to implement environment-friendly practices in
the Group’s operation in order to enhance environmental
sustainability.
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Climate Change

The Group is principally engaged in provision of medical
equipment finance leasing services, maternal and child
postpartum care industry services and trading of medical
equipment and consumables business in the PRC which does
not involve production. The increase in temperature may lead
to a rise in the energy consumption of the Group's offices
and the postpartum care centers. The Group will continue
to monitor the potential risks of climate change and its
impacts on the Group’s operations and its customers; and
devise and implement preventive and emergency measures
accordingly. Besides, the Group will put its efforts into
controlling energy consumption and carbon emissions. The
Group is fully aware of the operational risks brought forth
by climate change. Therefore, the Board is responsible for
providing effective governance for integrating and addressing
the climate change issue within its businesses, which includes
conducting, reviewing and monitoring the climate change risk
related to its business operations, if any. The Board develops
its risk management system to identify, prioritise and assess
climate change-related risks such as heatwaves, drought, and
typhoons according to the impact and likelihood of such risks.
Due to the business nature, the Board does not anticipate any
significant climate related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the Group and the actions taken to
manage them.

A4,
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RIE - HEREREKS

SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group regards employees as the cornerstone of its corporate
operation and development. Therefore, the Group attaches
great importance to the training and welfare of employees, and
are committed to providing a working environment with job
satisfaction. The Group provides competitive remuneration and
sound promotion opportunities to facilitate career development of
employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with
labour legislations and related regulations in the PRC and Hong
Kong. The Group was not involved in any violation relating to
labour practices and would have a significant impact on the Group.

B1. Employees

The Group aims to attract and retain talents, ensures a safe
and equal working environment for employees, provides
development opportunities and promotes employees’ health
and well-being. The Group has formulated the staff manual
according to relevant labour regulations, covering the Group’s
remuneration and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, leave and standards of other rights and
benefits. The Group strictly complied with the applicable laws
and regulations in relation to labour in the PRC and Hong
Kong.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 125
employees, with the employee structure as follows:

HEEE
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Male Female

Employees Employees Total
Age Group FEHH R BHES ZHES =5
18 to 20 18-207% - 3 3
21 to 30 21-303% 52 55
31 to 40 31-405% 17 35 52
41 to 50 41-508% 8 13
51 to 60 51-60%% - 2
Total YN 27 98 125
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RIR HERERERS

Male Female
Employees Employees Total
Region & BHEE RHES aF
Mainland China FR B 7 3t 24 98 122
Other Regions Outside R P dth DA S E A 3 &
Mainland China 3 - 3
Total A 27 98 125
Male Female
Employees Employees Total
Employment type E{ELER BEES ZHES =1
Full-time and contracted 2REEH 27 98 125
Others (part-time, Hh GRE - TSR
fixed-term or casual) - - -
Total RAH 27 98 125
A total of 116 employees left the Group in 2024, with AT MF—HB1I6%REESHE

statistics of such employees as follows:

B U TRESBERAS

Employee

Male Female turnover

Employees Employees Total rate

FH=PiES

Age Group FHe#H R EEE ZHREE &5t tb =
18 to 20 18-20%% - 3 3 1.2%
21 to 30 21-303% 6 48 54 22.4%
31 to 40 31-405% 19 22 41 17.0%
41 to 50 41-505% 7 8 15 6.2%
Over 51 5158 ML £ 1 2 3 1.3%
Total A 33 83 116 48.1%
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Talent Recruitment and Retention

Employees are the core assets to maintaining corporate
competitiveness, and the key to corporate success. The
Group provides a fair and impartial talent selection system
and continuously improves the system to recruit talents. The
Group has formulated an annual recruitment plan and filled
job vacancies based on the principle of “internal staffs before
external candidates” in order to offer internal promotion
and re-designation opportunities to existing employees. The
Group recruits external candidates through the Company's
website, recruitment website, job market, newspapers and
media, headhunting companies and employee’s referral. The
Group ensures that the recruitment and promotion processes
are fair, open and transparent, and selects candidates
depending on objective factors such as candidates’ working
experience, skills, academic background, communication
skills, personal qualities.

The Group adheres to the principle of employing talents
with both ability and moral integrity, and regards morality,
knowledge, ability and performance as the main evaluation
criteria, so as to put talents at suitable positions and retain
talents. The Group has formulated a set of staff performance
appraisal mechanism, in which appropriate remuneration
adjustment is made annually based on staff performance to
reduce talent loss.

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group provides staff with reasonable and competitive
remuneration and staff benefits. Based on work performance,
periodic performance and job appraisal, the Group provides
remuneration adjustment and job promotion. The Group
strictly complied with the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China (F#E AR HME T &EREE) and the
Labour Law of the People's Republic of China (% AR
ME % EE), and made timely contribution to “five social
insurance and one housing fund (ABE—=%)" (being five
social insurance, including endowment insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and
employment injury insurance, and housing provident fund),
mandatory provident fund and labour insurance. Apart from
basic statutory holidays, wedding and funeral leave, maternity
leave, work-related injury leave, annual leave and family
planning leave, the Group also offers additional staff benefits,
including working luncheon and transportation allowances.
These benefits boost employees’ sense of belonging to the
Company, create a good working atmosphere and enhance
enterprise cohesion.
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Equal Opportunity and Diversity

As a diversified enterprise, the Group strives to create
a diversified and harmonious working environment for
employees and protect them from discrimination and
harassment. The Group formulated employment policies
in strict accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FZ AR HFEI% &%) and the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (A& A
EHXMEE#EFE) and provides equal opportunities in
respect of recruitment, training, promotion, job transfer,
remuneration, benefits, and termination of contracts. These
equal employment opportunities are not affected by age,
gender, physical conditions, marital status, family status, race,
colour, nationality, religion, political connection or sexual
orientation. The Group requires employees to abide by anti-
discrimination practices as set out in the Employee Code of
Conduct.

The Group also values female employees’ career development
and ensures that they have equal promotion opportunities
as male employees. The Group also complies with the
requirements under the Law of the People's Republic of China
on the Protection of Women'’s Rights and Interests (FHEE A
EHARBLERREL) . Female employees’ employment
contracts will not be released or terminated during their
pregnancy, maternity leave and breastfeeding period and they
are entitled to basic salaries.

Health and Safety

Based on the business nature of the Group, employees
mainly work at office and postpartum care centres and their
possibility of sustaining work injuries is limited. During the
Reporting Period, no serious work injury incident occurred
within the Group. For laws and regulations in Mainland China
in relation to the occupational health standards and safe
production, there was no violation of the laws and regulations
regarding the provision of safe working environment by the
Group during the Reporting Period. The Group has always
maintained work-related injury insurance for all employees
in accordance with the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China (R ZE A RHEMEH S REIE) .

In addition, the Group has implemented a series of policies
to foster and maintain a favourable, comfortable and healthy
working environment:

o to maintain obstruction-free emergency exits at
workplace;

o to provide a workplace with adequate illumination and
moderate temperature;

o to prohibit smoking at workplace; and

o to conduct safety inspections and fire prevention
training regularly.
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B3.

Development and Training

The Group has provided comprehensive trainings to
employees, including face-to-face trainings, sharing among
departments, online learning and internal and external
trainings according to the Group's Staff Handbook and
other related internal policies. The Group has provided
employees with diversified on-the-job training. Orientation
trainings were offered to new employees in respect to
skills and knowledge trainings and attitude building. Skills
and knowledge trainings and attitude building allow new
employees to be familiar with the corporate culture and the
background of the Company. According to job duties and
company development, the Group provides employees with
skills and trainings. Continuous assessments are conducted to
keep track on the performance of employees.

Trainings covered a variety of topics in order to cater
the needs for employees from different departments, for
instance, management skills and trainings related to medical
equipment. The Group believes development of employees
are crucial to sustainable corporate development. The Group
will enhance the training system in order to promote personal
development of employees.

B3.
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Percentage of

employees Average Training

trained training hour Hours

Employees training BT ZHETLER  FI9FIIRE o[ 1534
Senior management BHREEEAER 50.0% 21.0 168.0
Administrative staff THAE 16.7% 4.0 8.0
Other staff Hith A8 12.8% 3.5 101.6

Percentage of

employees Average Training

trained training hour Hours

Employees training ST ZAMEILEF  FI9EIEE k|| LE
Male employees BEMREE 11.3% 8.6 2233
Female employees ZHEE 3.5% 6.8 54.3
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Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations in
the PRC. The Group tolerates no child labour or forced and
compulsory labour, allows no employment of child labour
or forced and compulsory labour which are prohibited by
international standards and relevant regulations in the PRC.
Before employment, new employees shall show their ID cards
to avoid child labour. During the Reporting Periods, the Group
was not aware of any non-compliance regarding child labour,
forced or compulsory labour in its operation.

Protection of the Interests of Employees

The Group is committed to protecting human rights, and has
established a respectful, honest and fair working environment
for employees and customers and complied all relevant laws
and regulations. Laws and regulations relating to employment
and labour which would have significant impacts on the
Group include the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China (R 2E AR H£HMEZ5E1’%) and the Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China (FZE AR XEMNEESHEE
7E) . There was no significant violation by the Group during
the Reporting Period.

Operational Practices

The Group believes that the best operational practices are
keys to the realisation of sustainable development and long-
term corporate growth. Our qualities of integrity, honesty
and fairness have also been reflected in the Code of
Business Conduct, Employee Code of Conduct, supply chain
management, environmental protection practices and product
assurance.

B4.
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B5.

B6.

Supply Chain Management

The Group believes that establishing sustainable supply
chain and facilitating interaction and communication with
suppliers and banks could improve confidence of customers
and other stakeholders on the Group. Therefore, the
Group only maintains long-term cooperative relationships
with medical equipment and consumables suppliers with
good creditworthiness, sound goodwill, quality products
and services, good track record and eligibility. Focusing on
establishing close cooperation relationships with suppliers,
the Group has been working together with them to reduce
impacts on the environment from production processes while
ensuring the quality of service to customers. The Group
has formulated written policies and guidance to monitor
suppliers’ performance regularly in order to control service
quality more effectively. The Group will cease cooperation
with suppliers which fail to meet its requirements. During the
Reporting Period, there was no supplier which failed to meet
such requirements. During the Reporting Period, the Group
had around 155 suppliers, and all of them are from the PRC.

Product Responsibility

Providing efficient and high-quality services to customers
have always been the utmost concern for the Group. The
Group’s objective is that customers have confidence in our
services and they are provided with sufficient information
to make informed choices. To improve service quality of the
Group, the Company conducts site visits and regular visits
in order to have in-depth understanding on actual demands
and development targets of customers. By establishing long-
term and good cooperation with customers, the Company
has efficiently supported the economic development in the
regions of operation and indirectly facilitated employment
in those regions. Meanwhile, the Group has proactively
acquired customer feedbacks, including feedbacks from site
visits and feedbacks by phone. Therefore, the Group has a
set of policies and procedures in place to monitor and control
quality, so as to ensure customers’ opinions are efficiently
collected and handled. During the Reporting Period, no
products sold or shipped were subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.
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The Group recognises that the quality of the products is
crucial to the goodwill and image of the brand. The sales
department and quality control department of the Group are
responsible for processing any comments and/or complaints
from customers. The Group highly values the feedback from
the customers with regards to its products. The Group has
implemented after-sales services, such as customer service
hotlines and follow-up procedures. The Group generally deals
with and processes the complaints in cooperation with the
business partner and provides replies and solutions within 7
days.

Quality Management

The Group has established the “Quality Management Policy”
with aims to add value for customers through business
processes that support the services offered. To enhance
service quality, the Group collects customers’ feedback on
services provided and designated staff would report the
same to the management. The Group has also issued the
Staff Operational Manual and organised training sessions
to familiarise employees with the standard operational
procedures. The Group is committed to providing quality
services to customers through enhancing the senior
management’s administrative ability and the strength of
operation employees.

Protection of Customer Data and Privacy

The Group handles significant amount of personal data
and credit information of customers. The Group upholds a
belief that information security and privacy are key principles
for operation. The Group's employees are required to sign
a confidentiality agreement acknowledging receipt and
agreement of their responsibility and obligation regarding the
protection and non-disclosure of customer data. In addition,
information can only be used in authorised business activities.
Employees disclosing such information to other parties
is considered as data theft. Related employees shall bear
corresponding responsibility.

During the Reporting Period, there were no noted case of
violation of relevant laws or regulations regarding product
responsibility.
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B7.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to upholding ethics and integrity
during the operation process. No form of corruption or
bribery is tolerated. Sound judgements for transactions with
customers, suppliers, contractors, job seekers, colleagues
or any other third party should be ensured. All applicable
laws and regulations shall be duly complied with so as to
always maintain the highest standard of integrity. With a
view to protecting the Group’s interest, the Group requires
employees to strictly follow the code of conduct listed in
the employee manual. The Group also provides relevant
training to employees regularly with an aim to enhance their
awareness on anti-corruption, money laundering and other
illegal acts. During the Reporting Period, the Company rigidly
abided by the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
(FEAREMBE K EEE) and other
laws and regulations in respect of anti-corruption, bribery,
fraud and money laundering. Reference to the aforesaid
laws and regulations, the Group has developed the “Anti-
Money Laundering Policy”, which provided that staff of
the business department shall learn potential customers’
background completely through consulting documentation
and communicating with customers according to relevant
internal guidance before commencing business dealings with
them. The Company’s risk management department also
collects information of current customers in respect of uses
of proceeds, sources of repayment funding and operational
conditions. The risk management department also acquires
their latest information from time to time and report to the
senior management once abnormal situation is identified.

Republic of China

Pursuant to the requirements of the Group’s relevant policies,
employees may question suspected misconduct or misconduct
orally or in writing. The Group will make every effort to
treat all reports in a strictly confidential way. The identity of
the reporting and complaining employee is not allowed to
be disclosed without his/her consent, unless the Group is
legally obliged to disclose the employee’s identity and other
information. In case of suspected corruption or other criminal
offences, the Group will report to the applicable departments.

The Group has always strictly complied with relevant laws
and regulations. During the Reporting Period, no corruption
behaviour nor litigation by the Group or employees of the
Group has been noticed.
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COMMUNITY

BS.

Community Investment

The Group deeply realised the importance of returning to the
society and spared no effort in providing help to community.
The Group strongly encouraged its staff to participate in
community activities and contribute to the sustainable
development of the harmonious society. Looking forward, the
Group will continue to focus on community care and staff
development with an aim to improve the society through
participation in the community. The Group actively undertakes
social responsibility and devotes itself to various social welfare
activities > making unremitting exploration and efforts to
achieve the promotion of harmonious social progress and the
win-win development.
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INDEX OF ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
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Subject Areas Content Page Index
TEHR NE BIEERS|
A. Environmental
A. IBiE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAT: HHY
General Disclosure Information on: 61
— AR EE BERERRRAERBHB PR THNE S - BEERBZEEYN

ELEEN:

(a) the policies; and

(a) HHE; &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

(b) BFHETABEARATZENBERDERRRACOINER -

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water

and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data 61
A1.1 BER BB R AR BEE &
A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity 62
A1.2 BERBEBNERTBE
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity N/A
A1.3 FMELEEEEEMRERTE ERA
Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity 63
A1.4 FMEEREEEVREREE
A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved N/A
A1.5 B RBER E NI R PRIS AR EA
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, N/A

reduction initiatives and results achieved
A1.6 HEIEEERBEEEREN A X BEELEENEHRAEMRE NiE A
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BEA2 . B ZEH

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and 64
other raw materials

— AR iR EE BEREAER (BT K EMERERME) BEER

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas 65
or oil) in total and intensity

A2.1 BBV ONERK,/SEEER WME - RIUH) REERTE

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity 65

A2.2 MEKEREE

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved N/A

A2.3 s RE R MM st E RIS R ~ER

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit N/A
for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved
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A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and with reference N/A
to per unit produced
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Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources

IBEA3 X IRIEREXAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the 66
environment and natural resources

— AR B BEBITABRERRABERERNEATENBER

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment 66
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them
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Aspect A4: Climate Change
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General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related 67
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer
— AR iR EE HAREHERRAEEHETAEERENEAREEBASZSEN
R
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 67
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.
A4.1 HMBERRAEEHETAELERLENEARRBEEAEE REHT
& o
B. Social
B. #&
Aspect B1: Employment and Labour Practices
BEB1: EHERSTER
General Disclosure Information on: 68
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152 R AR ELAM 5 48 e A2 1) Y
(a) the policies; and
(@) BE; K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
(b) BFHETABEAZENEREZERRANER
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and 68
geographical region
B1.1 B REEE - FRAN R &S DN ESRH
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region 69
B1.2 R FlReAER R ES D EERKLLE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF - HEREARS

Subject Areas Content Page Index
TEHR NE BEERS|
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: BFLHZE
General Disclosure Information on: 71
— AR B ERREZ2TIHRRERREEERCHELTCSH !

(a) the policies; and

(a) HMHE; &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

(b) BFHETABEARTENEREZERRANER

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.
B2.1 Number and rate of work related fatalities N/A
B2.1 AT ERAFRMIETAIAB KR EA
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury N/A
B2.2 HAITHBELRITFEEH ER
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how 71

they are implemented and monitored
B2.3 HMPTER M B R L 25 UREAITRER S E
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Subject Areas Content Page Index
FEHE AE BEE%ES5|

Aspect B3: Development and Training
B EB3 . #RRIEZ

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging 72
duties at work and description of training activities

— AR iR EE BRRAEEEBITIERENA # R ENBER REMEIES

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by employee category (e.g. 72
senior management, middle management)

B3.1 ZEEBHEN NEREEE -FREEES 2I0NTIEEE DL

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and 72

employee category

B3.2 B REEEMNE D BREETMRI TR

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
JEEB4 @ &TEE
General Disclosure Information on: 73

— AR ER BRAIEE TSR 6% T :

(a) the policies; and

() MK ; &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

(b) BTFHETABEAZENMERZIRNRANER

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child 73
and forced labour

B4.1 i m st B E A E LU o B T 8% T

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered 73

B4.2 T S BE R B R R H IR A RIS T Pr R EX RS & BR
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Subject Areas Content Page Index

FEHE AE BEE%ES5|

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

/EEB5 & R/EHEETE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply 74
chain

— ARk EE EEMEENIRIE RS RAREBER

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region 74

B5.1 wrMEd o HERHE

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of 74
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored

B5.2 BRI A HEEAES  mERTHEREANEEEEE - Uk
BRIBOINAITREGEEHE

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks 74
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored

B5.3 WA R A RS AR NIRE g AR EG » USRI B
TRERERZE

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable 74
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored

B5.4 HitEHEHEEREESARRERKRBAVES > URAEBBE#RIT

BERE
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Subject Areas Content Page Index
TEHR AE BIEEZRS|
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
/EEB6 : EREE
General Disclosure Information on: 74
— AR B BERFMRHERNBRFENERELY2 ES - RERMESEURE
HMAER
(@) the policies; and
(@) BE; K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
(b) BFHETABEARTLENEREZERBFMANER
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for 74
safety and health reasons
B6.1 BEFCEXERBYHFERLLERRBEEAMEBELWNE DL
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how N/A
they are dealt with
B6.2 BEMNERRBRHNEHFEE UREYE S Z FEA
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting N/A
intellectual property rights
B6.3 R E R REE R ERBRNIES FEA
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures 75
B6.4 W E SR TEIBREREREBIKREZER
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how 75
they are implemented and monitored
B6.5 HHCHBE B RERMBRER > UREBRNITRER G A
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IRIE G KRE
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Subject Areas Content Page Index
TEHR AE BEERS|
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7: RES
General Disclosure Information on: 76
— AR B BRI LEFREE - g1 R~ REF R e B 88 R0 ¢
(a) the policies; and
() HBHR; XK
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
(b) BFHETABEARTENEREZERRANER
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought 76
against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting Period and
the outcomes of the cases
B7.1 RREANEETANEEERETYEEENESHARZHNHE
VeEiEN
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures, 76
how they are implemented and monitored
B7.2 AR BB HE i B R R AR T U R IT R &R 5%
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff 76
B7.3 HimESERETIRENRESEI
Aspect B8: Community Investment
/EEBS : HERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 77
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests
— AR B B EZHERBEREEMTHERENRFREEREHEZT R
& AR
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution 77
B8.1 FXEREE
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus areas 77
B8.2 TEEILBABAER
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERT

The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements. During the Year, the Group is
principally engaged in provision of medical equipment finance
leasing services, maternal and child postpartum care industry
services, trading of medical equipment and consumables business

in the PRC.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year and the financial position
of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 111 of this
annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group during the Year and the
discussion on the Group's future business development are set out
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, and the description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and key financial performance
indicators are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis”. The financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group are set out in Note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements. No important event affecting the
Group has occurred during the Year up to the date of this annual

report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital is set out in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered by the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements. To the best knowledge of the Directors,
save as disclosed above, none of these related party transactions
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions, which are required to comply with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to owners comprising share premium account and
accumulated losses, amounted to approximately RMB77.1 million.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers accounted for approximately
16.7% and 50.3% of the Group's total revenue, respectively.

During the Year, the cost of sales attributable to the Group's largest
supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
24.2% and 65.2% of the Group's total cost of sales, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in
GEM Listing Rules) or shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tian (appointed on 19 June 2024)

Mr. Wong (resigned on 19 June 2024)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lyu
Ms. Li (appointed on 24 December 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan

Mr. Chow

Dr. Deng

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one third of the Director for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the annual general meeting. All Directors appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of shareholders after their appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and all Directors appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out on
pages 24 to 27 of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained
by him as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or
criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is
acquitted.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhang, being the executive Director, has entered into a new
service agreement with the Company with effect from 12 June
2024. The service contract is for an initial term of three years and
shall continue thereafter unless and until it is terminated by our
Company or our Director giving to the other not less than three
months’ prior notice in writing. In addition, Mr. Zhang has also
entered into a service contract with a PRC subsidiary. The service
agreement can be terminated by either party by giving the other
party one month’s written notice in advance or otherwise in
accordance with the terms of the service contract.

Mr. Tian, being the executive Director, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company with effect from 19 June 2024.
The service contract is for an initial term of three years and
shall continue thereafter unless and until it is terminated by our
Company or our Director giving to the other not less than three
months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Lyu, being the non-executive Director, did not renew any
service agreement for his directorship with the Company after the
expiry of his service agreement as a director on 14 August 2022.
Mr. Lyu has entered into a service agreement with the Company
on 31 May 2022 in respect of his position as the deputy general
manager of the Company, which can be terminated by either party
by giving the other party one month’s written notice in advance or
otherwise in accordance with the terms of the service contract.

Ms. Li, being the non-executive Director, has not entered into any
service agreement with the Company in relation to her directorship
in the Company. Ms. Li has entered into service agreements
with the Group for her salaried role in the Group, which can be
terminated by either party by giving the other party one month’s
written notice in advance or otherwise in accordance with the

terms of the service contract.

Each of Mr. Chan and Mr. Chow, being all our Independent Non-
executive Directors, has entered into a new letter of appointment
with our Company on 12 June 2024. Each letter of appointment
is for an initial term of three years and shall continue thereafter
unless terminated by either party giving at least three month's
notice in writing.
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Dr. Deng, being the Independent Non-executive Directors, has
entered into a letter of appointment with our Company on 31
December 2024. The letter of appointment is for an initial term
of three years and continue thereafter unless terminated by either
party giving at least three month’s notice in writing.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the directors of the Company and the
five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in Note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively. There has been
no arrangement under which any Director has waived or agreed to
waive any emolument.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company,
its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest whether directly or indirectly, existed at the end of
the year or at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not enter into or have
any management and administration contracts in respect of the
whole or any principal business of the Company.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions
in Shares and underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of SFO)
which are required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules,
were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Name of Director/chief executive  Capacity/Nature of interest

T 5 BB
BERTETHABRS AT R A
AR BB R A M 3 Rk

A ZECNE+ZRA=+—H ' FxRAER
REZBITHRABRIAB REEMEREE
(E&ERBHFRBAERGFEXVELD BIRHD
RN REEETES [(A)RBEIZFK
HERBIEXVBETRFSDEANGER
B AP (SRR ERBE S A EIRA
ZRERIREFRRAHEA B KK
B) 5 HbRERE S KR E R 35218 A5
ﬁ*ﬁ“iﬂ PRt &5 5 B(ORBGEM LR
AI555.46F5.671R AN & AR B K B3P BY
BmBokBamT

KRB EIIFE

Number of
Shares held/
interested in

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

B8/ HEks R R4
EE TETBAEHSE B/ EEHE & E Bt
Mr. Zhang" @ Interest in controlled corporation; interest held 300,000,000 69.77%
jointly with another person
REENO REFEERED B A ATHREFEN#ER
Mr. Zhang Junwei®® Interest in controlled corporation; interest held 300,000,000 69.77%
jointly with another person
REBREENO TEHEERR ; B A AT HERFENER
Mr. Tian Zhiwei Beneficial owner 15,000,000 3.49%
HERLE EnBEAA
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Notes:

On 24 February 2017, the ultimate controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang Junwei entered into
a concert parties confirmatory deed to acknowledge and confirm,
among other things, that they are parties acting in concert with each
member of the Group from the incorporation dates of the respective
members of the Group and continue as at and after the date of the
concert parties confirmatory deed, details of which are set out in the
subsection headed "History and Reorganisation—Parties Acting in
Concert” in the Prospectus. As such, pursuant to the parties acting
in concert arrangement, each of the controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Hero Global Limited (“Hero Global”) (being wholly
owned by Mr. Zhang), Mr. Zhang, Icon Global Holding Limited (“lcon
Global”) (being wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Junwei) and Mr. Zhang
Junwei, is deemed to be interested in 69.77% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

300,000,000 Shares in which Mr. Zhang is interested consist of the
following: (i) 219,801,980 Shares held by Hero Global, a company
wholly owned by Mr. Zhang, in which Mr. Zhang is deemed to be
interested under the SFO; and (ii) 80,198,020 Shares in which Mr.
Zhang is deemed to be interested as a result of being a party acting-
in-concert with Mr. Zhang Junwei.

300,000,000 Shares in which Mr. Zhang Junwei is interested consist
of (i) 80,198,020 Shares held by Icon Global, a company wholly
owned by Mr. Zhang Junwei, in which Mr. Zhang Junwei is deemed to
be interested under the SFO; and (ii) 219,801,980 Shares in which Mr.
Zhang Junwei is deemed to be interested as a result of being a party
acting-in-concert with Mr. Zhang.

MI5E
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B REALXEBRERELATN—RITH
AT BREA—HITEATHEIDZENES
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T o EIL BIEBE—BITMALEZHE
NABZ LR E > BIHero Global Limited
(THero Global)) (HELEZEER) 5K
HEEHRKERBRAR (MEHZ2EK))
(BRERLELZERR) RRERLE
WRANEAT.77% TR AES

3¢
mm

SRS E A AY300,000,00082 B 19 €115
LU TF&IE (()HHero Global CE.e4 2B
BRAE) FER219,801,9808% 8817 » 1RIE
EBEMBERA REEWRANZER
DEHEAER ; RINVREERNEHEREBRE
SEE—RITHMATTIREAEEREN
80,198,0208% B2 15 ©

RIEERILEHEBREZRM300,000,0008% 815
BIENHEH2K CRERLEEZ2EHEEN
ATE)) FERI80,198,0208 B 15 0 iR B
KRB ERG REBREERRANRZER
PEERLD ; R()RERLERB AR
HE—BRITHNWATMERAESERN
219,801,980/ & 17 ©
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Long position in the associated corporations

Name of Director/

Name of associated

FIEE A BRI E
Number and
class of

Percentage

chief executive corporations Capacity/ nature of interest securities of Shareholding
Eickzd 4=

EX /IBETHAESHR MHEEEERE Sip/ #EHE gl REB DL

Mr. Zhang Hero Global Beneficial owner 50,000 100%
ordinary shares

REE Hero Global BmEBA 50,0008 & i % 100%

Mr. Zhang Junwei Icon Global Beneficial owner 100 100%
ordinary shares

RERRE BHZ2IK BB A 1008 EER 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had an interest or
short position in any shares or underlying shares and/or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
in which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or that was required to be recorded in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which are =10
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,

pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Be

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FREXEEEN RZZEZNF+A
=t+—H BEARAEEREIEZTHAE
RARBFEEAEE A (F
HBE R B SEXVEDR) BRI AR 15 S AE RA AR 15 K2
SR ERBREEREESRPERAS
XVERE 7 E8 D EB B G KA B KBt 32 FR
(OERBEREESRBERAIZZEK
NEEFHRABEENEDIORE) NIBE
EE R ERAIFEIS2E AR RN AT T
Eo M WIREGEM LM RAISE5.46F
5.671 7B & A& A B) B B 3 P BY 48 23 3 03%

ERBFK



Substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions in
Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2024, the
persons (other than Directors or chief executive of the Company)
who had interests in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register of the
Company were as follows:
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FERRNEQABRMRERMRGNER
R#xE

BEEMAC R_ZE-_NE+_B=+—
H REARBRORAEBRO PES EDZ
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Notes:

Save
were
chief

On 24 February 2017, the ultimate controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang Junwei entered into
a concert parties confirmatory deed to acknowledge and confirm,
among other things, that they are parties acting in concert with each
member of the Group from the incorporation dates of the respective
members of the Group and continue as at and after the date of the
concert parties confirmatory deed, details of which are set out in
the subsection headed “History and Reorganisation-Parties Acting in
Concert” in the Prospectus. As such, pursuant to the parties acting
in concert arrangement, each of the controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Hero Global (being wholly owned by Mr. Zhang),
Mr. Zhang, Icon Global (being wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Junwei)
and Mr. Zhang Junwei, is deemed to be interested in 69.77% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

Ms. Tang Yiping is the spouse of Mr. Zhang, and she is deemed, or
taken to be, interested in all Shares in which Mr. Zhang is interested
in for the purposes of the SFO.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or
executive of the Company as disclosed in the section headed

“Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions in

Share
and i
have
or de

s and underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
ts associated corporations” above) who had or deemed to
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
bentures of the Company which has to be disclosed to the

Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of

the SFO and as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.
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COMPETING INTEREST

During the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling
shareholders of the Company or their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group or has any conflicts of interest with
the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Mr. Zhang,
Mr. Zhang Junwei, and their respective holding companies, namely
Hero Global and Icon Global (the “Controlling Shareholders”)
entered into a deed of non-competition dated 12 June 2018
("Deed of Non-competition”) in favour of the Company (for
itself and as trustee for each of its subsidiaries). For details of
the Deed of Non-competition, please refer to the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-competition
Undertaking” in the Prospectus. Each of the Controlling
Shareholders has confirmed that none of them is engaged in, or
interested in any business (other than the Group) which, directly
or indirectly, competes or may compete with the business of the
Group.

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the
status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under
the Deed of Non-competition have been complied with by each of
the Controlling Shareholders during the Year and up to the date of
this report.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year
and up to the date of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company considers the maintenance of a high standard of
corporate governance important to the continuous growth of the
Group. The Company’'s corporate governance practices are based
on code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, other than the
deviation from code provision C.2.1 explained on page 33 of this
report, the Company has complied with, where applicable, the
provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM
Listing Rules to ensure that the Group’s business activities and
decision-making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent
manner.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 14 February 2025, the Company entered into a convertible
bond placing agreement with Zijing Capital Limited (the “Placing
Agent”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and the
Placing Agent agreed to procure, on a best endeavour basis, no
less than six (6) placees to subscribe for the convertible bonds in
an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$100,000,000 at the
issue price of 100% of the principal amount of the convertible
bonds with a conversion price of HK$1.51 per conversion share.
The convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$52,000,000
have been placed to two placees. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 14 February 2025, 24
February 2025, 7 March 2025 and 26 March 2025.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

Dividend Policy

The Company has no fixed dividend policy. A decision to distribute
any interim dividend or recommend any final dividend would
require the approval of the Board and will be at its discretion. In
addition, any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
Shareholders” approval. A decision to declare or pay any dividend in
the future and the amount of any dividends depends on a number
of factors, including but not limited to our results of operations,
financial condition, working capital, capital requirements and
other factors our Board may deem relevant. There is no assurance
that dividends of such amount or any amount will be declared or
distributed each year or in any year.
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In addition, as our Company is a holding company registered in
the Cayman Islands and our operations are conducted through our
subsidiaries in the PRC, the availability of funds to pay distributions
to Shareholders depends on dividends received from these
subsidiaries.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and
vote at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Friday, 6 June 2025 (the “2025 AGM"), the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 3 June 2025 to Friday,
6 June 2025, during which period no transfer of Shares will be
effected. Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Friday, 6 June 2025 will be entitled to
attend and vote at the 2025 AGM. In order to qualify for attending
and voting at the 2025 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Monday, 2 June 2025.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
amount of public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Group the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the Year. The Audit Committee had
reviewed together with the management and external auditor the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors in writing an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
the Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

AUDITOR

There were no other changes in auditor of the Group during the
past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 have been audited by BDO
Limited, Certified Public Accountants, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of BDO Limited as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Ziyuanyuan Holdings Group Limited
Zhang Junshen
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

E5E ¢ +852 2218 8288
{2H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Ziyuanyuan Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 109 to 227,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
“Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial

under those standards are further described in the

Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
“Code of Ethics for

“Code”), and we have fulfilled

Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Professional Accountants” (the
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Impairment of trade and finance lease receivables

Refer to Note 21 and 20 and the Group’s critical accounting
estimates and judgements in relation to impairment of trade and
finance lease receivables set out in Note 4 and Note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements

We identified the impairment of trade and finance lease receivables
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated
financial statements, and the use of estimate by the management
in measuring the expected credit losses (“ECL") for trade and
finance lease receivables which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9.

As set out in Note 21 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
trade receivable is RMB297,077,000 after deducting a lifetime ECL
allowance of RMB17,621,000,
total assets; while finance lease receivable is RMB89,641,000
after deducting a lifetime ECL allowance of RMB60,062,000,
representing 15% of the Group's total assets.

representing 49% of the Group's
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment of trade and finance lease receivables (continued)
As set out in Note 21 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, management measures ECL for trade and finance
lease receivables by using a provision matrix. In determining
the impairment of trade and finance lease receivables, the
management considers (i) internal credit rating which reflect shared
credit risk characteristics for different industry types, historical
past due information and customers’/lessees’ creditworthiness
for different groupings of trade and finance lease receivables; (ii)
associations between macroeconomic scenarios and economic
inputs, (iii) forward-looking information without undue cost or
effort including macroeconomic scenarios; and (iv) amount and
timing of future cash flows as parameters of the ECL models, and
fair value of the pledged underlying assets. In addition, trade and
finance lease receivables which are credit-impaired are assessed for
ECL individually based on expectation of cash flows that takes into
account the fair value of the pledged underlying assets based on
available market information and credit risk characteristics of the
particular individual customers/lessees.

Our response
Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment included:

- Understanding and assessing the appropriateness of
management’s methodology for identifying the grouping of
trade and finance lease receivables on the basis of internal
credit rating which reflect shared credit risk characteristics;

- Assessing the reasonableness of ECL model, model
assumptions (such as the estimation of the amount and
timing of future cash flows), economic inputs and forward-
looking macroeconomic scenarios for ECL measurement;

- Testing on a sample basis the integrity of data used to
measure ECL;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment of trade and finance lease receivables (continued)

Our response (continued)

- On a sample basis, checking the accuracy of internal credit
rating which reflect shared credit risk characteristics for
different industry types, historical past due information and
customers'/lessees’ creditworthiness for different groupings of
trade and finance lease receivables;

- For the credit-impaired trade and finance lease receivables,
on a sample basis, assessing for reasonableness the Group's
assumptions on the expected future cash flows and testing
the value of the pledged underlying assets against available
market information;

- Testing on a sample basis of subsequent settlements of credit-
impaired trade receivables and finance leases, by inspecting
supporting documents for cash receipts from customers/
lessees subsequent to the end of the reporting period; and

- Assessing the financial statement disclosures relating to the
Group's credit risk management and impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company'’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of
our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIAZHBE RS

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIAZHBE RS

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Or Ping
Practising Certificate Number P05412

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mMHEMETNER

nVT\
Fortheyearended.?iDecember2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE
2024 2023
=S 111 - 5 -
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M =x ARBFT AR®ETT
Revenue e
Finance lease income FAEHEEWA 9,173 25,077
Operating lease income KERBWA 311 816
Interest income from loan FEW E R F B
receivables - 7
Income from postpartum care BFRBWA
services 24,209 28,438
Income from trading of medical BEIMERELEMEZIRA
equipment and consumables 493,197 416,998
Income from IT services BB ARFB U A 25,377 26,619
Total revenue B o 5 552,267 497,955
Cost of sales 5 & Al A (465,727) (375,034)
Bank interest income IRITH B WA 160 141
Other gains and losses, net H il a5 Ko B5 18 7% 38 7 (22,113) (480)
Staff costs 8T 10 (24,898) (38,715)
Impairment losses under expected  FEERE AR % ((TEEAE BHIEK))
credit loss (“ECL") model, net of BERXIBEB Tz REEIE
reversal (0Bx#EE[ED 9 (43,740) (5,962)
Other operating expenses HEM% (37,376) (46,032)
Finance costs BB A 8 (11,491) (13,872)
(Loss)/profit before income tax FRFTERAT (B548) & F 10 (52,918) 18,001
Income tax credit/(expenses) FRiEMBExst A () 12 742 (4,137)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive £/ (§518) &) &
income for the year 2mEIR A 48%E (52,176) 13,864
(Loss)/profit and total FERN (B w5 REERA
comprehensive income for the MRERRELL -
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRBEB A (52,970) 14,563
Non-controlling interests JEFTRE R 794 (699)
(52,176) 13,864
(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)) AT HE AELER
profit attributable to owners of (B518) aF =z
the Company during the year K (B8 &BH
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —EXK#E (ARED) (12.34) 3.64
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MEMBARRR

As at 31 December 2024

BE _—F _NFEF _H=+—HIFFEE

2024 2023
ol 11 - 3 B =
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
I AR¥TF T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BRERZE 15 17,486 7,232
Investment properties KB 17 25,200 24,400
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 26,293 9,876
Intangible assets mLEE 18 10,741 34,115
Finance lease receivables BT EREWERIE 20 67,381 38,975
Refundable deposit PIRERE 2,000 26,500
Deferred tax assets R IAE E 19 11,090 9,520
Deposits ®e 22 2,648 4,974
162,839 155,592
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories 78 1,533 4,860
Finance lease receivables R E M B EU IS 20 22,260 68,024
Trade receivables B2 EuIa 21 297,077 196,987
Prepayments, deposits and EUNRE R
other receivables HihpEWEIa 22 93,960 65,079
Restricted bank deposits BIRAETER 23 12,882 15,861
Pledged bank deposits HIRRITEM 24 - 500
Bank balances and cash IRITMHE R RIRE 23 12,958 108,260
440,670 459,571
Current liabilities mEaf
Trade and bills payables B2 REHEMNRIE 25 22,409 60,111
Other payables and accrued charges E fthf& {3 7018 K FE =+ & B 26 46,493 74,233
Provision for taxation FEfIHLIE 18,274 15,971
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 5,735 6,118
Financial guarantee R 28 2,402 2,451
Bank and other borrowings IR1T R E M (&K 29 108,287 101,047
203,600 259,931
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENE ERE 237,070 199,640
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MmEERRSEE
LIABILITIES 399,909 355,232
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BT R

As at 31 December 2024
BE—F _E+ _—H=+—HILFE

2024 2023
ol 111 - 5 ZEI=HF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
M5 AR¥TF T AREFIT
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIBEE 19 1,365 3,453
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 21,951 4,736
Bank and other borrowings IRIT R EMMERR 29 74,506 31,754
97,822 39,943
NET ASSETS BEFE 302,087 315,289
EQUITY =
Share capital A& < 30 36,559 33,839
Reserves & 31 262,918 278,608
Equity attributable to owners of NATEB AR
the Company 299,477 312,447
Non-controlling interests JEFERE R 2,610 2,842
TOTAL EQUITY g S 302,087 315,289

Mr. Zhang Junshen

RIEERTE

Director

-

Mr. Tian Zhiwei
BERLE
Director

4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEEmEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

Non-
controlling
Attributable to owners of the Company interests Total
FAEHAE AR R it
Capital
Share Share  and other  Statutory Retained
capital  premium reserves reserve profits Total
BfR
B ROEE  HtBEE  OAERE  REER b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFRT AREFn AREFR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:
(note i) (note i)
(k) (M)
Balance asat 1 January 2023  WIEZ=£-A-HZHE 33,839 56,743 133,023 11,543 71,713 306,861 3,956 310,817
Profit and total comprehensive  EREFI R 2 AMALE
income for the year - - - - 14,563 14,563 (699) 13,864
Dividend paid (Note 13) DIRES (513) - (8,977) - - - (8,977) (415) (9,392)
Transfer to PRC statutory reserves S8 Z BT ffE (I 5iil)
(note ii) - - - 2,69 (2,696) - - -
Balance as at 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+-F=+—H
and 1 January 2024 RZZE-_ME-F-H
5 33,839 47,766 133,023 14,239 83,580 312,447 2,842 315,289
Loss and total comprehensive  FRBERZERALR
income for the year - - - - (52,970) (52,970) 79 (52,176)
Issue of new shares BITHR 2,120 37,280 - - - 40,000 - 40,000
Transfer to PRC statutory reserves S8 E B AT s
(note iii) (M i) - - - 1,023 (1,023) - - -
Transfer upon disposal of a HENB AR EEE
subsidiary (note 36) (Fi5E36) - - - - - - (1,393) (1,393)
Transfer upon liquidation of a ~ HEABEEREE
subsidiary - - - - - - 367 367
Balance at 31 December 2024 RZZ-ME+-F=+—H
bd ] 36,559 85,046 133,023 15,262 29,587 299,477 2,610 302,087
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Notes:

(i)

(iii)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, share
premium is distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of share premium if (i) it is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable
value of its assets would thereby be less than aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital account.

Capital and other reserves represents (i) the reserve arising from
the acquisition of 55% equity interest of Ziyuanyuan (Shenzhen)
International Finance Leasing Company Limited (“ZYY Finance
Leasing”), a subsidiary of the Company, through acquisition of HK
Lixin Trade Co., Limited ("HK Lixin"); (ii) the difference between the
aggregate of the issued capital of HK Lixin and ZYY Finance Leasing
directly attributable to Mr. Zhang Junshen and Mr. Zhang Junwei, the
controlling individual shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Individual Shareholders”) and the net assets value of HK Lixin
upon insertion of the Company and Honor Global Holding Limited
as part of the group reorganisation; (iii) the consideration paid on
the acquisition of the remaining 45% equity interest of ZYY Finance
Leasing by HK Lixin from the Controlling Individual Shareholders;
and (iv) Hero Global Limited (“Hero Global”),
holding company of the Company, waived an amount due from HK

an immediate

Lixin, a subsidiary of the Company, amounting to RMB68,000,000,
which was accounted for as a deemed capital contribution from a
shareholder.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the subsidiaries established
“PRC"),
appropriate 10% or an amount to be determined by its directors

in the People’s Republic of China (the it is required to
of its profit after taxation in accordance with the relevant PRC
regulations before any distribution of dividends to owners each
year to the statutory reserve until the balance reaches 50% of its
registered capital.

MI5E

(i)

(iii)

BAEREDE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

REMEFERENE (EE J)’HQ%%T%E%
ANkaRE ERRERABATITUE
HDIKKRE  WEBAEUTER T FAERR
D ERETOE (VD RRER  ABE
EEEBEIRNGES  WINEBEENTER
BERERLENCEERMBEFTRERR
BoAB A

EARRHMEEEORBEBUESRBILE
BSHBERAF (F§;‘%i12=u) [liIEd P Y/N=]
MEARRTT (RY) BREMEBAESR
2E) (METTRERE)) E’\JSS%Hﬂ&ﬁ'ﬁf&‘i
EEE (DR R EHERE AR ERRE RS
SRR EEE (HERBEARR) HiEE
EEBUGERETTRERENEZEITR
FBEHEFTMARABD REEB2IRERE
RABIEAEEERA—BNENEBIUE
BEFEZENESE (INEBLEMER
BAREWEER T TRERER T45%K
EMEMHNRE; RiVARBEZEERA
B]Hero Global Limited (I Hero Global J) £
RERRAREIMNBABBTEBILENREA
FE#68,000,00070 > HAIRY| AR 1ERRE H
o

RIEREARLME (ThE) Ao
BATAMBERZRMA SEABEBAD
IREME SR BRBEBAEERF10%
REESMETEBENBRREEFRAZEE
B BEEHAREZIEMEAN50% -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
\\7|' == IE.E/JILE‘IEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_E_mFE+ _A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
o112 ==
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M =x ARETF ARETFIT
Cash flows from operating REEHFIERERE
activities
(Loss)/profit before income tax FRFTEAT (B548) &5 (52,918) 18,001
Adjustments for: FE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fFAREEITE 16 7,723 7,789
Depreciation of property, ME--BERZEITE
plant and equipment 15 5,218 4,071
Amortisation of intangible asset mBEEEHE 18 2,892 2,434
Gain on lease termination EE&RIEWE 7 17) (397)
Property, plant and equipment M2~ R BB e 52 R il 8
written off 15 2 14
Finance costs R E P A 8 11,491 13,872
Impairment losses on trade B2 R RIBRERE
receivables 9 8,197 3,904
Impairment losses on finance ERERWRIERERIE
lease receivables 9 35,592 713
Reversal of impairment losses on  FEWE TR E B E[E
loan receivables 9 - M
(Reversal of)/provision for financial B #5IEREER), & H
guarantee 9 (49) 1,346
Impairment losses on goodwill BERERE 7 16,952 1,186
Impairment loss on intangible B BEERERBE
assets 8,500 -
Bank interest income RITH B WA (160) (141)
Fair value (gain)/loss on %ﬁ%%ﬁ’\]’&zﬁgﬁ
investment properties U #) /E518 7 (800) 600
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary ﬁ’iﬁfﬂ% NEIEE 7 1,813 -
Loss on liquidation of a subsidiary HEE A B EIE 7 367 -
Exchange gain, net PE S U i /5 &R 7 (247) (334)
Operating profit before working SEBTEMALE RN
capital change 44,556 53,057
Decrease in inventories F5RD 3,327 7,119
(Increase)/decrease in finance lease RYEFREEW RIS (&) R/
receivables (18,234) 69,603
Decrease in loan receivables = - 97
Increase in trade receivables B 5 e IEEm (108,287) (68,456)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments T8 1d =R IE Kz E & Uk 7018
and other receivables (g R (32,080) 10,797
(Decrease)/increase in trade and %%&%‘Eﬁ%l@ﬁ%lﬁ
bills payables B 8D (37,702) 60,111
(Decrease)/increase in other Hﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁmlﬁ&%%%)ﬂ
payables and accrued charges CRZb) /10 (34,638) 40,885
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n\7r A EE@INL%%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_ME+ /A =+—HIFFEE

2024 2023
=S 111 - 5 -
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M =x ARHF AR®ETT
Decrease in deposits from finance FIEHEZFRERESK
lease customers and deferred 3 SE W AR
income - (54)
Cash (used in)/generated from i (FrA) Fr8RE
operations (183,058) 173,159
Income taxes (paid)/refund B(fY),RFF1EH (388) 94
Net cash (used in)/generated g EE (FRA) FRT
from operating activities HEFEE (183,446) 173,253
Cash flows from investing REFHFARRERE
activities
Increase in restricted bank deposits B[R HiR1T 7L M0 (2,495) (2,272)
Release of restricted bank deposits B [EHIIR1TIZRIEMN 3,000 -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged BIRRITERURL S (EH0)
bank deposits 500 (500)
Refundable deposit for acquisition W& QB AJRERE
of an associate (2,000) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary, YR Bt [ A Bl R B8R
net of cash acquired (R EERIRER) 35 7,274 -
Disposal of a subsidiary, net of HEW B AR FEE
cash disposed NBREENRER) 36 1,298 -
Bank interest income received BUERITF] S WA 160 141
Purchase of property, BEME -BENSKE
plant and equipment 15 (440) (1,531)
Proceeds received for security 1R8PT URIE
deposits 6,914 2,787
Purchase of intangible asset EEREEE - (94)
Decrease in other financial asset EMemEsER LD - 847
Net cash generated from/ BREEEFE (FrA) REFE
(used in) investing activities 14,211 (622)

EnnZEREBRFRAR
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n\7|- A iﬁﬁ/}ll%%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

2024 2023
ol 111 - 5 -
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M 5F ARBFT AR®ETT
Cash flows from financing MEREFAEHRERE
activities 40
Bank borrowings raised SRIBTEMN 163,460 62,500
Repayment of sales and leaseback {EERER[BIHERZRIE
transactions (47,286) (95,707)
Proceeds received for issue of shares 2217 & ZFT1SRIE 40,000 -
Interest portion of the lease BENHEESENEHBD
liabilities paid (2,074) (1,400)
Repayment of principal portion of EEHAE&EEASIHD
the lease liabilities (7,291) (7,645)
Interest paid for bank and other IRITREMERNELHE
borrowings (9,417) (12,447)
Interest paid for discounted bills IREERENBEHFE - (4)
Dividend paid to the Company’s DK ETFTARRABRE
shareholders - (8,977)
Dividend paid to non-controlling DIk E T IF TR E R
interests - (415)
Repayments of bank and other BIBIRIT R EMER
borrowings (66,182) (62,834)
Net cash generated from/ B EEFRE 7 (FRA)
(used in) financing activities HE B8 71,210 (126,929)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash RERREZEEY
and cash equivalents GR2) 38 hniP 8 (98,025) 45,702
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—HMNREK
at 1 January RELEEY 112,121 66,085
Effect of foreign exchange SNEEZREHMN T E
rate changes 249 334
Cash and cash equivalents B+-ZA=+—HH8
at 31 December REkBREEEY 14,345 112,121
Analysis of cash and cash RERREEBYON
equivalents
Cash and bank balances RITRFHERE 12,958 108,260
Restricted bank deposits BIREERITEMR 23 1,387 3,861
14,345 112,121
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ziyuanyuan Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) is a
public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s
immediate and ultimate holding company is Hero Global.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are provision of
medical equipment finance lease services, maternal and child
postpartum care industry services and trading of medical
equipment and consumables business in the PRC. Details of
the Company's subsidiaries are set out in Note 39.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 were approved for issue by the board of directors of the
Company on 31 March 2025.

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

— iR E R

R EREEERR2E (TRAF))
BHEREEEFMATNARERA
B ERMNEBBHERZBERAR
(TBt3ZFR)) GEM ETf e A A B E
KR &R N B AHero Globale &R
Bl I E R K B S 2 B AV M b
WENRFRARNEIER —Ho

ARBE B —RREZERAT A RE
REWBAE (% HER) NETE
EBERETEREHESRERRSM
RBEMEEHERE SBEFEER
BRERSMREMESZEB A2
5] M8 A B BYEF IR BT 5E39

BE_Z_WNE+-B=+—HIHF
ENFHERERENR_Z_HE=H
=+ —HEAXARAEEGMAEREIT
ERNBESGH AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

2.1

Adoption of revised HKFRS Accounting Standards

The HKICPA has issued a number of new or
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group:

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the "2020
Amendments”)

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

° Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, Supplier
Finance Arrangements

. Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback

Other than the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, the new or amendments to HKFRSs
did not have any significant impact on the Group’s
results and financial position for the current or prior
period. The Group has not early applied any new or
amendments to HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period. The Group has revisited its
accounting policy information disclosure and removed
some immaterial accounting information disclosure.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRS 2. RG] RIETER
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") = ey el
(continued) (TEEMBHRSEDN) @
2.1 Adoption of revised HKFRS Accounting Standards 2.1 RAREBITIERBMBREENE
(continued) sHEERI (&
Amendments to HKAS 1, the 2020 Amendments EHEEERE1FAINETT  —F
and 2022 Amendments ZEFBFTR-E - ZFMEET)
The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for TR EIRRRAESEE
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including DRMBBIERE 2 ER] BF
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that MEREE 2N TR RZE
a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting MERBRSHRBREEE AE
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the ZABARPETHIERENZ
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer AEdMZEE ZE B M
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability BraEfUEBEEa T AR
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that BoBEEEREER2EHR
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is ARSI GZTEARR &&
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the BRAF R EAD B Z2 "
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022 FEITE—TEB MERTH
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a EfzBERAMS EhXEA
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with RBEEHHZBETFZERAE
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting FEZABZREMESE UE
date affect the classification of that liability as current KL SHBI12EANEBEETE
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required AR 2 IEREN BB IEHEEINE
for noncurrent liabilities that are subject to the entity Eo

complying with future covenants within 12 months after
the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions KEEBERZ_ZE=F—F—H
of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and “EMFE—A—HE#HTME
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as HBERI ERARERER
current or non-current remained unchanged upon initial ZEE B BEZMEEIER
application of the amendments. oA~

Accordingly, the amendments did not have any impact Bt S BIHANER 2B
on the financial position or performance of the Group. AR AR AR R o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

2.2 New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amendments to HKFRSs,
potentially relevant to the Group's financial statements,
have been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group's current
intention is to apply these changes on the date they
become effective.

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability’
HKAS 21

Amendments to Amendment to the Classification
HKFRS 9 and and Measurement of Financial
HKFRS 7 Instruments?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability?

Amendments to Contracts Referencing Nature —
HKFRS 9 and dependent Electricity?
HKFRS 7

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

2.2 New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Other than HKFRS 18, which could impact the
presentation and disclosure of the Group's financial
statements, the directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of these new and revised standards
are not expected to have a material impact on the
entity in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.

HKFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss,
including specified totals and subtotals.

Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income
and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations, whereof the
first three are new.

It also requires disclosure of newly defined
management-defined performance measures, subtotals
of income and expenses, and includes new requirements
for aggregation and disaggregation of financial
information based on the identified ‘roles’ of the
primary financial statements and the notes.

In addition, narrow-scope amendments have been
made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, which
include changing the starting point for determining
cash flows from operations under the indirect method,
from ‘profit or loss" to ‘operating profit or loss’ and
removing the optionality around classification of cash
flows from dividends and interest. In addition, there are
consequential amendments to several other standards.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRS 2. RHFRET KBTI E AR
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") B #5252
(continued) (MrEAMFHREERN]) @
2.2 New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been 2.2 EEBGEMKRERZHTHEZEE

122

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements (continued)

HKFRS 18, and the amendments to the other standards,
is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, but earlier application is permitted and
must be disclosed. HKFRS 18 will apply retrospectively.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 18 has no impact on the Group's
financial position and performance in foreseeable
future, but has impact on presentation of the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation

The financial statements on pages 109 to 227 have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the "HKFRS
Accounting Standards”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the financial statements
include the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange.

The material accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these financial statements
are summarised below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented. The
adoption of new or amendments to HKFRSs and the
impacts on the Group’s financial statements, if any, are
disclosed in Note 2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

The financial statements have been prepared under
historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, which is stated at fair value. The
measurement bases are fully described in the accounting
policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in the preparation of the financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge and judgement of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporates
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) comprising
the Group for the reporting period. Control is achieved
where the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.3

34

3.5

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as
follows:

Furniture and office equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Motor vehicle 5 years
The assets’ depreciation methods and estimated useful
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting date.

Investment properties

Investment property is measured at cost on initial
recognition and subsequently at fair value with any
change therein recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group assessed that it is significantly exposed
to the operation of the business in the property through
a linkage between the rentals charged to the business
operator and the performance of the business, the
property does not qualify as investment property.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.5 Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units (“CGU") that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A CGU is
the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets. A CGU
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, by comparing its carrying amount
with its recoverable amount (see Note 3.10), and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the
other assets of the unit on pro-rata basis over the
carrying amount to each asset in the unit. However,
the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce the
individual asset’s carrying amount to below its fair value
less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value-in-use (if
determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU
within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes
of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of
the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6 Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
measured at amortised cost, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.
A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction
price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments mainly in financial assets at
amortised cost. They are assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost. These
are subsequently measured using effective interest
rate method. Interest income, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6

Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances
for trade and finance lease receivables using
HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. To measure the ECLs,
trade and finance lease receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
or are assessed individually for credit-impaired
balances.

For other debt financial assets, ECLs are based
on lifetime ECLs except when there has not been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the allowance will be
based on the 12-month ECLs.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument and trade and finance
lease receivables as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument or trade and finance lease receivables
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant

deterioration in the operating results of the

debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 90 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6

Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
classifies credit risk on trade and finance lease
receivables into 4 grades (low risk, fair risk, loss
and write-off) as disclosed in note 41. The internal
credit risk ratings are based on qualitative (such as
lessee’s operating conditions, financial positions,
etc.) and quantitative factors (mainly includes past
due information of the trade and finance lease
receivables).

The Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
or trade and finance lease receivable is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets/trade and

finance lease receivables

A financial asset or trade and finance lease

receivable is credit-impaired when one or more

events that have a detrimental impact on the

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset/

trade and finance lease receivables have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset/trade and finance

lease receivables is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the purchase or origination of a financial
asset at a deep discount that reflects the
incurred credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset or trade and
finance lease receivables when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets or
trade and finance lease receivables written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent

recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default (“PD"), loss given default
(“LGD") (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default
("EAD"). The assessment of the PD and LGD is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default

occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. For a trade and
finance lease receivables, the cash flows used
for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the finance lease

receivables in accordance with HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis to
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group's trade receivables, other receivables
and finance lease receivables are each
assessed as a separate group.);

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities

3. EREHHEE &

3.6 &®MITH #E)
(i) ZEEE

(iv)

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of
directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
other payables, deposits from finance lease
customers, lease liabilities and bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised
in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through amortisation process.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the original or modified terms
of a debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group
and not designated as at FVTPL is recognised
initially at its fair value less transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contact at the higher of:
(i) the amount of the loss allowance being ECL
provision in accordance with HKFRS 9; and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(iv) Financial guarantee contracts (continued)

(v)

The Group monitors the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract and recognises
a provision when ECLs on the financial guarantees
are determined to be higher than the carrying
amount of the guarantees. To determine ECLs,
the Group considers changes in the risk of default
of the specified debtor since the issuance of the
guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured unless
the risk that the specified debtor will default
has increased significantly since the guarantee is
issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is measured.
As the Group is required to make payments only
in the event of a default by the specified debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based on the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the
Group expects to receive from the holder of the
guarantee, the specified debtor or any other party.
The amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash
flows.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.7 Leases

The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement
of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an
entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which
are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which the
underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for low-value assets and leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term of 12 months
or less. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use asset
The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and
would comprise:

(i)  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to
account for lease liability);

(i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and

(iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset to
the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F _E+ _—H=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXASHEE &=

(continued)

3.7 Leases (continued) 3.7 M8 (&
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEFEHEBA (B
Right-of-use asset (continued) FEHEEESE (&)

The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying
a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group
measures the right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liability.

The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings
which is held for own use under HKAS 16 and are
carried at cost. Other than the above right-of-use assets,
the Group also has leased a number of properties
under tenancy agreements which the Group exercises it
judgement and determines that it is a separate class of
asset apart from the leasehold land and buildings which
is held for own use. As a result, the right-of-use asset
arising from the properties under tenancy agreements
are carried at depreciated cost.

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.7 Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liability (continued)
The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid
at the commencement date of the lease are considered
to be lease payments:

(i) fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivables;

(i) variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date;

(iii) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(v)  payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by:

(i)  increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability;

(i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and

(iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any

reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

138 zIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

3. EXE

3.7 #HE

TR &

,,,,,

I%@ﬁﬁﬁﬁAoﬁ
HEERE (E)
AN IER A E RS B AR

GiE|

ERRMEREREEEN X

MBI BEENR

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

& TE 15 7R AE {7 FE R A B
5E

N EMABARZERN
MRS ENFHHEENR
BURPEIEHEHAE) ;

EBARBZERGFREEER
TEHAR A BIRRIE

HABASERRETERE
BEER ZEEENTE
B,k

1570 & HA /e B CFR A 1T 18
REREKLIEES - KRIEEE
BY SRS R o

REWBABE AEAREBT
SInAFERERR:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

EMEEEURREES
(EGIEIYS

fﬁi"‘ﬁﬁﬁfﬁu}iﬂ%f’ﬁﬁ =
HENR; &

EMFTEREEURRE
WELRBEE > W
BEHEEHREIMES-



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXASHEE &=

(continued)

3.7 Leases (continued) 3.7 HE &
The Group as a lessor of printing, medical and EEEES IR ~ BB iR
logistics equipment BEZHBA

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
Group as the lessor transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset of the lease to the lessee, example situations are
that: (i) the lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term; (ii)
the lessee has the option to purchase the underlying
asset at a price that is expected to be sufficiently lower
than the fair value at the date the option becomes
exercisable for it to be reasonably certain, at the
inception date, that the option will be exercised; (iii)
the lease term is for the major part of the economic life
of the underlying asset even if title is not transferred,
(iv) at the inception date, the present value of the lease
payments amounts to at least substantially all of the
fair value of the underlying asset; and (v) the underlying
asset is of such a specialised nature that only the lessee
can use it without major modifications. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Lease classification is made at the inception date and is
reassessed only if there is a lease modification. Changes
in estimates or changes in circumstances do not give
rise to a new classification of a lease for accounting
purposes.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.7

3.8

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor of printing, medical and
logistics equipment (continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as lease receivables at the amount of the
Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease
income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15
to assess whether sale and leaseback transaction
constitutes a sale by the Group.

For a transfer of asset that does not satisfy the
requirements of HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale
of asset, the Group as a buyer-lessor does not recognise
the transferred asset and recognises loan receivables
equal to the transfer proceeds within the scope of
HKFRS 9; while the Group as a seller-lessee continues
to recognise the assets and accounts for the transfer
proceeds as borrowings from the finance lease company
within the scope of HKFRS 9.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the first-in first out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.9 Revenue recognition

(i)

(ii)

Finance lease income consists of finance lease
income and is recognised over the period of lease
(see accounting policy in respect of leases in Note
3.7) in accordance with HKFRS 16. Interest income
is calculated with reference to the gross carrying
amount of finance lease receivables, except for
those which have subsequently become credit-
impaired, for which interest income is calculated
with reference to their amortised cost from the
next reporting period. The customers are required
to pay in advance.

Revenue from trading of medical equipment and
consumables with customers is recognised when
control of goods is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods, excluding those amounts collected
on behalf of third parties. Consideration of the
revenue from contracts with customers is the
amount that depicts the amount of consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods to its customers.

Control of the goods is transferred at a point in
time. Customers obtain control of the medical
equipment and consumables when the goods
are delivered to and have been accepted.
Revenue is thus recognised upon when the
customers accepted the medical equipment and
consumables.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
3.9 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)  (continued)

The Group has performed due diligence prior to
issuing related financial guarantee contracts (the
"FGCs") (see Note 3.6(iv)) to a bank for banking
facilities granted to certain customers. The FGCs
represent a separate performance obligation but
are not recognised separately at their initiation as
the management has assessed that the initial fair
value of the guarantees is considered as minimal
and immaterial. Subsequent measurement of FGCs
follows the accounting policy summarised in note

3.6(iv).

The Group allows a credit period of 0-365 days to

its customers.

(iiiy For provision of postpartum care service, revenue
is recognised over time as the postpartum care,
healthcare and other services are provided.
Deposits will be made upon the confirmation of
the orders and most of the remaining balance will
be paid upon the commencement of the service.

(iv) For provision of IT services, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the Group satisfies its
performance obligations by rendering services and
the Group allows a credit period of 30 days to its

customers.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods/services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_E_mFE+ _A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXASHEE &=

(continued)

3.10 BE (MBEERSI) ZRE

3.10 Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets other than goodwill, right-of-use
assets and interests in subsidiaries to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value-in-use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
HKFRS, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or CGU (see Note
3.5), discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset or CGU.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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3.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
3.11 Employee benefits

(i) Retirement benefit schemes

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans and the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to

the contributions.

Employees in the PRC are members of a state-
managed employee pension scheme operated
by the relevant municipal government in the
PRC which undertakes to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future retired
employees. The Group's obligation is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.
The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit

expenses when they are due.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

Short- term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in

the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount

already paid.

3. EREHHEE &

3.1 EEEH
(i) EBHRBEFREZE

MR ERKEBRHE
RBHIEATE 8 N
ZHRREERMRBE R
WHEENARAHERER

Ry 51 7 B 32 o

Bl 2 & 75 P B A3 B T B

FFEZEZHE

RE5tE HAGERERA
REKRBREREEZR
REFEE - TEBZEF
SIRBEETBIEHIRE MR -
AEBFHERE  BEE
— I AREE-EEBER
IHERARERERR
EERAFHZ -

(i) *ERIESIEF

RHEERMAEE TR
HRF R AR EF
AR -PRAEEHRE
BRAGREE B R
FREERAMBRS
ERFAFEEEREKT

MALER] o

KINBRERNENEZEE &
BEREENEN BIMITER
HESFREBR) BRR

af\e



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F _E+ _—H=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXASHEE &=

(continued)
3.12 Income taxes

3.12 FRrf8M

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for taxable temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries and associates where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised,
provided that the deductible temporary differences
are not arises from initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction other than in a business
combination that affects neither taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax
rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or
settled and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period, and reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.12 Income taxes (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or when they
relate to items recognised directly in equity in which
case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities in net if, and only if, the entity has a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3. EREHHEE &

3.13 Segment reporting 3.13 SEHE

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the directors for
their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group's business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments: (1) finance lease; (2) postpartum care
services; and (3) trading of medical equipment and
consumables.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting
segment profit under HKFRS 8 are the same as those
used in its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs,
except that:

° finance costs

° income tax expense

are not included in arriving at the operating profit of the
operating segment.

Segment assets and liabilities exclude corporate assets
and liabilities which are not directly attributable to
the business activities of any operating segment are
not allocated to a segment, which primarily applied
to deferred tax assets/liabilities and the Group's
headquarter.

The “others” segment comprises, principally, the
provision of IT services in the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.14

3.15

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be received and that
the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that year or in the year of the revision
and future years if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

(a) Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

Principal versus agent consideration

In assessing whether the Group is acting as a principal
or an agent in a transaction, the management assesses
if the Group obtained control of goods before they
are transferred to customers. The Group is a principal
if it controls the promised goods before transferring it
to the customer and revenue is recognised on a gross
basis. Otherwise, the Group is an agent and revenue is
recognised on a net basis.
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BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Recognition of deferred taxation

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax assets of
RMB11,090,000 (2023: RMB9,520,000), in relation to
the temporary difference arising from finance lease
income and ECL provision were recognised in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position.
The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future.
In cases where the actual future profits generated are
less than expected, a material reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which such a reversal takes place.
Details of the deferred tax are disclosed in Note 19.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Impairment of trade and finance lease receivables
The measurement of impairment of trade and finance
lease receivables requires judgement in evaluating the
ECL. The Group uses a provision matrix to measure ECL
for the trade and finance lease receivables, except for
the trade and finance lease receivables which is credit-
impaired, which is assessed for ECL individually. As part
of the measurement process, the assessment of PD and
LGD is based on a number of historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

The key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment of trade and finance lease receivables
(continued)

In particular, the parameters of the ECL models for the
provision matrix that require the use of judgements and
estimates mainly include (i) internal credit rating which
assign PD to grades of the trade and finance lease
receivables; (ii) determination of associations between
macroeconomic scenarios and economic inputs, such
as nonfarm payroll and purchasing managers’ index
and the effect on PD, LGD and EAD; (iii) selection of
forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their
probability weightings, to derive the economic inputs
into the ECL models; (iv) the estimation of the amount
and timing of future cash flows, and fair value of the
pledged underlying assets.

In addition, trade and finance lease receivables which
are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually
based on expectation of cash flows that take into
account the individual circumstances, including
fair value of the pledged underlying assets based
on available market information and credit risks

characteristics of the particular individual lessees.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates
of expected cash flows to be received. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade and finance lease
receivables are disclosed in Notes 9, 21, 20 and 41.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

The key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

Goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets are tested for
impairment when indicators exist. Further, irrespective of
whether there is any indication of impairment, goodwill
are required to be tested annually for impairment.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has
been allocated to the cash generating units (“CGUs")
operating in the provision of postpartum care services.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been
determined based on value-in-use or fair value less
cost of disposal, whichever is higher. The value-in-use
calculation derived from the most recent budget plan
approved by the management requires the management
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the CGUs and a suitable discount rate and future
revenue growth rate to calculate the present value of
those cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based
on the available data of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset.

Further information on the impairment assessment on
the CGUs are provided in Note 18.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b)

The key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities.
The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with
a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when they need to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent professional
valuer. In determining the fair value, the valuer has
based on a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates of market condition. In relying on
the valuation report, the directors of the Company
have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that
the assumptions used in the valuation are reflective
of the current market conditions. Changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or
loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_E_mFE+ _A=+—HIFE

4. BARGsHFIER R 5T #

EENEERE @

(b)

FTHREFRZEERRRMES
(&

FHE — 1451 18 B EHFE
FEBTEXEZEEHETRS
AR AL eERHEER
AR (MEEERFE)) REGE
HEaR - HMEENRMNEKEELE
BUNKERET  ~EBER
LBHARMBLVERT 2K
FEERREEAUEENEE
PR s B SZ A BIF K o [F UL > B B
W FERRT RERMAR
B  ERBFERINA X
B (I N ETREXZHNER
8) HEBREN R REEGK
MAMEE (Pla EMERZEU
MEABNIMEERKETE) &
BETMH -FEEENERSH
BRTERIREENEAE (W
HIHHR) RGFHEEERF X
AR B R REREBRMG
5te

REWEN L FEE

REVMERRBBEUNEEM
BERMETHEE U FEES
H-rEELAFEER  HEM
BER - REHHIRTBYRLE
HEREER & - ERBHEER
HHARATEFSIF LA G
TWHEEGRETERNRRRIRT
ERIH TSI - EERRE
ERERAERRENENAF
BENEE UREFGEZN
Hith2EiERPHRENEZR
BERTHENERBE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b) The key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)
Recognition of a deferred tax liability for
withholding taxes
The new Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC, which
became effective on 1 January 2008, states that the
distribution of dividends by a foreign invested enterprise
established in Mainland China to its foreign investors,
from its earnings in 2008 and thereafter, shall be subject
to withholding corporate income tax at a rate of 5%
or 10%. The Group carefully evaluates the necessity
of dividend distribution of its PRC subsidiaries out of
profits earned after 1 January 2008 based on senior
management’s judgement. Further details are given in
note 19 to the financial statements.
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REVENUE

Revenue for the year represents finance lease income,
interest income on loan receivables and receivables arising
from finance leasing activities, income from postpartum care
services and income from trading of medical equipment and
consumables in the PRC. The amounts of each significant

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

5 W=
FRRRERENTEZRERE K
AW SRR R E RSB EE
B9 FE U SR IE > BB~ B F RIS I
A RBESMBRERENBSKRA
FEEERETRRNSEEAKA

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F _E+ _—H=+—HILFE

category of revenue recognised in revenue during the year are RN ESEEWT -
as follows:
2024 2023
TEME —E=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETFT AR®ETT
Revenue from contracts with REFEREBRNKA
customers
Income from postpartum care services BT ERFEUWA 24,209 28,438
Income from trading of medical BERERMEELEMEZRA
equipment and consumables 493,197 416,998
Income from IT services B R RS WA 25,377 26,619
542,783 472,055
Revenue from other sources IR B H MR A
Finance lease income REHAEWA 9,173 25,077
Operating lease income KERBWA 311 816
Interest income from loan receivables FEUNE R FIE WA - 7
9,484 25,900
552,267 497,955
2024 2023
—EF-MmE —EF-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AR®ETT
Timing of revenue recognition BRI EERFE15HEERA
within the scope HKFRS 15
At a point in time W B8 538 BRr 1 10 5 — B RS B 518,574 443,617
Transferred over time NE—BEERNER 24,209 28,438
542,783 472,055
Ko nEREERERAT FERS 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended, and as at, 31 December 2024,
information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
provided to the Group’s most senior management (i.e. the
executive directors, being the chief operating decision maker)
is set out below:

6. DHWER
HE-T-MEF-AZ+—ALE
ERR-S-mE+-A=+—8>
EHAALESBERE BHTE
= AT ELERES) WHBAL
EE 2D BOESMT :

2024 —E-mE
Finance
leasing Trading Postpartum
service business care service Other Total
MEHRE BHER BFR#% Hth st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®Tn ARBTrR ARBTrn ARETR ARETR
Reportable segment revenue  B]2{HBUE GMNBES)
(external customers) 9,173 493,197 24,209 25,688 552,267
Reportable segment A2EDE (FB) EF
(loss)/profit (38,805) 31,416 (28,603) (1,020) (37,012)
Change in fair value of RENMEZ AT EEES
investment properties 800
Other corporate expenses HABREY (5.215)
Finance costs BMEM A (11,491)
Loss before income tax bRPrSMAIES R (52,918)
Impairment losses of IR BB EE
receivables (net) (35,592) (8,092) - (105) (43,789)
Impairment losses on goodwill &R &R - - (16,952) - (16,952)
Impairment loss on intangible & & ER{ERE
assets - - (8,500) - (8,500)
Reversal of financial B HERER
guarantee - 49 - - 49
Interest income FIEWA 54 97 2 160
Depreciation of property, ME - -BRERZEITE
plant and equipment (2,995) (26) (1,958) (239) (5,218)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ EAREENE
assets (860) (114) (6,749) - (7,723)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_ME+ /A =+—HIFFEE

6. DEPEK @

Finance
leasing Trading Postpartum
service business care service Other Total
MERE BEREH BFR# Hith st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT AR%BTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR®
Reportable segment assets ERNHEE 112,506 395,789 48,756 20,889 577,940
Property, plant and equipment ¥ B K3k s 321
Investment properties REME 25,200
Bank balances and cash WRITHEBRERE 48
Group assets EEBE 603,509
Reportable segment liabilities FI2®DEBEE 47,908 159,177 60,339 9,546 276,970
Other payables and HitE B R E E A
accrued charges 252
Provision for taxation FEfHRIE 18,274
Bank and other borrowings  SR{T R EMER 4,561
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBAE 1,365
Group liabilities EEBE 301,422

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HWEH @
2023 -
Finance
leasing Trading  Postpartum
service business  care service Other Total
MERE BEER B TR Hih st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT ARBFRT AR®ETRT AREBTH
Reportable segment revenue  FAI2HAHBUE GMIEF)
(external customers) 25,084 416,998 28,438 27,435 497,955
Reportable segment A2/ EEF(FE)
profit/(loss) 5,834 34,194 (5,851) 4,532 38,709
Change in fair value of HMEMEENATBENS
investment properties (600)
Other corporate income HtABBA 21
Other corporate expenses HitARMYE (6,257)
Finance costs MEME (13,872)
Profit before income tax BRPTEIRETR R 18,001
Impairment losses of EWFIBREREFE
receivables (net) (712) (3,904) - - (4,616)
Impairment loss of goodwill — EERERSE - - (1,186) - (1,186)
Provision for financial guarantee %% i ¥/ #5 & {R - (1,346) - (1,346)
Interest income FIEWA 23 109 1 141
Depreciation of property, ME - -BRERZEITE
plant and equipment (3,032) (10) (886) (103) (4,031)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FEREZERE
assets (774) (47) (6,721) (97) (7,639)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEEN =
Finance
leasing Trading  Postpartum
service business  care service Other Total
MERE EEES S BT BR% Hith Mzt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTR ARETR ARETRE ARETE

Reportable segment assets AERNPEE 146,737 349,699 71,399 11,434 579,269
Property, plant and equipment ¥ B K3k s 464
Investment properties REME 24,400
Prepayments, deposits and BORE BERK

other receivables HiEW I 1,262
Deferred tax assets FIERIBEE 9,520
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRRE 67
Right-of-use assets EREEE 181
Group assets EEBE 615,163
Reportable segment liabilities 2R PEE 104,042 129,524 44,514 1,004 279,084
Other payables and HitE B R E E A

accrued charges 1,366
Provision for taxation ENRBHEESR 15,971
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBAE 3,453
Group liabilities EEBE 299,874
For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the BE_ZE_NERZIZEZ=F+2A
Company is an investment holding company and the principal —t+—HIEFERARDABREEZERA
place of the Group's operation is in the PRC. All the Group’s B MAEEFEESEMIERRE A
revenue and major non-current assets are attributable to and EBECRERERFEERBEED
located in the PRC. KRB KA FE-

SnntiEREEERAD FEHE 2024 159



160

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)
The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes only the
following customers with whom transactions have exceeded
10% of the Group’'s revenues. Revenue derived from these
customers are as follows:

DEEF @
FEENSERBLE EaER
TEEMNST SO BB A EE WY
10% % 5 EEMIKETT

Revenue from
external customers

REINBERZBA
2024 2023
—EME —T=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBETT

Customer A # HPRE
Customer B # BERZY
# Attributable to segment of trading business

n/a  Transactions did not exceed 10% of the Group’s revenue

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7. Hithhams REEFEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFIT
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment KREMEZ AT EEEE
properties 800 (600)
Government subsidies (note i) BT A B (B 51) 508 707
Exchange gain, net PE 5 I 7 F RE 247 334
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 36) HE B AT EE (MfsE36) (1,813) -
Loss on liquidation of a subsidiary AHEHEABEIE (367) -
Impairment losses on goodwill (Note 18) g2 E{E s (Mf5E18) (16,952) (1,186)
Impairment loss on intangible assets mILEERIE (8,500) -
Gain on lease termination HE&R WS 17 397
Rental income WA 1,510 311
Others Hh 2,437 (443)
(22,113) (480)
Note: MIEE -
(i) All the grants were approved during the year of recognition (i) e ERRI 2 EFERNER &

with no unfulfilled conditions/contingencies.

EEC BUEKRBOTZENG SHEE
I o

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. FIERA
2024 2023
—ENE —E_=
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETFT AREFTT

Imputed interest on interest-free deposits FIEHEE A RBHEEH

from finance lease customers HEF B - 21
Interest on bank and other borrowings  fR{7 & EftEHF S 9,417 12,447
Interest on discounted bills ARIREREFE - 4
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEME 2,074 1,400
Total interest expense on financial EMURFEEST ABERN

liabilities not measured at fair value THEBENHEZ HIEEE

through profit or loss 11,491 13,872

9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 9. JEEA{S 1% (TF8HAZ A

CREDIT LOSS (“ECL”) MODEL, NET OF BR)ERETZHERIE
REVERSAL (30 B 2 [3)
2024 2023
—EmE —E”=
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Impairment losses/(reversal of WA (RERER[D) B
impairment losses) recognised on:
— Trade receivables —B S EWRIE 8,197 3,904
— Finance lease receivables —REEERERRIE 35,592 713
— Loan receivables —EER - (1)
- Financial guarantee — IR (49) 1,346
43,740 5,962
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41(a). BT AR BE M EE41(a) ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

10. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. BRERIG M AI(BS18), &7
(Loss)/profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/ BRETISMAI(E8),mM BNk, (5
(crediting): A)

2024 2023
ol 111 - 5 2=
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBETT

Directors’ emoluments (Note 11) EEFE (FEEE11) 2,945 4,581
Other staff costs: HME T4 :
— Salaries, allowances and other —$re R REME TER
staff benefits 20,519 32,273
- Staffs’ retirement benefit — BT RKEF 8 HR
scheme contributions 3,236 4,708
Total staff costs B TR R48%E 26,700 41,562

Less: staff costs recognised as research & : REMKEAXHEA

and development costs in other B 3E P AR B TR AR

operating expenses (1,802) (2,847)
Staff costs recognised in profit or loss RiBmERz BITRA 24,898 38,715
Amortisation of intangible assets mLEEEH 2,892 2,434
Auditor's remuneration ZEENFr &

— Audit service —BIZIRTE 1,323 1,244
Cost of inventories sold HEEERA 444,382 359,274
Depreciation of property, MEMERREITE

plant and equipment 5,218 4,071
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEETE 7,723 7,789
Property, plant and equipment written off #J% - B 5= K 5% 5 54 2 14
Research and development costs BR AR NMER A

recognised as an expense Gt AHMEERS)

(included in other operating expenses) 1,977 3,091
Postpartum care services costs MRAHEZNA FRBAA

recognised as an expense GtAEMEZERS)

(included in other operating expenses) 8,592 8,081
Short-term lease expense SRERfRE &R 708 1,061
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND TOP M EEMERTLRSHE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES =]
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME
The aggregate amounts of the emoluments paid or B S E E R TBAEE Y 3
payable to the directors and the chief executive are as B4RZEN T !
follows:
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme
Fee allowances  contributions Total
RINER
He  HEREl AR st

Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wi AREBTT  ARBTR  ARETT  ARETR

2024 ZEZmE

Executive directors BiTES

Mr. Zhang Junshen RERTE 484 452 63 999

Mr. Tian Zhiwei BSE %L (i 500 - - 500

Mr. Wong Kwok San HEIEE (ii) 639 - 8 647

Non-executive directors FHTES

Mr. Lyu Di 2@kt - 401 63 464

Mr. Li Xinpei gt (i) - 7 1 8

Independent non-executive directors BUERITES

Mr. Chan Chi Fung Leo i Sk 110 - - 110

Mr. Chow Siu Hang BRERE 109 - - 109

Mr. Deng Bin itEL 108 - - 108
1,950 860 135 2,945

2023 k- St 2

Executive directors BiTEZE

Mr. Zhang Junshen REFRRE 1,844 497 89 2,430

Mr. Wong Kwok San HEHEE - 1,336 16 1,352

Non-executive director FHTES

Mr. Lyu Di BREE - 389 89 478

Independent non-executive directors BUERITES

Mr. Chan Chi Fung Leo BTG xE 107 - - 107

Mr. Chow Siu Hang BRERE 107 - - 107

Mr. Deng Bin itEt 107 - - 107
2,165 2,222 194 4,581
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE - F - FEF A=+ —HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND TOP N E2FMERLBREHE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 8 @®)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) E=EME @)
Notes: Mok -
()  Appointed as an executive director on 19 June 2024. () MRIZEZWFARBE+HLHEZ
FHRITES
(i) Resigned from an executive director on 19 June 2024. iy MIZZTEZMNENB+HHEHE
HITESRo
(i) Appointed as an non-executive director on 24 December iy WIEZWOHF+-AZ+MH
2024. SRR FERNITEE
Saved as above, during each of the two years ended 31 RE R s REBE =g
December 2024 and 2023, none of the directors waived FERIE_=F+"/A=+—H
or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were IFTMEEESE WEEEHE
no emoluments paid by the Group to the directors as KEERNETANES  MAEER
an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as NUEZAMEFES (FAKR
compensation for loss of office. Sl EMAKRE B P MAKE

Ry 2 SR AN S BN 1F A B Rt 4F 188 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND TOP

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year included four (2023: two)
director whose emolument is reflected in the analysis
presented above. Emoluments payable to the remaining
one (2023: three) individuals during the year are as
follows:

M. EFMERTILERSHE
8 @®)

(b)

haREHMAL
FEEMEESHALEAD R
BEARFANALES (CE =
F12%)  RENNEN EXE
5B 3 4 2 B T [ BR o F& A F &R
TIREAAN(CEZ=F:3%)18
Bz

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR¥TFIT
Salaries, allowances and other benefits #r & “;ZBE R EMBF] 604 1,656
Retirement benefit scheme BRIREFFTHEIHER

contributions 86 275
690 1,931

Their emoluments fell within the following bands: A FUTEER -

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
—E-ME BT =4
Emolument bands FNEE E
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 7T 1 3

During each of the two years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_E_mFE+ _A=+—HIFE

12. FREMR Gt A) X

2024 2023
—EmE —B_=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARHF ARBFT
The charge comprises: ZHEE
Current tax BNHEATR I8
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —FE B EMER 2,916 6,255
— Over-provision in prior year — LRI FEBBEE - (492)
- PRC withholding tax —FRE BN R - 745
2,916 6,508
Deferred tax (Note 19) IR TE (MF5E19) (3.658) (2,371)
(742) 4,137

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong
Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years, except
for one subsidiary of the Group which is recognised as high
technology enterprise is entitled to enjoy a preferential EIT
rate of 15% (2023: 15%).

According to the EIT Law and the Implementation of the
EIT Law of the PRC, certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group
qualified as small low-profit enterprises with annual taxable
income not more than RMB1,000,000, and the portion that
exceeds RMB1,000,000 but does not exceed RMB3,000,000
(inclusive) are entitled to enterprise income tax calculated at
25% of its taxable income at a tax rate of 20%.

MEXETERBAFHERG RAAX
ERZWALIFNERELENRESR

BRAEE—RWREAS MM EE
ZHBABIEREZEEBELEMER
KI15% (ZBEZ=%:15%) 4 B
PEEEMRESRE (TRERESKRIED
REEMRBRIEBHEG > PEK B
AR MEFEEZREG225% °

RIEFECERESREIRBERS
MEBHGRG  F&/NEMAER
HNETEAERTRENKEBE QS REB
w ARM1,000,0007c KiBiE AR
1,000,00075 1B B A £ #3,000,0007T
(& AR53,000,0007T) 2B 5 A FE 2R
UL B I%25% 5t A FEAFR PS8
H20% MMM EFER -

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES (continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/
profit before income tax per the consolidated statement of

H W m & Z BRAT1S

12. FRrfS#8 Gt A) /B (=
£ PR IERE X 7 SR 4 9B i
QAT (B518) /it

s R EME

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: FEIRWT -
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR®ETT
(Loss)/profit before income tax FREFISHAT (B518) 8 # (52,918) 18,001
Tax at the domestic enterprise R A =R ER R
income tax rate in the PRC of 25% A25%BR 18 (13,230) 4,500
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AERNASZ 2 MBEE 3,802 150
Tax effect of income not taxable for BAFRRBAZRBEE
tax purpose (1,326) (428)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised AL AI RS 2 RIERE
tax losses (576) (1,582)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERREBEEEMBEE 2,396 2,668
Withholding tax on distributable FREIME A B Bl DB s TR AR
earnings of the PRC subsidiaries R1E - (588)
Tax effect of PRC preferential tax FERKEBEERR ZMBERE
treatment (707) -
Over-provision in prior year MBI FEEBREER - (492)
Tax effect of temporary difference GREEFNTHRIAZKRBERE
not recognised 8,899 91)
Income tax (credit)/expense Frig# Gt A) /B (742) 4,137
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14.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_ME+ /A =+—HIFFEE

DIVIDENDS 13. 1B 8B

2024 2023
—EmE —B_=
RMB000 RMB'000

ARETT AREFTT

Final dividend paid in respect of prior year 93k U ATEE Z R EARR B

of HK nil (2023: HK2.5 cents) ERZEEW
per share (CE-=F 258

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based
on the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
RMB52,970,000 (2023: profit attributable to owners of
the Company of RMB14,563,000) and on the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year of
429,096,000 (2023: 400,000,000).

Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per
share as there was no dilutive potential ordinary share in issue
during both years.

- 8,977

14. BR(ER)&F

SREX (FBB) /BILRELSIE
BAELERARES2,970,0005T (=
TT=F L ARBHBAE ABGHERN A
E114,563,0007t) RERNBEEHTEZE
B 2 NN #7159 #0429,096,0008% (Z &
— =4 :400,000,00008) 5tE

HRMEFERNLESETETHRE

EER HUEREBRANASRESR
‘A EE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ -BE K= E
Furniture
and office Leasehold Motor
equipment improvements vehicle Total
&
MAERE HEMERE AE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ABETR  ARETR  ARETR
Cost R
At 1 January 2023 R_E_=#—F—H 3,418 17,207 714 21,339
Additions 1&1m 231 1,300 - 1,531
Written off i} (47) - - (47)
At 31 December 2023 and R_E_=F#+"A=1t—-Hk
1 January 2024 —E-mE-B—H 3,602 18,507 714 22,823
Additions 11 137 303 - 440
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 35) WEE—RMB AT (HizE35) 285 4,758 - 5,043
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36)  HE—RHEAT (Hi:E36) (27) - - (27)
Written off b i (39) (24) - (63)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZME+ZR=+—H 3,958 33,544 714 38,216
Accumulated depreciation ReHTERAE
and impairment
At 1 January 2023 R_E_=ZF—-A—H 2,061 9,385 107 11,553
Depreciation e 459 3,469 143 4,071
Written off s (33) - - (33)
At 31 December 2023 and RZE2Z=F+"F=1+—Hk
1 January 2024 “E-mE-FB—H 2,487 12,854 250 15,591
Depreciation & 490 4,585 143 5218
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary H&—RHB AR 2L HE
(note 36) (Fft5£36) (18) - - (18)
Written off i (37) (24) - (61)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZME+ZA=1+—H 2,922 17,415 393 20,730
Net book value REFE
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZME+ZA=+—H 1,036 16,129 321 17,486
At 31 December 2023 R_E_ZF+-A=+—H 1,115 5,653 464 7,232

As at 31 December 2024, certain of Group's leasehold
improvements of approximately RMB13,344,000 and right-
of-use assets of approximately RMB19,133,000 (note 16)
acquired through the business acquisition of Meikangmao
(note 35) during the year has been provided to a lessee to
operate for a term of 5 years (cancellable by both parties with
an insignificant penalty during the term) with a fixed rental
income and a significant contingent rent by reference to the
underlying postpartum care service business operated by the
lessee.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BHEZZ-_NHE+ZHA=+—H &
EEAFERKEERZER (M
35) M ZHHAEYWEEELHA
113,344,000t e fEAEEELNIA
119,133,000t (Y&E16) » EHFA
FT—ABEANEE ABPARE (ZOE
ERARMNT— Ao R LE
FEESBEENS) Hea3ETE
WARZERBARKCE 2B FREZE
HKRIRBEEZEAGEHRE-



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EREEE
Leasehold land and buildings
HELHRIET

2024 2023

ol 111 = 3 B =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFIT
At 1 January w—A—H 9,876 16,196
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 35) WE—XME AR MsE35) 21,306 -
Lease commencement MHERER - 229
Lease modification HEET 3,352 10,623
Lease termination HEKIE (518) (9,383)
Depreciation e (7,723) (7,789)
At 31 December R+_BA=+—H 26,293 9,876

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of
2 to 10 years (2023: 2 to 6 years). Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period
for which the contract is enforceable.

PREFE AEBRAEEEMAE
ZEBRAE - HEAGREINEEHR
BRA2EI0FE (CEZ=F : 2F6%) o
HEER&EANEREERETEE
ERAANGARREE RETHE
FRETEATFHEPARZER &
EERACRAZERREEIRNITE
Bz A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. I EYE

2024 2023

—EmE —B_=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AREFIT
At 1 January n—A—H 24,400 25,000
Change in fair value NFBEBEZEH 800 (600)
At 31 December w+ZB=+—H 25,200 24,400

All of the Group’s properties held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are classified and accounted for as
investment properties and are measured using the fair value
model.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair values of the
investment properties of the Group in the PRC were assessed
by APAC Appraisal and Consulting Limited, independent
qualified professional valuer, member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors and has appropriate qualifications and
recent experience in the valuation of similar properties in the
relevant locations.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value of the
investment properties are determined by applying the direct
comparison method by reference to the comparable sales
evidences as available on the relevant market and adjusted to
reflect the conditions of the subject properties.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea)

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring
fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and
closing fair value balance is provided below:

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

17. KEYE =

KREVMEZ N TEBEAE-EBEXKE
MHAFESAZ U TAHBNAHRA
TEEFEZHER:

2024 2023
ol 111 = —E_=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR¥TF T
At 1 January (Level 3 recurring fair value) W—B—H (F=ZEB=X
KM NTE) 24,400 25,000
Change in fair value N EBEZEH 800 (600)
At 31 December ®B+-—HA=4+—H (&=
(level 3 recurring fair value) BREEATE) 25,200 24,400

The following table shows the significant unobservable inputs
used in the valuation model:

TRERTREEREFEREKRT
PR ARE

Range of
unobservable
Significant inputs
Fair value unobservable Relationship of unobservable (per square
Properties hierarchy Valuation technique(s) inputs inputs to fair value meter)
FEABRREA
FTRRHAER w2 B
ng AFERH  (hERE EXTTREWANS  AFEZMGE (EFHH)
Commercial buildings, Level 3 Direct comparison Unit sale rate of same An increase in the unit sale rate RMB84,200 to
the PRC property in the relevant  used would result in an increase RM84,600
market after taking into in the fair value measurement (2023:
account of level and of the properties by the same RMB81,400
renovation. percentage increase, and vice to
versa. RM81,800)
RPBEzBERE RN BRLEEE AERISHNECER MERNBUHEEENLMNRE AR
% EEMSLER BMENRATEEFEBURK 84,2000 2
NEENBAHEE MEALEM R 274 N
84,6007
CEz=fF:
NG
81,400LE
NG
81,8007T)
The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’ NEEENHERER LAMENR

highest and best use, which does not differ from their actual ENEEAR BHEMNERAR
use. REEHR -

SnntiEREEERAD FEHE2024 173



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. ELEE
Computer
Goodwill Trademark software Total
kS [ELE EREM st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NS T AREFT ARBTFT ANERBTFT
Cost %
At 1 January 2023 R_E_=F—HF—H 15,751 10,400 11,399 37,550
Addition 121 - - 3,071 3,071
At 31 December 2023 and R_E-_=F+"F=1+—-Hk
1 January 2024 “E-mE—-F—H 15,751 10,400 14,470 40,621
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 35) WEE—RHBAR (H5£35) 8,532 - - 8,532
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36)  HE—FKHBEAE (HI36) (2,318) (1,900) - (4,218)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-_ME+-B=+-H 21,965 8,500 14,470 44,935
Accumulated amortisation Rt RAE
and impairment
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=F—F—H 656 - 2,230 2,886
Amortisation B - - 2,434 2,434
Impairment A 1,186 - - 1,186
At 31 December 2023 and RIBZ=F+"B=1+-HK
1 January 2024 2T EE-F—H 1,842 - 4,664 6,506
Amortisation 3 - - 2,892 2,892
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36) ~ HE—KKBAF (H336) (656) - - (656)
Impairment HiE 16,952 8,500 - 25,452
At 31 December 2024 RZZZME+ZA=1+—H 18,138 8,500 7,556 34,194
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZME+ZRA=+—H 3,827 - 6,914 10,741
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=#+"A=+-H 13,909 10,400 9,806 34,115
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

The recoverable amount of Wuhan Jiaenbei Health
Management Co. Ltd. (“Jiaenbei”) CGU is determined based
on value in use calculations. The use of this method requires
the estimation of future cash flows and the determination of
a discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the
cash flows.

The value in use calculation is based on cash flow projections
from formally approved budgets covering a five-year period.
The key assumptions used by management for value-in-use
calculations were as follows:

(i)  the forecast revenue growth rates which are based on
past experience adjusted for occupancy rate and the
revenue contribution of the postpartum care centre,
ranging from 3% to 5%;

(i) discount rate, which is 16% (2023: 15%), it is pre-tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs;
and

(iii) cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated
using the estimated growth rates of 2% (2023: 2%).
The growth rate does not exceed the long-term average
growth rate for the postpartum care service business in
which the CGU operates.

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 18. :ﬁ:ﬁé (&
The net carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2024 RIZZWNERZIEZ= E +ZA
and 2023 is allocated to the CGUs as follows: —t+—HEHERAFEIEERS
EEBMNT
Goodwill carrying amount
HMEREE
2024 2023
—EF-MmE —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT AR®ETT
Postpartum Care Services: H?Eﬁi‘%:
Dunnan CGU in Guangzhou BEMNBmZBEELEN - 9,885
Jiaenbei CGU in Wuhan _tfia?u,\zfﬁﬁfziﬁﬁ 2,362 2,362
Desheng Meimei CGU in Wuhan HEEBEEREESEN - 1,662
Meikangmao CGU in Wuhan HEERERZRESELEN 1,465 -
3,827 13,909
The Group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether AEERRSBFAZREEZESHERER
goodwill has suffered any impairment. fBo
Jiaenbei CGU of Postpartum Care Services EREBEAFRBZREELEN

REZRERREEARRLE ((ER
B REEFEMZTWREIEEETIR
BEREBEAEEMEET - FALA
EREMHARRBEESREBLE TR
EPEREMENRE

EREEAFEANDREEERBIE
MAERFHZHMHBAENRAREE
MERESL -EEERAZARR
RAT -

(i) WHBEKRITS2EBEAFROAE
KRR W B B AR 2 T80 R A 1
EX (NMF3%E%) ;

(il RERERIRESELBMARTERRE
Zﬂvt%ﬂﬁiﬁﬂs% -
15%) ;

(i) AEHBZRSRELFERMG
BEZEI% (TEZ=FH:2%) %K
HH - ZEERTABBREE
FEMLEMTENE FRBITE
ZEHPFHIERER.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 8. BB E &

176

Jiaenbei CGU of Postpartum Care Services (continued)
Apart from the considerations described above in determining
the recoverable amount of the CGU, management is not
aware of any other probable changes that would necessitate
changes in the key assumptions. Management determines
that the recoverable amount of Jiaenbei CGU containing
goodwill does not suffer any impairment.

Dunnan CGU of Postpartum Care Services

The recoverable amount of Guangzhou Sheng Cheng Dunnan
Enterprise Management Co., Limited (“Dunnan”) CGU is
determined based on the higher of value in use and fair value
less cost of disposal of the CGU to which the relevant assets
belong.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, for the business of
Dunnan and its subsidiaries, namely Guangzhou Sheng Ya
Family Services Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Sheng Xin Family
Services Co., Ltd. ("Dunnan Group”), the management has
decided to close down all the postpartum care centres of
Dunnan CGU. This had an adverse impact on the estimated
value-in-use of the CGU and the result in nil recoverable
amount of the Dunnan CGU as at 31 December 2024. The
goodwill of RMB9,885,000, trademark of RMB8,500,000,
have been fully impaired and was recognised in “Other gains
and losses, net” (note 7). The carrying amount of the CGU
has been reduced to its nil recoverable amount. The use of
this method requires the estimation of future cash flows and
the determination of a discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of the cash flows.

As at 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount has been
determined by an independent professional valuer, APAC
Appraisal and Consulting Limited (“APAC"), under the
value in use calculation based on cash flow projections from
formally approved budgets prepared by the management
assumption of up to the closure of all the postpartum care
centres of Dunnan CGU.

The key assumptions used by management for value-in-use
calculations were as follows:

(i)  the postpartum care centres of Dunnan Group has been
closed down by end of February 2025, and

(i)  discount rate, which is 15% (2023: 15%), it is pre-tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Desheng Meimei CGU of Postpartum Care Services

The Group has acquired 51% of the equity interest (the
"Equity Interest”) of Wuhan Desheng Meimei Health
Management Co., Ltd. ("Desheng Meimei”) from an
independent third party (the “Seller”) in pursuant to the
equity transfer agreement (the “Agreement”) during the
financial year ended 31 December 2020. The Agreement
contains a right of the Group to sell the Equity Interest of
Desheng Meimei back to the Seller upon the occurrence of

certain conditions.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the
directors of the Company has exercised the right to sell the
Equity Interest back to Seller. However, the Seller failed to
fulfil the obligation of share buy back in accordance with the
Agreement. In August 2023, the Group has filed a lawsuit
against the Seller due to the above mentioned dispute.

In December 2023, the Group received the Civil Judgment
served by the Shenzhen Nanshan District People’s Court and
the Seller is ordered by the Court to buy back the Equity
Interest of Desheng Meimei. The Seller has filed an appeal
petition subsequently.

In June 2024, the Group and the Seller reached a mediation
agreement that the Seller would repurchase the 51%
equity interest of Desheng Meimei held by the Group with
consideration of RMB1,300,000, which has been completed
in July 2024. Desheng Meimei has ceased to be a subsidiary
of the Group since then (note 36).

Meikangmao CGU of Postpartum Care Services
In accordance with HKFRS 3
Group recognised acquired subsidiary’s assets and liabilities

“Business Combination”, the

at the acquisition date. The fair values of goodwill of
RMB8,532,000 for Wuhan Meikangmao Health Management
Co., Ltd.
determined based on valuation performed by APAC, the

("Meikangmao”) on the acquisition date was

independent professional valuer. This acquisition is accounted
as a business combination.

18.

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

BLEE @
EBEEAFREZREESEN
RBEZZEHF+Z/A=+—HIt
MHEE AEBERE(REEZER
Z) () aBiILsE=x1r (&AL
WK EEBEEREEERARLAE
(TERSEE)) S1% R EED (TIRERE
Hl) cWEEB KR BT AERE PN
EREEER I EEEZRER
mERTFER ZEH o

RBEE_E_=F+"A=+—H1t
MRFEE AR EEGITHELME
FMorBREEEGZERTER - HEE
FARERGERTROAODERR
—=FN\RB xEBRFLE u&ﬁa
TR AR o

“EC=F+Z R AEEEER
TEUEARZERZFHZ(REFHAR
2) ERBEBE L ARIBEBEER
D B ERIEH EFHFFF-

TEINERBOAEERELE
MERGZE NETEEAFIUARE
1,300,000 Bl AR EBFTIFEE ==
S1%KRE#TD TER S _NWF+
BRpXE Bt EHEERAFAL
EEZKEAR (HIsE36) ©

EEXRBFREZREELEM
BESEVBEREERNEIRNTEES
o AEBRKBEHRATFEER
REWHENBLAEZEEKREE K
BEEBEREEEEBERLAB (TEE
R RWEHZAHEARBEAAR
#8,532,00070 LLEBEDHERBEILIE
EHEMEE KGEMETZTGHE
Eo b RINERRA—THEBK S
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 18. ML E E (&2

178

Meikangmao CGU of Postpartum Care Services
(continued)

The recoverable amount of the CGU as at 31 December 2024
has been determined by APAC, the independent professional
valuer, under the value in use calculation based on the present
value of expected future cash flows, which is higher of its
fair value less cost of disposal. The value in use calculation
was determined based on financial forecasts approved by
management covering a 7-year period, which is the unexpired
lease term of the existing lease entered into by Meikangmao
CGU.

The key assumptions used by management for value-in-use
calculations were as follows:

(i)  the amount of contingent rent in accordance with
relevant agreement shared by the Group by reference
to the underlying postpartum care service business
operated by the lessee; and

(i)  discount rate, which is 17%, it is pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

The carrying amount of Meikangmao CGU, including
goodwill, property, plant and equipment and right of
use assets attributed this CGU, was written down to its
recoverable amount of RMB17,600,000. An impairment loss
of RMB7,067,000 on goodwill was charged to profit or loss
under “Other gains and losses, net” (note 7) during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

As the carrying amount of the CGU has been reduced to
its recoverable amount, any adverse change in the key
assumptions used to calculate the recoverable amount would
result in further impairment losses.
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19. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 75 R R M 5E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F _E+ _—H=+—HILFE

19. IRERIE

MTAMTBREMS NIRERIES
BRZ DT -
2024 2023
—ENE = —
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFIT
Deferred tax assets RIETRIBE E 11,090 9,520
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEAG (1,365) (3,453)
9,725 6,067
The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) MTHINFARDBZEERIEREBEER
recognised and movements thereon during the year: E/ (B REEH):
Temporary
Undistributed Fair value difference
earnings of  increase on arising from
PRC intangible ECL finance lease
subsidiaries assets provision income Total
RABRPE ERERE
WBAR  EREEZ BHER WAEREN
akE  ATEEM BEEE ORMZE 4zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT  ARETR AREBTR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=F—-HF—H (1,691) (2,350) 7,691 46 3,696
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss  (0FRE) /st AB% (H512)
(Note 12) (157) - 1,490 293 1,626
Reversal of withholding tax upon R ECE TN 2 2 #[m)
distribution (Note 12) (F35E12) 745 - - - 745
At 31 December 2023 and RZZZ=F+ZA=+—H
1 January 2024 RZ_E-mE-F—H (1,103) (2,350) 9,181 339 6,067
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss & A/ (GNERE) B (HE12)
(Note 12) - 2,350 1,909 (601) 3,658
At 31 December 2024 R-E-NE+ZA=+—H (1,103) - 11,090 (262) 9,725
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

19. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Pursuant to the EIT Law and its detailed implementation rules,
dividend distributed out of the profit generated thereafter,
shall be subject to EIT at 5% (2023: 5%) and withheld by the
PRC entities.

At the reporting date, the amount of the unutilised tax losses

19. IREMRIE (=
BIECEMEREIREBMMA] > B
B EENFBERDIRNKES B
5% (ZE =% :5%) NMREHM
¥(MEHR  wHPRERAREN

REBEEEH APBARBHERZSRU

is as follows: e
2024 2023
—E-ME BT =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFIT
Unutilised tax losses KEBMFEEE 5,896 4,076

Deferred tax asset in respect of unutilised tax losses has
not been recognised in the financial statements due to the
unpredic tability of future profit streams against which the tax
losses can be utilised. The tax losses will expire in five years
after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

The Group entered into finance lease arrangements as a
lessor for equipment and motor vehicles. The average terms
of finance leases entered into usually range from 1 to 3
years. All interest rates inherent in the leases are fixed at the
contract date over the lease terms.

All of the lease contracts are with guaranteed residual values.
There was no unguaranteed residual value of leased assets
and no contingent rent arrangement that needed to be

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

20. R ETHEEUWRRIA
EpRBRISENHAA  AEE
AT RERERY  BMEEE TN
THERBRE B EIEFIEEER
KEBREI 2 ARAEHNEER

o

FRIEREERBAREREGERE
EAEWIHHF'?WIMX}?FW FME(E
ERERESCUAEELHHE

recognised in both periods. o
Present value of
Minimum minimum
lease payments lease payments
REHAERE EEHAERERE
2024 2023 2024 2023
_mE “TT=F ZEmE “TT=F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTR ARETT AR®TR ARETRT
Finance lease receivables comprises: B EHEREIKTIEEIE .
Within one year —ER 72,758 95,682 71,747 92,567
In the second year B5TE 37,056 20,376 35,296 19,133
Over two years BB m E 46,853 22,846 42,660 19,769
156,667 138,904 149,703 131,469
Less: Unearned finance income W RBIRRMEWRA (6,964) (7,435) - -
Present value of minimum lease payments & & EFBIRER : 149,703 131,469 149,703 131,469
Less: lifetime ECL allowance SHEIRERBRES (60,062) (24,470)
89,641 106,999
Represented by: MERENDTS
Current assets TEEE 22,260 68,024
Non-current assets FRBEE 67,381 38,975
89,641 106,999

As at 31 December 2024, the interest rates implicit in the
above finance leases range mainly from 1.7% to 17.5%
(2023: 1.7% to 17.5%) per annum.

RZZ_HWHF+ZRA=+—H> L%

MEREE
17.5% (ZE =%

WEEFFENFI1.7%E
1.7%ZFE17.5%)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continuead)

Finance lease receivable is mainly secured by the leased assets
which are used in printing industry, medical industry and
logistics industry and customers’ deposits where applicable.
Customers’ deposits are collected and calculated based on a
certain percentage of the entire value of the lease contract.
Certain deposits are returned to the customers in full by
end of lease period according to the terms of the lease
contract. When the lease contract expires and all liabilities
and obligations under the lease contract have been fulfilled,
the Group must return the full lease deposits to the lessee.
The balance of the customers’ deposits can also be applied
and used to settle any outstanding lease payments for the
corresponding lease contract.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the finance lease
receivables are effectively secured by the underlying assets, as
the rights to the leased assets would be reverted to the Group
in the event of default payment.

Estimates of fair value of collaterals are made during the
credit approval process. These estimates of valuations are
made at the inception of finance lease, and generally not
updated except when the receivable is individually impaired.
When a finance lease receivable is identified as impaired,
the corresponding fair value of collateral of that receivable
is updated by reference to market value such as recent
transaction price of the assets.

As at 31 December 2024, finance lease receivables with gross
carrying amount of RMB86,196,000 (2023: RMB39,808,000)
were pledged to secure the Group's bank borrowings (Note
29(ii)) and RMB6,753,000 (2023: RMB32,293,000) were
pledged to secure the Group's other borrowings from a
finance lease company (Note 29(iv)).
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20.

MEREEWIRIE =
HEREREKRRETEmARDR
¥ RBERYRENAELERE
Find (B (M B R Re T
MEAHEEENETED LKERE
HEWHBRERBAESNERRN
A RE R RRETER - EHE
SHEMEREANETRAEEER
%75 O B 17 55 » 25 g B 44 A 1B A TR
ANEEZ2BEERE - BAREHE
7R BT LUFE BB 7 o P 75 A0 4E I A FE AR
BEEHNREBHEERR

RIE_NER_E_=F+_1
=+—H MEMRSEWERSER
EEREAENER RAWNRBLEE
HNERO HEESENEANBREEAE
£E-

BRYHNAFEEEEEEMHERETR
EThE -BEGEEREAEES
H HA B > BR 3F B8 UK AR AR H 3R 1B B A
B S—RIrEEH -EMERE

s BR R B TE 25 BB B 0 sX R U AR K
HRMERATEERSEHHEE
MNEEVAXZER) ETERM-

RIE_WNF+ZA=+—H KM@\
4%E AR 186,196,000t (ZE - =
£ AR139,808,0007T) zRERE
FERRECEE R UREAERIET
faa (MesE29(i) M A 6,753,000t
(ZE-=%: ARK¥32,293,0007T)
CRMERERKREESER KX
MEREARESAERNHEMER
(MFEF29(iv)) ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. MEHERUWRIE =
The following is an ageing analysis based on due dates of MNTAREEARNMRERE DM
the finance lease receivables instalments which are past due EEAH MR DT (R EERR SR
(instalments which are not yet due at the end of the reporting i R E B D HB R -

period are excluded):

2024 2023
—EME T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AREFTT
Past due by: Bl -

1-30 days 1ZE30H 840 1,377
31-90 days 31Z290H 1,603 2,061
More than 90 days #BiB90H 8,253 10,706
10,696 14,144
Details of impairment assessment of finance lease receivable FEHEERWTRIE Z BB EFIFER

are set out in Note 41(a). HMEE41(a) °
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CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES

21. B 5 EIRFEIE

2024 2023

—E-@EF —EC=4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBTIT

Trade receivables B FEW A 314,698 206,411
Less: Provision for impairment loss R ERIEEE (17,621) (9,424)
297,077 196,987

The Group allows a credit period of 0-365 days to its
customers for its trade receivables.

EBME S EWRIEL FEF0-365
ffaﬁﬁﬁﬂ"

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables RERSHRZREZHRADNES
presented based on invoice dates at the end of each reporting EWFIBERE DT E25]WT -
period:
2024 2023
il 111 = 3 2=
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TF T AREFIT
1-30 days 1230k 250,481 162,587
31-60 days 31&260XK 282 23,938
61-90 days 61290k 25 4,510
91-180 days 912180k 10,300 5,497
181-365 days 181&E365K% 19,666 455
Over 365 days FBi8365K 16,323 -
297,077 196,987

As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables with gross
carrying amount of RMB19,200,000 were pledged to secure
the Group's bank borrowings (Note 29(ii)).

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 41(a).
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RIEZWEFE+ZA=+—08" K@
4% AR 119,200,000 2 8B 5 FEIR
MECERUNEAE@MNIRITER
(B 5E29(i))

ERAEECEERRRE ZEWRNIE
Fral MW EERREINE —TEBHN
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE - F - FEF A=+ —HILFE

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

22. FATRIA B E R HEthEUL

RECEIVABLES RIE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E_=

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
b AR¥T T AR¥TF T
Prepayments to suppliers A FER R IE (i 89,597 57,046
Security deposits {REE® (ii) 20 6,934
Refundable rental deposits AREEERE (iii) 2,701 1,952
Refundable deposits ARERE 1,000 -
Other receivables H g EIE 3,290 4,121
96,608 70,053

Notes: B EE -

(i) Prepayments are mainly advance payments to suppliers.

iy FENREIZHAGHEHRIE.

2024 2023
—TlE S
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®FT
(i) Represented by: (iy TEFHREHNDFA
— Current portion —mENE 20 3,102
— Non-current portion —IEREE D - 3,832
(i)  Represented by: (i) MEFRENDNA
— Current portion —mENE D 1,053 810
— Non-current portion —FEMBNE D 1,648 1,142

EanEREEARAA
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CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

23. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

23. BRFIERITIER RITE
BRRIRE

2024 2023
—E-ME —ET=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBETT ARETT

Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRRE 12,958 108,260
Restricted bank deposits BRFIERITER
Guaranteed deposits (note i) fRES (M) 9,000 12,000
Bank deposits with restrictions on use R & B iRTTrEmr (e 5Eii)
(note ii) 1,387 3,861
Other restricted bank deposits (note i)  Efth75 BRHIAVIRTTERN (Mt =Eiii) 2,495 -
12,882 15,861

The bank balances and the restricted bank deposits of the
Group carry interest at market rates ranged from 0.01% to
1.65% (2023: 0.01% to 1.30%) per annum.

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2024, the restricted bank deposits of
RMB9,000,000 (2023: RMB12,000,000) are deposits in one
(2023: one) bank as guaranteed deposits for borrowings and

the trading customers, respectively (Notes 28).

(i) Pursuant to the sale and leaseback agreements as mentioned in
Note 29(iv), the Group agreed to open a supervision account at
a bank recognised by the Buyer-lessor to carry out supervision
on the use of lease funds and rental repayment. As stipulated
in the supervision agreement, it is available to be used by the
Group to meet its short-term working capital needs and cash
flows for finance lease business. Therefore, bank deposits
of approximately RMB1,387,000 (2023: RMB3,861,000) in
the supervision account is included in the cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statements of
cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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REBZIRTHEGMRERGBRITER
BHGAEFEAEF001%E1.65%
(CEZ=%F:0.01%%E1.30%)°

(i) R ZE_ME+A=+—H' AR
#9,000,0007Cc (ZEZ=F : AR
12,000,0007T) A RFIRITEFERS
BRR—R(CE_=F ' —%R) BT
NER PRERERRAEZER
BRE = (Ff5E28) ©

(i) RIERMEE29(V) AT E & B %
FEEREEER-HHEAAESR
AWNIRTRIIEERS WHHEES
NEANBEEBEBRETESE -
KARBEERA AEATFEEAR
MEMBEREEXBENAHEEES
BRkEBFEERE-BHIL REEZE
ZHME+ZRA=+—HIEFENIR
%x)ui%ﬁﬁﬁ— 4 EFAEE)EE':D+A}E$
HETEBYNRTERANAR
#1,387,0007c (ZEZ=F . AR
3,861,0007T) ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK

BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)  As at 31 December 2024, other restricted bank deposits of
RMB2,495,000 (2023: Nil) represented bank balances frozen by
court order.

Subsequent to the year ended, the frozen bank balances have
been released in accordance with the mediation letter issued by
the court in January 2025.

Further details are set out in note 34.

The bank balances that are denominated in currencies other
than RMB are set out below:

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

23. HRHRITERRITE

BRIEE®

MisE © (&

(i BEZZ-NE+ZB=+—8>
HMSRHBETEIRAARE
2,495,000 (B = : &) > £t A
R S RS 2 RITAE B o

REEGRRE  BRRGERITERE
REFEERR S _HFE—AHHZA
FRET AR o

SHIBEEIC 34

AR LU 2 G sHEZ IRTTAERR
E R TIR I

2024 2023

—EFMWmE s =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AR ¥T T
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") Bt (&) 67 916
United States dollar (“US$") x5t (MEm)) 5 5
72 921

The Group performed impairment assessment on restricted
bank deposits/bank balances, details of which are set out in
Note 41(a).

As at 31 December 2024, included in cash and bank balances
of the Group was RMB12,886,000 (2023: RMB107,339,000)
of bank balances denominated in RMB placed with the
banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency.
Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for foreign currencies through the banks that
are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

XEBEHBRGIRITERKIBITHEER
EAITRE G Her B HIN W EE41(a)

RIE_WE+_RB=+—H'&&
BrRERIBITEGEEUARIES
EMERNTEZRITZIRITEEG A
112,886,000t (ZEZ=F . AR
#5107,339,0007T) - AR IERI B H
i 2 B o iR 1% A EH S E B IR R A
RiEE -EERTESERT  ~EH
EEEBER A ETIHEEE ZIRT
BARBRGAEME! -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Pledged bank deposits represented bank deposits placed as
guaranteed deposits for issuing bills payable (Note 25(ii)).

The effective interest rate of pledged bank deposits was
1.30% per annum as at 31 December 2023. All pledged bank
deposits were denominated in RMB and kept with a bank in
the PRC.

The bills payable has been settled during the year.

25. TRADES AND BILLS PAYABLES

24. ERIRITER

BERBETEREFAETEREBNOR
B REEMF R IRITER (M5

25(ii)) °

RZIEZ

“E=H#+"A=+—H'EZ&
RIRTERNERENED1.30%° Fﬁ

EEEMRTERAUARE

EFHRPEZRITe

sHEIL

BN EEERAEERNR LS
25. B REEEMARIE

2024 2023

—E-HE ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARYEFT ARBTIT
Trade payables (note i) B S EARIE (M 5E) 22,409 59,611
Bills payable (note ii) EHRREN IR (5T - 500
22,409 60,111

The trade payables are normally repayable within one year. BoRNHREEE AN —FRNEE-

(i)  An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end

(i) RESHR UEZEPAED

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as B S EMNHIER T
follows:
2024 2023
—E_MmEF —2-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTT
Up to 3 months 3EB A 21,496 59,480
3 to 6 months 3E6MEA 314 131
6 to 12 months 621218 H 399 -
Over 12 months BB 1218 B 200 -
22,409 59,611

The credit period granted by the Group’s suppliers

ranges from 0 to 120 days.

(i)  Bills payable was secured by pledged bank deposits
(Note 24) of the Group and has been settled during the

year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 26. HithFE R IE R ESTE B
CHARGES
2024 2023
—EBMmE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Advance receipts from RBBERR ZEWRARIE
prospective customers 2,569 2,617

Contract liabilities (Note i) aiasd (M) 8,126 11,791

Other accrued charges HipEst &R 6,717 6,070

Other tax payables HtpENRIE 15,346 10,321

Other payables (Note ii) HanpE kI8 (B sEii) 13,735 43,434

46,493 74,233

Note: Bt -

(i)  The contract liabilities mainly relate to advance considerations (i) EHEBETERERHEEFRFME
received from customers and arose from the provision of FoREFREMNTERER LU
postpartum care services. The Group takes certain deposits ET®RE Mk FEMRERIRFEE
from customers on acceptance of the order, with the remainder TRESZ N  EERSMEBIIELAS
of the consideration payable at the commencement of the NEBEEERBEM-

service period. The deposits remains as contract liabilities until
such time as the services are provided.

Movements in contract liabilities are as follows: sHaEgEUT .
2024 2023
—EZME B =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT
Balance as at 1 January R—A—BZ&% 11,791 11,131
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result FE#st AGHNBBRENAEEZ
of recognising revenue during the WaHERERSNamRLD
year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (11,791) (11,131)

Increase in contract liabilities as a result KA S RIURENET 218 18 R IR (AR 75
of receiving deposits during the year in  TEN&4I&EE N
respect of services not yet rendered 8,126 11,791

Balance as at 31 December R+_B=+—BHZR%E 8,126 11,791

SnniEREEERAD FEHE 2024 189
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BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED

26.

HthE (R IE R Est & A

CHARGES (continued) (#)
Note: (continued) e (&
(i) (continued) (i) (#)
The Group applies the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 and REBEBEBEMBREENE5
does not disclose information about its remaining performance EHOTHRER S URBENEER
obligation if the performance obligation is part of a contract FIaTERREAR A —FHEENENN
that has an original expected duration of one year or less. —&n MAERBEEHRARGREY
EAEMNER
(i) As at 31 December 2023, other payables mainly relate to the iy MRIBEZ=F+ZA=+—8>HM
refundable deposits amounted to RMB40,000,000 received ENMREFERENRBEIBAR
from potential subscribers in relation to the placing of W ER B PR & & A K #40,000,000
30,000,000 new ordinary shares. These new ordinary shares TT 0 A IE AL E30,000,00088 #r &
have been issued during the year ended 31 December 2024 BRAEM -ZENEBERENREEC
(note 30). ENEF A=+ —HIEFERNE
77 (MF5E30) ©
1= =
27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HE&1E
2024 2023
—EZME =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARYFT AREFIT
Balance as at 1 January N—HB—HB 2z 10,854 17,427
Lease commencement HEHR®R - 229
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 35) g — B8 A Bl(FYEE 35) 21,306 -
Interest expense FMEREZ 2,074 1,400
Lease payments HER® (9,365) (9,045)
Lease modification MHEEST 3,352 10,623
Lease termination HE&IE (535) (9,780)
Balance as at 31 December R+ZA=+—H28%E 27,686 10,854
Represented by: MERENDMA -
Current liabilities DIk 5,735 6,118
Non-current liabilities el U=k 21,951 4,736
27,686 10,854
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27. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

Future lease payments are due as follows:

27. HE&RE @

RREENRZEHRBERMT

Future lease Present
payments Interest value
RIREE T F1)SN HE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARE®FTT ARETT
As at 31 December 2024 11 2
+ZR=+—H
Due within one year —FRNEE 8,386 2,651 5,735
Due in the second to fifth years ZERFARNEE 21,220 6,800 14,420
Due over five years A FBEE 8,505 974 7,531
38,111 10,425 27,686
As at 31 December 2023 A —
+ZB=+—H
Due within one year —F NI 6,475 357 6,118
Due in the second to fifth years ZEHAHEFERNEE 4,941 205 4,736
11,416 562 10,854

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

28. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

28. A F5IEMR

2024 2023
—E-_ME ==
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Financial guarantee issued MBI RE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had given financial
guarantee to a bank for banking facilities granted to
certain customers of the Group with maximum amount of
approximately RMB125,842,000 (2023: RMB149,730,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2024, an ECL allowance
of RMB2,402,000 (2023: RMB2,451,000) was provided.

The financial guarantees were guaranteed by restricted bank
deposits of RMB9,000,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB12,000,000) (Note 23).
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2,402 2,451

RIEZWNFE+ZA=+—H &&
EEMETAEEETEANIRITRH
BER—XRFTREREEHIAR
#%125,842,000c (ZE2EZ=F : AR
#149,730,0007T) WA &R &E
—EME+ZR=+—HLFE>
FHRTEAAE B KR AR®E2,402,0007T
(ZE2Z=%F: AR12,451,0007T) °
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

29. SRIT R H fthfEwx

2024 2023
ol 111 - 5 B
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR Tt AREFTT
Bank borrowings due for repayment —FRIBREEZRITER
within one year
- Unsecured and guaranteed (Note i) —EER R A ER (W5 40,200 23,789
— Secured and guaranteed (Note ii) —BRARAERR (i) 59,400 30,000
99,600 53,789
Bank borrowings due for repayment HBiE—FEHAERE ZIRITER
more than one year
— Secured and guaranteed (Note ii) —BHEARAER () 74,506 27,600
Total bank borrowings HEIRTTER 174,106 81,389
Other borrowings due for repayment —FRNEREE 2 HMER
within one year
- Unsecured and guaranteed (Note i) ~ —#IEIRRB IR (ML) 4,561 -
Other borrowings from a finance R—=XmMEHEE LB 2 HMER
lease company (Note iv) (B 5Eiv)
- Due for repayment within one year ——FREHEER 4,126 47,258
— Due for repayment more than — BB —FIBER
one year - 4,154
4,126 51,412
Total other borrowings WHEMER 8,687 51,412
Total borrowings g 182,793 132,801
Notes: P 5E
() As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowing of )y RIBZOEF+ZA=+—H'&&

RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen and Ms.
Tang Yiping, spouse of Mr. Zhang Junshen.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB4,500,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms.
Tang Yiping, Mr. Zhang Shengjie, father of Mr. Zhang Junshen

and a financing guarantee company in Shenzhen.

BYER 1T fE R AR ¥65,000,00070H
RERAE S REREEZEMBSIG

SEULRMER

RIZZWE+ZR=+—H&&
EpyIRTT B AR IE4,500,00070H
RERTENBIBFL I RERK
& 2 R IR B B It A BRIl i — R B

BERABREER

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2024

193



194

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

@)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB30,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen,
Ms. Tang Yiping, Mr. Zhang Shengjie, Ziyuanyuan Holdings
Group Limited, Ziyuanyuan (Shenzhen) International Finance
Leasing Company Limited (“ZYY Finance Leasing”),
Shenzhen Meijiaer Health Management Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Meijiaer”) and Shenzhen Ruiheng Medical Supply Chain
Co., Ltd.,
Group, and Shenzhen Ziyuanyuan Investment Holdings Limited

(“Shenzhen Ruiheng”), three subsidiaries of the

("Ziyuanyuan Investment”) and Shenzhen Lingnan Real
Estate Development Limited, companies which are controlled by
Mr. Zhang Junshen.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB700,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms. Tang
Yiping, Mr. Zhang Shengjie and a third-party of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB13,400,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms.
Tang Yiping and a third-party of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings of
RMB1,389,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms.
Tang Yiping, and three third parties of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings of
RMB8,300,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms.
Tang Yiping, ZYY Finance Leasing and Shenzhen Meijiaer, and a
third-party of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB700,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms. Tang
Yiping, Shenzhen Ruiheng and a third-party of the Company.
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29. SRIT R HMER @

BT @ ()

@)

AR _MFE+ZRB=+—H &&
B RYIRIT(E TA)\E?*PSO 000,0007T H
RERLEE - BEFRL T REEL
I\%Tﬁn?’“ﬂy%@ﬁﬁﬁ“ﬂ\:%
KRB BRAR LT CFRIIN &
HRREEEARAR (TETTiER
B) RNmEEHEREEERRR
2 (GRINEER) RRIMIRIEEE
HEHARAR (BRINHIE) ~ KW
KHESRERLETES 2 DERYIEKT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(if)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB27,600,000 (2023: RMB27,600,000) was guaranteed by
Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms. Tang Yiping, Mr. Zhang Shengjie, ZYY
Finance Leasing and Shenzhen Ruiheng, two subsidiaries of the
Company, and Ziyuanyuan Investment. The bank borrowing is
secured by the entire equity interests in Dunnan held by the
Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB30,000,000 (2023: RMB30,000,000) was guaranteed by
Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms. Tang Yiping, Mr. Zhang Shengjie,
Shenzhen Meijiaer and Shenzhen Ruiheng, two subsidiaries
of the Company, and Ziyuanyuan Investment and its three
subsidiaries, and a third-party of the Company. It was secured
by charges over certain finance lease receivables and loan
receivables of ZYY Finance Leasing as disclosed in Note 20 and
two properties owned by Mr. Zhang Junshen and a property
owned by a subsidiary of Ziyuanyuan Investment.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB30,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen,
Ms. Tang Yiping, Mr. Zhang Shengjie, Shenzhen Meijiaer and
Shenzhen Ruiheng, two subsidiaries of the Company, and
Shenzhen Ziyuanyuan Investment Holdings Limited, and a third-
party of the Group. It was secured by charges over certain
finance lease receivables and loan receivables of ZYY Finance
Leasing as disclosed in Note 20.

BY5E -

(if)

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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29. SRIT R HMER @

(%)

AZZTZ_WmE+ZB=+—H'%&
EENIRITERARE27,600,0007T
(ZZ2Z=%: AR¥27,600,0007T)
HRBREE BB FL T REMRE
HE - MRAQABTHMBATLRTT
BMERERFRIIHEERIITERTT
KREEBMBRASREER RITHE
MUERABERFAENHE 2RI
o

R-ZZE_ME+-_B=+—H XK
EEMIRTITERAR30,000,0007T
(ZZ=Z=% : AR¥30,000,0007T)
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HE-MRAQNBTHM B AT FRIIE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(if)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB9,700,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms.
Tang Yiping, Mr. Zhang Shengjie, Ziyuanyuan Holdings Group
Limited, ZYY Finance Leasing, Shenzhen Meijiaer and Shenzhen
Ruiheng, and Shenzhen Ziyuanyuan Investment Holdings
Limited, and a third-party of the Group. It was secured by
charges over certain trade receivables of Shenzhen Ruiheng as

disclosed in Note 21.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen,
Ms. Tang Yiping, Mr. Zhang Shengjie, ZYY Finance Leasing,
Shenzhen Meijiaer and Shenzhen Ruiheng, and Ziyuanyuan
Investment, and a third-party of the Company. It was secured
by charges over certain patent of Ziyuanyuan (Shenzhen)
Technology Company Limited (“ZYY Technology”).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowing of
RMB46,906,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms.
Tang Yiping, Mr. Zhang Junwei and Ms. Su Huangli, spouse of
Mr. Zhang Junwei. The bank borrowing is secured by a property
owned by Mr. Zhang Junwei.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowing of
RMB14,700,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen, Ms.
Tang Yiping, ZYY Finance Leasing, Shenzhen Meijiaer and a
subsidiary of Ziyuanyuan Investment. The bank borrowing
is secured by two properties owned by a third-party and
the entire equity interests in a company held by Mr. Zhang
Shengjie.

Effective interest rate of bank borrowings ranged between
3.35% and 7.50% (2023: between 3.65% and 7.50%) per
annum for the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s other borrowing of
RMB4,561,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Junshen. It
carried interests of 24% per annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group and
a finance lease company (the “Buyer-lessor”) entered into
sale and leaseback agreements, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to transfer the leased assets (the “Leased Assets”)
and/or change the registration to the name of the Buyer-
lessor with transfer considerations totalling of approximately
RMB147,119,000 (the

lessor agreed to lease the Leased Assets to the Group with a

“Considerations”), and the Buyer-
lease period of 5 to 30 months. Upon expiration of the lease
period, the Group may purchase back the Leased Assets from
the Buyer-lessor at a nominal consideration.

The Group determined the transfers to the Buyer-lessor
were not sales under HKFRS 15, thus the Group continues
to recognise the underlying assets, and recognises financial
liabilities for the considerations. As at 31 December
2024, the outstanding balance was RMB4,126,000 (2023:
RMB51,412,000).
the sale and leaseback transactions for the year ended 31

No gain or loss were recognised from

December 2024 (2023: Nil). The obligations arising from sale
and leaseback transactions were secured by finance lease
receivables as mentioned in Note 20 and guaranteed by the
Company. The Considerations were placed in a supervision
account with restricted use as disclosed in Note 23.

The borrowings from a finance lease company carried interests
of 6.10% and 6.83% (2023: 6.60% and 7.18%) per annum.

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

29. SRIT R HMER @

BY5E -

(iii)

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. i&&
Number of
shares Amount
& B8 & s
‘000 HK$'000
T FATT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREE0. 1B THNEER
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, A B =—F—HF—H-
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 —&_-_=&HF+_BA=+—H-
—ZMFE—A—HK
—ZMHE+"HB=+—H 1,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRHERE :
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 R E_=&#—H—H-
and 1 January 2024 _7__fE‘|— B=+—HkK
“ZTmFE—A—H 400,000 40,000
Issue of new shares BT 30,000 3,000
At 31 December 2024 RTEINME+ZA=+—H 430,000 43,000
2024 2023
—ETWmE =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARYFT ARBEFT
Share capital shown in the consolidated #F & M Fik R TR~
statement of financial position 36,559 33,839
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31. RESERVES
Group

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on

page 112.

Company

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Movements of the Company’s reserves are as follows:

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

E i

TEH
AEBEBBREAFEZEHHNSE
TMEZEGRmESH R

& AT
H A HEZEBIT

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total

{7 iEE REtEiE st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT ARETT AREBTT

At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=%F—H—H 56,743 (10,286) 46,457

Profit for the year Elﬂqu’ﬁﬂ - 1,092 1,092

2022 final dividend paid DIR_ZEZ_FREBERE (8,977) - (8,977)
At 31 December 2023 and RZE_=F+"FA=+—HBkK

1 January 2024 N_E_WE—H—H 47,766 (9,194) 38,572

Profit for the year FREA - 1,199 1,199

Issue of new shares BER{THTAR 37,280 - 37,280

At 31 December 2024 RZZEZME+"H=+—H 85,046 (7,995) 77,051
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

32. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 32. B ATIMFERAE

FINANCIAL POSITION

2024 2023
—EZME TR
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B 5 AR¥T T AREFIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries INEENCIPA 120,337 120,337
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries & WL 8 A B I8 8,842 5,504
Bank balances and cash IRITHBRKRIRE 17 24
8,859 5,528
Current liabilities REIBER
Other payables and accrued charges HEthfEMIELEE R 2,943 4,095
Amounts due to subsidiaries JES I B A B I8 8,082 49,359
Other borrowings HEmR 4,561 -
15,586 53,454
Net current liabilities REBEFEE (6,727) (47,926)
Net assets BEEFE 113,610 72,411
EQUITY HExm
Share capital il 30 36,559 33,839
Reserves HE 31 77,051 38,572
Total equity 48 EA 113,610 72,411
On behalf of the Board EAREFY

Mr. Zhang Junshen

Mr. Tian Zhiwei

RIGRAE HERETE
Director Director
EZE EE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. EAKIE
2024 2023
—EF-@mE —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®ETT
Capital expenditure contracted for but Bl NEXRELGESHMEREFSD
not provided in the consolidated FIRNIREERE A NER
financial statements in respect of S
acquisition of associate 2,000 -
Capital expenditure contracted for but SIRMEBRTEGREMH
not provided in the consolidated R P F TR BI UL S I B
financial statements in respect of NEINEARZH
acquisition of a subsidiary - 13,500
Capital expenditure contracted for but THERTHREMH
not provided in the consolidated $EZ¢QEP§'JTB’J EEB
financial statements in respect of RENEAEZH
computer software - 5,310
2,000 18,810
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

34. LITIGATION 34. FfF5h

202

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
involved in a litigation regarding a dispute with a supplier
about unfulfilled obligations in accordance with relevant
purchase contracts. The plaintiff claimed that the Group
did not purchase the agreed quantities of products as
stipulated in these purchase contracts. The court has reached
a judgement on November 2024 to freeze certain PRC bank
accounts of two PRC subsidiaries of the Company with
aggregated amount of approximately RMB2,495,000 for one
year. Such balances have been classified as restricted bank
balances accordingly.

Prior to the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group and
the plaintiff have entered into a mediation agreement and
the Group has indicated that the remaining obligations
of RMB10,965,000 in accordance with the purchase
contracts would be fulfilled. The directors of the Company
have assessed the impact of such mediation agreement,
considering present obligation of the Group has been
established, a payable of RMB10,965,000 have been
recognised for the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2024, the
relevant bank accounts of the Group have been unfrozen by
the plaintiff as pursuant to the mediation letter issued by the
court.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. BUSINESS ACQUISITION DURING THE

YEAR

On 29 December 2022, the Group entered into an equity
transfer agreement with an independent third party to
acquire the entire equity interest of Meikangmao, a limited
liability company incorporated in the PRC with consideration
of RMB40,000,000. Meikangmao is engaged in provision of
postpartum care service in the PRC. The acquisition has been
completed in April 2024.

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of
Meikangmao as at the date of acquisition and goodwill
arising from the acquisition were as follows:

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

35. FEAZEHBIE

RIEZZF+ZAZ+hH &T&E
BEBUE=ZAILUUEBARE
40,000,000cEEEEX (—RIV AR
RUMERSEAR) 2IBARE 2 IRHE
BERER - ERRETPIERERME FR
oz WEEN S _IUEMNATER-

BEWBR ZERIUANEERE
BZRATEE URKKRBEEZS
BHRWTF

RMB'000
AREFIT
Right-of-use assets ERESE 21,306
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERZE 15,043
Prepayments and other receivables AR IE&/H\TJ@FEH&%’KIE\ 2,665
Cash and bank balances HE RIB1THER 20,774
Other payables H e FIE (6,367)
Contract liabilities aHaRE (647)
Lease liabilities HEaE (21,306)
Fair value of net assets acquired WSz FEEANEE 31,468
Consideration: RE !

— Cash paid —BEfRE 40,000
Goodwill GES 8,532
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEES ZRESRAFRE !

Cash consideration BEMAE 40,000
Less: Amount prepaid and previously included in B BENLEtATNERE AR 2

“Prepayments for acquisition of a subsidiary” FENSIE | 2 &%8 (26,500)

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired B NEBERE IR RIRSEEY (20,774)

(7,274)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

35.

36.

BUSINESS ACQUISITION DURING THE
YEAR (continued)

Goodwill of RMBS8,532,000, which is not tax deductible,
comprises the acquired workforce and the significant future
prospect and the business value of Meikangmao. Since the
acquisition date, Meikangmao has contributed revenue of
RMB1,611,000 and incurred net loss of RMB4,468,000 to the
Group.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2024, the
Group's revenue and loss after income tax would have been
RMB552,695,000 and RMB53,910,000 respectively for the
year ended 31 December 2024. This pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2024, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future performance.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 22 July 2024, the Group has completed the disposal
of Wuhan Desheng Meimei Health Management Co. Ltd.
51% equity interest held by the
Group to an independent third party for consideration of
RMB1,300,000 (note 18). The consideration was received in
full during the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

("Desheng Meimei"),
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Desheng

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

36. HE—xXMIB AT =
EREENNEN > EEARGEER

Meimei on the date of disposal were as follows: BUWT:
2024
—TMEF
RMB'000
ARBTIT
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERZE 9
Intangible assets FREEE 1,900
Goodwill EES 1,662
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FET I B R E A FE WIS 1,274
Bank balances and cash IRTTHERRRIRSE 2
Other payables and accrued charges Hh e TRIE R ESHE B (94)
Contract Liabilities == NE (22)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIEBE (225)
4,506
Non-controlling interest R R (1,393)
3,113
Less: Proceeds from disposal B HERERIE (1,300)
Loss on disposal HEZEE 1,813

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZFREMA

Cash consideration received WAz RE B 1,300
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B HEZRERIREEEY (2)
1,298
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 37. FEIERG R
Material non-controlling interests Ek?F?“HtzZMé*
(a) Jiaenbei, a 51% effectively owned subsidiary of the (a) mREREB KRN EEREBS1 Wi

mZWBRE EEERIFER
Bm o NEBMETHEA BE
BEFEREDARZMBEER

Company, has material non-controlling interests.
Summarised financial information in relation to non-

controlling interests of Jiaenbei, before intra-group

eliminations, is presented below:

mEWMT

2024 2023
—E-_mE T =F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR®ETT
For the year ended 31 December M+ "B =+—HILEE
Revenue Y 5 5,373 4,499
Profit for the year A 996 346
Total comprehensive income S E WA LEEE 996 346
Profit allocated to non-controlling B ZE JFIERG R 2 H A
interests 491 170
Dividends paid to non-controlling ~ BAtIEEREFE KRR
interests - -
Cash generated from operating RETEPMEIRE
activities 810 1,555
Cash used in investing activities KREEEFARE (70) (M
Cash used in financing activities MEESFTARS (1,005) (1,021)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows HEFEE CRY) RA (265) 533
At 31 December ®W+=ZB=+—H
Current assets MBEE 4,435 3,760
Non-current assets EMENEE 352 1,257
Current liabilities mEIEE (694) (1,920)
Non-current liabilities =K - -
Net assets BEE 4,093 3,097
Accumulated non-controlling Kt
interests 2,016 1,525
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continuea)

Material non-controlling interests (continued)

(b)

Dunnan Group, has material non-controlling interests.
Summarised financial information in relation to non-
controlling interests of Dunnan Group, before intra-

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

37. FERRiED &
EAIFZRR AR (2
(b) HEEE BEEBAFLRE
o R EE N AT RS
EEEEREHEMZHSES

group eliminations, is presented below: BENT :
2024 —E-mE
Guangzhou Guangzhou
Sheng Ya Sheng Xin
Family Services ~ Family Services
Co., Ltd. Co., Ltd.
JEE I B X B BEMNERERE
REBRAE R#EBRAE
Percentage of equity interests held EARJFERBEARGIIFREZEAT
by non-controlling interests 15% 20%
RMB'000 RMB’000
For the year ended BE-_Z-_NE+-BA=+—HLEE
31 December 2024
Revenue Wz 10,700 8,223
Profit for the year RENZEF 44 132
Total comprehensive income SHKALLE 44 132
Profit allocated to non-controlling  HEE JEIEMR#ER 2 HF
interests 7 27
Dividends paid to non-controlling ~ BAYIEER#ER 2K E
interests - -
Cash generated from operating REEHMERE
activities 912 1,005
Cash used in investing activities REGEMERS (102) (130)
Cash used in financing activities MEEBMARE (2,141) (1,883)
Net cash outflows BeF8ERL (1,331) (1,008)
At 31 December 2024 RZE_NE+ZA=+—H
Current assets MENEE 4,794 3,698
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,478 1,608
Current liabilities nEas (4,511) (3,716)
Non-current liabilities eI =N (1,657) -
Net assets REE 2,104 1,590
Accumulated non-controlling KRS
interests 316 318
Ko nEREERERAT FERS 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_E_mFE+ _A=+—HIFE

37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 37. JEIERR
Material non-controlling interests (continued) BRIEEREXED (&
(b) (continued) (b)y (#)
2023 —E =
Guangzhou Guangzhou
Sheng Ya Sheng Xin
Family Services Family Services
Co., Ltd. Co., Ltd.
EMNEERE BMNBERE
RBEBERAE RBEBRAE
Percentage of equity interests held EAIFERBRAEGFFREZ TN
by non-controlling interests 15% 20%
RMB'000 RMB’000
For the year ended BEZZ -G+ A=1+—BLEE
31 December 2023
Revenue & 10,750 8,552
Loss for the year ﬁ?EWZEﬂE (483) (280)
Total comprehensive income ZEBAL (483) (280)
Loss allocated to non-controlling ﬁ@ﬂi?ﬂ”ﬂﬂ& 1 2518
interests (72) (56)
Dividends paid to non-controlling ~ B JEEREZZKRE
interests 166 249
Cash generated from operating REEHERE
activities 2,956 1,976
Cash used in investing activities REZEMERS (173) (121)
Cash used in financing activities ~ BEZEFARS (3,619) (3.171)
Net cash outflows REFER (836) (1,316)
At 31 December 2023 AZBZ=F+-A=+—-H
Current assets TEEE 4,478 2,484
Non-current assets FERBEE 5,857 3,796
Current liabilities nEEE (5,021) (3,409)
Non-current liabilities EEI=RE (3,254) (1,413)
Net assets FEE 2,060 1,458
Accumulated non-controlling RETFFERED
interests 310 291
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 38. FAE A TR 5 KR
BALANCES
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which ZK"ﬂéﬂJ;'ZK’&ﬂ EATZREBA
are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on RZBRERE IR B R 8 m I
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. In addition to iy ZIKW AARE - REMEHIREZ
those balances and transactions disclosed elsewhere, details EERRR P AEBBEEMBEEA
of other significant transactions between the Group and other TRERETZEMBEARZHFR
related parties during the year are disclosed as follows: BT
Compensation of key management personnel EEEEAESHE
The key management personnel of the Group are the FEEFTEBEEBABAEEREMRE
directors and senior management. Remuneration of the key BE - FEEEBABZMNET B H N
management personnel is determined by the remuneration ZEEREERBAINALTZRRERTS
committee having regard to the performance of individuals HMRABETC - FANFEEEEAEN
and market trends. The remuneration of key management |

personnel during the year is as follows.

2024 2023

—E-ME EC=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T AR¥TF T

Salaries, allowances and other benefits ¥« 28h R HMEF 4,940 6,703
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BRKEF] 5t 2 (3 436 625
5,376 7,328

Emoluments paid or payable to members of senior ENHENAREEASENMNETE

management were within the following bands: UTEHER :

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
—EME i

Emolument bands N EEE:
Nil — HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 11 9
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 % 1,500,000 75 1 -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 75 %2,000,0008 75 - 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 75 %E2,500,000E 75 - 1

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

39. X EMBATRFE

Issued and
fully paid Percentage of
Place/Country of share capital/ issued capital  Principal activities
Date of incorporation/ incorporation/establishment registered held by  and place of
Name of company establishment and kind of legal entity capital the Company"  operations
AR, FAH
Iz BR BETRER P RITRE
AERE AR/ A B Rt EERER Bx,/EMEE ZESL IERBRESME
Honor Global Holdings Limited 28 October 2016 British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), US$50,000 100% Investment holding,
limited liability company (2023: 100%) Hong Kong
RREEHERERAT “Z-XE+AZHN\R HBELHES EREEAT 50,000% 7T RERR BB
Infinite Success Enterprises Limited 2 July 2019 BVI, limited liability company Us$1 100% Investment holding,
(2023: 100%) Hong Kong
“B-AFtACH HBRELHE BERELAT (S REER BF
Action Star Investments Limited 18 May 2020 BVI, limited liability company US$50,000 100% Investment holding,
(2023: 100%) Hong Kong
“E_2FRATN\H HERUHE BREEAH 50,000% 7% REZR B
HK Lixin 6 March 2013 Hong Kong, limited liability company ~ HK$50,000,000 100% Investment holding,
(2023: 100%) Hong Kong
EBLE —2-=f£=ARKH B BREEAT 50,000,000 7 RERR BB
ZYY Finance Leasing 28 May 2014 PRC, limited liability company US$50,000,000 100% Provision of finance
(2023: 100%) leasing services, PRC
SnnRERE “E-WEEAZHNR B BEREEAD 50,000,000% 7% REBERERS
FE
Ziyuanyuan (Shenzhen) Technology 6 September 2015 PRC, limited liability company RMB30,000,000 100% Provision of
Limited (2023: 100%) technological services,
PRC
Zo (RY) BEEBRAS “ZE-RFENARH FE BEREFAH N REKTRE > HE
30,000,0007%
Shenzhen Ruiheng 16 August 2019 PRC, limited liability company US$2,898,800 100% Equipment trading, PRC

FIRE
Shenzhen Meijiaer

RUEER

Jiaenbei

]

=RE

d

“E-AFENA+RAE

8 June 2020

“BCEFRANR

22 October 2020

“ET2F+AZ+CH

TR BREEAT 2,898,800% 7T
PRC, limited liability company RMB50,000,000
FE BREERT N

50,000,0007%

PRC, limited liability company RMB1,000,000

TR BREEAT A 1,000,0007C

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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100%
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(2023: 51%)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

30. X EMMBATIFE @

Issued and
fully paid Percentage of
Place/Country of share capital/ issued capital  Principal activities
Date of incorporation/ incorporation/establishment registered held by  and place of
Name of company establishment and kind of legal entity capital the Company”  operations
AR FAH
Iz BR BRETRER FRfFETRE
AE R EMML RiBH Rt EBRER B/ HMEE ZEAL FEEBREEHEN
Dunnan 27 December 2016 PRC, limited liability company RMB 10,000,000 100% Provision of postpartum
(2023: 100%) care services, PRC
) “ZE-RE+ZAZ+tH HE BEREEAF N RHEAFRYE TE
10,000,0007T
Guangzhou Sheng Ya Family Services 1 August 2016 PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000 85% Provision of postpartum
Co., Ltd. (2023: 85%) care services, PRC
BT REXERBERAT —2-"E/\A—H FE EREEAH N RHUAFRE HE
2,000,0007%
Guangzhou Sheng Xin Family Services 25 September 2017 PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000 80% Provision of postpartum
Co., Ltd. (2023: 80%) care services, PRC
BT RBXERBERAT “E—tEAAZFTREA HE BREEAT N RUEAFRE 1E
2,000,0007%
Meikangmao 7 April 2022 PRC, limited liability company RMB40,000,000 100% Provision of postpartum
(2023: nil) care services, PRC
E3: 34 —Z_"FWAtA FE EREEAE N RHEAFRYE TE
40,000,0007T

n

Except Honor Global Holdings Limited, Infinite Success
Enterprises Limited and Action Star Investments Limited, all
subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

The directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the
particulars of all subsidiaries would be of excessive length and
therefore the above list contains only the particulars of the
subsidiaries which materially affect the results or assets of the
Group.

" FRERIBEIKIZERBRAE ~ Infinite
Success Enterprises Limited & Action
Star Investments Limited4h > Fr 5 [ /8
REEBEARABEERER -

EEZRS REINTRFENBATZ
HEERERN AR REMBFEEESR
HAEBMEEREEENEATEY
MBABEK

ZanEREEARAE FEHE 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

40. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF 40. TFFREREWR ZMicE
CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial activities: MEEELEZ2BECHEK:
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_E-_NE&E+-“HA=+—HIL=E
E
Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities
HRITR
Hfthfam HEaE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBF AREFT
At 1 January 2024 A _EF_WMFE—-HA—-H 132,801 10,854
Changes from cash flows: REREEH .
New bank borrowings g RIT R 163,460 -
Repayment of bank borrowings EBERTER (66,182) -
Repayment to a finance lease company fBEE&LIHERZZHIE (47,286) -
Interest paid Eﬁﬂ =\ (9,417) -
Capital element of lease liabilities paid ~ FHE& /\ZﬁﬁﬁBﬁT;L - (7,291)
Interest element of lease liabilities paid HE&GEZFEHHEE - (2,074)
Total changes from financing cash flows #EERZREHSH 0 . 40,575 (9.365)
Other changes: HhE g
Acquisition of a subsidiary WHEMS B A B - 21,306
Interest expenses FMEREZ 9,417 2,074
Lease modification HEEST - 3,352
Lease termination HEKIE - (535)
Total other changes MeHfthE®m 0 9,417 . 26,197
At 31 December 2024 RIBEZMF+"B=+—H 182,793 27,686
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CASH FLOWS (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

40. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF

40.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

XFREREBRRZMEE

#

BE_ T =-F+-RB=+t—HLF

E
Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities
R1T &
HfEmR HEas
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AR®ETT
At 1 January 2023 rR-—E¥-—=%-HF-H0 228,842 17,427
Changes from cash flows: RWEREEH
New bank borrowings i RITE 62,500 -
Repayment of bank borrowings EBEIRTER (62,834) -
Repayment to a finance lease company {E:EE&EHERZHNIE (95,707) -
Interest paid BFE (12,447) -
Capital element of lease liabilities paid ~ HE&EZ A& IEE - (7,645)
Interest element of lease liabilities paid FHE&BBEZFEXHEE - (1,400)
Total changes from financing cash flows #ERbE RS MEE - (108488 (9,045)
Other changes: Hit& s
Lease commencement &R - 229
Interest expenses FERSZ 12,447 1,400
Lease modification HAEES] - 10,623
Lease termination HE&IE - (9,780)
Total other changes MeHEftheE®m 0 12,447 2,472
At 31 December 2023 RIEBE_=F+"A=+—H 132,801 10,854
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. B bz E 18

214

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
instrument risks: market risk (including foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance
by closely monitoring the individual exposure.

The Group does not have written risk management
policies and guidelines. However, the directors meet
periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to manage
the Group's exposure to a variety of risks which resulted
from its operating and investing activities. Generally,
the Group employs conservative strategies regarding its
risk management to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out as follows:

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
restricted bank deposits, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances, other receivables, deposits, trade receivables,
loan receivables, finance lease receivable and financial
guarantee contracts.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets and trade and finance lease receivables
under ECL model. Information about the Group’s credit
risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and
the related impairment assessment, if applicable, are
summarised as below.

ZIYUANYUAN HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Restricted bank deposits/pledged bank deposits/
bank balances

The credit risk on restricted bank deposits, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances is limited because
the majority of the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies, and the probability of default of the
counterparty banks is insignificant, and accordingly, no
allowance for credit losses is provided as the amount of
ECL is immaterial.

Other receivables/deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of
the Company make periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables and deposits
based on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information available without undue cost or effort at
reporting date. The directors of the Company believe
that there is no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12-month ECL. For the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits were
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Trade and finance lease receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade
and finance lease receivables, credit limits and credit
terms granted to customers are approved by delegated
officers and follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the credit risk of the Group is
significantly reduced. Except for the trade and finance
lease receivables is credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade and
finance lease receivables is grouped under a provision
matrix based on industry types, the historical past due
information and customers/lessees’ creditworthiness.

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

41. AR EIR &

(a)

ERAR (&)
ﬁ%ﬂﬁ Tﬁ/ﬁ#ﬁﬂfﬂ
/ fﬁ {TII D

EBEFEJEEFJ??E’X CEIRRITER
RBTHEGZEBRABRAER R
ERBAARZHAEEREG
MBI ERESEESRZRE
TRXZHFNRITENOEERE
BE BHERABARILIAEN
FItEERBEARER-

HittERHE - HE
HRHEMBWRIBENIZES AR
AEFERBELGECHR B
FEBARERNHAIBERLRL
BAMARNEERERXKFZE
EMEMRBEEEMN THER
= BFLER E MR R IR L &
BYPIUR B M E1T S - A EEIR
B12E B EERERBERFERE
BRE TREEERHELEEH
WEERBRBED HER aﬁ%
ERM-BE_T_MFKR_
_:E+_E:+—E¢¢E’
FEBEFEEMBERENIZE
WRAEERATEZ  EMmAR
BHESDE o

ESRMEHEEWKZE

HEERAMHEESKMEBER
WHREERONEERR BTE
FREEREREERNEES
KA B#7Z o WHREIRETENUR
EEmAEH -BUILME > T2 F
EETARTEENGERARERX
BREE-FRE S KMERERY

MECERREE  FEENMG
BE REENEZRMEEE

WmRIR R Y B 0 4R *E?J‘Eﬁ
@ -BERAREHNEER
ABANEE PR ET G
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and finance lease receivables (continued)

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to
mitigate credit risk of leasing business. The most typical
one is the taking of collateral, which is the leased asset
and claim deposits made by the lessees and guarantees
by third parties. The Group provides guidelines on
acceptable types of collateral, which mainly includes
printing, medical equipment and logistics equipment.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s concentration
of credit risk on trade and finance lease receivables
included five major counterparties accounting for
47.3% and 56.2%, respectively (2023: 63.2% and
36.7%, respectively), of the aggregate outstanding
balances at the respective year end date.

The Group has closely monitored the recoverability
of trade and finance lease receivables from all
counterparties, ensured adequate collateral is received
from these counterparties and taken effective measures
to ensure timely collection of outstanding balances.

The Group is exposed to the concentration of
geographical risk on revenue which is generated mostly
from customers located in the PRC during the reporting
period. The directors of the Company have closely
monitored the business performance of these customers
in the PRC and will consider diversifying its customer
base as appropriate.
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rERESRAMEHRERKZIE
HBENEREERRBELAE
ERFH > DRMGEFELEEHBNE
BB REEENA7 3% K%56.2%

TEI=F I DR632% K
36.7%)

AEEBEBEREVEEMAR
SHFFESRMERERKHR
BERAKREY BREZSEHF
HESEHMIRF R ERNA
RYHE B LU (R K B U Bl R BB 46
BRo

P¥RE R 455 B W m E R Y
& ot 3 L B R B8 0 2R B LS
BERNER AASEFEEYE
IZEPTHEERPNERRE I
EEOBMHEZRE WEE) -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and finance lease receivables (continued)

The ECL assessment of trade and financial lease
receivables were determined by the Group, with the
assistance of an independent external valuer appointed
by the management, APAC.

For trade and finance lease receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for customers
who are credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL
on these items by using a provision matrix, grouped by
internal credit rating.

The measurement of ECL is a function of the PD, LGD
and the EAD. The assessment of the PD and LGD is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information related to the economic inputs and the
future macroeconomic conditions such as nonfarm
payroll and purchasing managers’ index.

The Group calculated PD by applying linear regression
by inputting credit default swap, purchasing managers’
index and certain other index with adjustment factors
such as industry and region. The LGD were based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
and by referencing the external database on regional
recovery by creditors.

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_E_mFE+ _A=+—HIFE

41. AR EIR &

(a)

ERRE (&
ESRMEHEEKZE (B

B 5 hkBERE R U TERE
REAFEERAERURTEER
BEZENBIEXHEMBEX
HENHBE TEE -

PE S KkEEHEEEWRIEM
S AEECEREBMBRS
ERBIORZEHH EREHRE
HERBKRSBIEKLERB KB
HIFERAREZZRIN AEE
AR EEEEZSFEEZR
HEREBX LA EEFR

PaN

BRYPERERNGEREOH
R EBREERIE QR R RO
MR - BHOBERRENBRERD
IR A A RAS T 8 A\ BUR K R 2K
REEERE PIMNIFRETE
RFRBEIBAES ZREEE
IR R 2 FE s #m m st o

FEENEBBAGRENE
- RB IR E T HEMIEH
HTEX BHEFRRETHE)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and finance lease receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided
RMB17,621,000 (2023: RMB9,424,000) impairment
allowance for trade receivables and RMB1,865,000
(2023: RMB2,957,000) impairment allowance for
finance lease receivables, based on the provision matrix.
Impairment allowance of RMB58,197,000 (2023:
RMB21,513,000) was made on credit-impaired finance
lease receivables.

The table below detail the credit risk exposure of the
Group's trade and finance lease receivables, which are
subject to ECL assessment:

Trade receivables:

The ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end

of the reporting period, based on due date and net of
allowances, is as follows:

41. AR EIR &

(a)

SRR &)
EBESZRMEFHEEIKZE (E)
RIZEZ_OWNF+ZB=+—8>
NEBEPIZERETIRE S E
WHIE AR ®17,621,0005T (Z
TT=4F AE"9,424,0007T)
ERERREEAEERIIEBEBAR
#1,865,0007c (ZE-_=F: A
K 12,957,00070) HEREE E

BREZMERSREINRIEED
AR #58,197,00070 (ZE2 ==
F: AR®21,513,0007T) Z B E
BitE o

TRV EARAERZERMEE
rhEZKRBEBERKRE (B
ETRBERBRTM 2ER
JERR

B 5 EWRIA
REREMRZEPENREE

B 0MEZEUGRIERE DT 2
HIE0F

2024 2023

—EF-MmE —EF=5

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTFT AR®ETT

Current (not past due) BHER R ER) 250,381 175,921
1-30 days past due BEA1ZE30H - -
31-90 days past due AHEA31E90H 233 -
91-365 days past due #HA91E365H 30,140 20,954
Over 365 days past due AHA365H U 16,323 112
297,077 196,987
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 SR R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_E_mFE+ _A=+—HIFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 41. AR ERE &=

(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EHRAR #=
Trade and finance lease receivables (continued) EBESRMETAEEKNE (&)
Weighted Gross
average carrying Loss
lifetime ECL amount allowance
IN#EEg
2 HATEHEA

ERER AREARME BREE
(%)  (RMB’000)  (RMB’000)
(%) AR®FTT ARETR®

As at 31 December 2024 RIE_ME
+-—HB=+—H
Low risk (the counterparty has &AM RXZHFAHZ
a low risk of default and EBAORREDR
does not have any past due BHEAREEE
amounts) 1% 254,303 3,690
Fair risk (the counterparty —RER RXZHFH
frequently repays after due REREEAB®ER
date but usually settle in full) 2HER) 21% 58,520 12,535
Loss (there is evidence indicating % (BB BEEREEHER
the asset is credit-impaired) ERBE) 74% 1,875 1,396
314,698 17,621
As at 31 December 2023 A ZET=
+ZR=+—H
Low risk (the counterparty has 1&ER XZHFHZ
a low risk of default and BORREIEE
does not have any past due wEHAEE8)
amounts) 2% 178,723 2,802
Fair risk (the counterparty —mEkE XSHEFAH
frequently repays after due RENREHR®R
date but usually settle in full)  2HEER) 22% 26,866 5,965
Loss (there is evidence indicating 8% (B EEREELR
the asset is credit-impaired) = BRE) 80% 822 657
206,411 9,424
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Trade and finance lease receivables (continued)

41. B EE e
() EEER (&
B RSB SE (B)

Finance lease receivables: MEEEEWE
Weighted Gross
average carrying Loss
lifetime ECL amount allowance
NEFEY
2 HATEH
ERE%X IRmEAEE B EE
(%) (RMB'000) (RMB’000)
(%) AR¥EFTT AR®BTT
As at 31 December 2024 MN-E-ME
+-B=+—H
Low risk B 2% 82,189 1,675
Fair risk — A% & LB 20% 934 190
Loss =S 87% 66,580 58,197
149,703 60,062
As at 31 December 2023 i =——
+ZRA=+—H
Low risk & b 2% 93,343 1,633
Fair risk — % R b 23% 5,677 1,324
Loss =ES 66% 32,449 21,513
131,469 24,470

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

TRETREEZHEZEMNES
PRV IERESE 2 2 B TR RS B 18

simplified approach: Lot E

2024 2023

—E”NE ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TF T AREFIT
Balance at 1 January K—B—HBZiREE 9,424 5,520
Impairment losses recognised B EEE 8,197 3,904
Balance at 31 December B+ZA=+—H=~ 17,621 9,424
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

41. B SR

Credit risk (continued) (a) =HRRAK #)
Trade and finance lease receivables (continued) BSRMEHEENZE (&
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRETREBZ HZEMME
that has been recognised for finance lease receivables HERWHIERD 2 2 ATERE
under the simplified approach: FEXES !
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
not credit-impaired credit-impaired Total
2HBHEREX 2HRBEREX
(EEERRE (ERAME) s
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECmE ZTTZf ZEIME CZZZFE ZECME CTZCCR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
At 1 January ®-A-8 2,957 4,800 21,513 18,957 24,470 23,757
Changes due to finance lease receivables 1@ —F—BRAZBERERKNE
recognised as at 1 January: BY7LE9.
— Transfer to credit-impaired -BREERAE (1,599) (1,814) 1,599 1814 - -
- Impairment losses recognised -BEDHESE 774 1,583 35,486 1,954 36,260 3,537
- Impairment losses reversal - HEBRAE (1,699) (2,218) (401) (1,212) (2,100) (3.430)
Changes due to net addition of finance  FEETR EEMTEMIESH
lease receivables 1432 606 - - 1432 606
At 31 December S 1,865 2,957 58,197 21513 60,062 24,470
The movements in the gross carrying amounts of finance HEHERUTBNIREMAESE
lease receivables were as follows: ER I
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
not credit-impaired credit-impaired Total
2HBBEREX 2HRBEREX
(EEERRE (ERAME) a
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEME ZRT-F ZECME ZZC=F ZECIME CEC=R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBEFR ARETr ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
At 1 January R—E—H 99,020 173,134 32,449 27,938 131,469 201,072
Changes due to finance lease receivables 1 —F—REDZBERERNZE
recognised as at 1 January: BYrEY).
~ Transfer to credit-impaired -BREERAR (36,914) (5,929) 36,914 5,929 - -
- Settlement -#5 (45,785) (101,665) (2,783) (1,418) (48,568) (103,083)
Changes due to net addition of RERERNTIENILTE
finance lease receivables 66,802 33,480 - - 66,802 33,480
At 31 December B+ZA=t+-H 83,123 99,020 66,580 32,449 149,703 131,469
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 41. REEIRE =

(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EHRAR #=
Financial guarantees issued BB 1ERIZH
To determine ECLs for financial guarantee issued, the REETVMBEFRELNTERER
Group considers changes in the risk of default of the B AEEEZEBHRFRELZ
specified debtor since the initial recognition of issuance R LURIEE B ARNEN
of the guarantee. The amount of financial guarantees B REBPIRE 2 M B HER
issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 28. S RAUNMS 5E28 PRI EE ©
The table below detail the credit risk exposure of TRAMRATHE_S -MHF
the Group's exposure to financial guarantee as at 31 E=F+ZHA=+—H"
December 2024 and 2023, which is subject to ECL REERMBERSEMERZ
assessment: ERRK ZERBELBESR
EREKTM :
Weighted
average Loss
lifetime ECL Exposure allowance
MEEH
2 HATRHA
EREX 0 HREE

(%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
ARBTTT ARBTT

As at 31 December 2024 HIZEZWUE+ZAH
=+—H
Financial guarantee ISR 1.9% 125,842 2,402
As at 31 December 2023 A _E_=F+_A4
=+—H
Financial guarantee ISR 1.7% 149,708 2,451
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk related
primarily to certain restricted bank deposits, bank
balances, refundable rental deposits and lease liability
that are denominated in HK$ and US$. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currencies
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

a1. BEEIE =

(b)

BRI

AEBEZIIMNERE EEHA LB T
METHEZS *ﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬁﬂfﬁﬁf
MRMIBITHAGR IRERE
EREEEERM- ZI:%IEHU

G 4% S0 B H R R » BIE
I'ﬁ*?-riﬁl\liﬂﬁm’ﬁthﬁ\ FE
By B E M ERINE R

R|EHR > ZEBLSNESHE
ZEBREERGEREEDT

Assets Liabilities
BE =R

2024 2023 2024 2023
—EINE T -fF ZEZNE —T=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTT AREBTT AR®TT ARETT
HK$ BT 938 912 7,506 2,733
us$ E7T 5 5 - -

The Group's exposures to foreign currencies on financial
assets and liabilities are mainly concentrated in the
fluctuation of foreign exchange rates, for which the
directors of the Company considered the effect is
immaterial.

Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group
is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
restricted bank deposits, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and variable-rate bank borrowings. The Group
takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuation in the
prevailing market interest rates affecting the cash flow
risks.

(c)

FEEASNEREEREED
SRS IR B EB E R
R AADEERALL ST
REAo

I = &

HensfXARIESMIAR
RELREBERT IS KEECHIR
REHER - AEEAKZTRFR
HERITER - BRETER R
THERPIH RIRITERERH
HNIREREMNEEAR - AEEM
BRIRTH BN RBTERER
2R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFEF+ A =+—HIFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group is not exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings,
lease liabilities, fixed-rate loan receivables, fixed-rate
finance lease receivables and deposits from finance lease
customers because the Group did not measure these
loans and receivables at fair value. The Group does not
have a fair value interest rate risk hedging policy.

Management monitors the related interest exposure
closely to ensure the interest rate risks are maintained
at an acceptable level. The level of mismatch of interest
rate repricing that may be undertaken is monitored
closely.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
assets and liabilities are mainly concentrated in the
fluctuation of People’s Bank of China rate arising from
restricted bank deposits, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and variable-rate bank borrowings for which
the directors of the Company considered the effect is
immaterial.

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the directors, and the entity has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for
the directors’ short, medium and long-term funding
and liquidity management requirements. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves
and banking facilities, by continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the

maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
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41. B EE e

(c)

(d)

MERE (&)
FEFREESRBREENKIRT
REMER - BEER BEEF
X/WER - ESREHEEUL
MEMRBEREERRENAT
BRNXER ~EBILELQFE
) = LB P BUER o

EEERYEEHENE AR
ERAKXEREREAZERK
Fo g By EEIE R AEETHA
KREFT DI AESI BRI FEBC KT o

FEEAZNEREEKRERET
REARETEEFRARFETHE
MOERRITERRITERK
RITEREENTREARIRTRE
MM RKEE  RARESFDR
HEBUFEK

RBEEERE
MEBESRBEERRETH
EFEARE ESCREBRUES
ZHE-FAREHREERABES
EERERIUEERBECRAR
EEER-AEEEBERTRE
RERIBITHE URBBEE
ERRAKRBEREEREBIERS
%%%E&%%Zﬁ%%ﬂ
BREEEREME-



41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at each of the reporting dates of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payment computed using contractual rates or,
if floating, based on current rates at the reporting date)
and the earliest date the Group may be required to pay.

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_ME+ /A =+—HIFFEE

41. B EE e

(d) "BEERE (&
TRAVNSREHEERIFT
TEMEBAENRGRETOEEA -
ZEREEREERERAEERN
AMRBEERERTEETRE
REENRFEARRERR - KTE
BEANERAZRERERAEH
MEHENREXNH B F
#) BERWEHEFXAE -

Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or 1to Over
amount  cash flow  on demand 2 years 2 years
manx
BRRE 15/

REE e BREX 1524 WENE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:

As at 31 December 2024 RZZZME+ZA=1+-H

Non-derivative financial liabilities Frtenas

Trade and hills payables BARZERATE 22,409 22,409 22,409 - -
Other payables EENTIE 16,304 16,304 16,304 - -
Lease liabilities HEaB 27,686 38,111 8,386 1172 22,553
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 182,793 185,406 110,596 27,801 47,009
249,192 262,230 157,695 34,973 69,562
Financial quarantees issued FRRERRY - 125,842 125,842 - -

As at 31 December 2023 RIZZ=4+ZA=1+-H

Non-derivative financial liabilities FtEenas

Trade and bills payables B RERENTE 60,111 60,111 60,111 - -
Other payables EEMGTIE 46,051 46,051 46,051 - -
Lease liabilities HEARB 10,854 11,416 6,475 3,220 1,721
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 132,801 140,684 105,822 6,253 28,609
249,817 258,262 218,459 9,473 30,330
Financial quarantees issued HRERRY - 149,730 149,730 - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA 5 R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZE_Ef A =+—HIFFEE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
issued are the maximum amounts the Group could be
required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability
of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee if
the receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to owners of the Company through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank
borrowings as set out in Note 29 and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of
the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with the share capital and borrowings. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through new share
issues and issue of convertible bonds.
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42.

EEEIE @

d) FBHESEE (&
FREEBHNYEERNSES
AEERERIH TS EREH
CERTIEEER2DERS
BREEZERH I BBSE R
BRSNS AEERA
e TRITEBESGEM
BB o AT > M 5 AT AR BAR BB
XTSI RIEERENT
MM BERERTSY
FHREENSREKRBESE
FF 1814 B BT BB M 1Y R B

BEXEEER
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2ERSENFECE ARKEBE
CEBREZz T BERSEAR
AR ANZREIR AEEZ EERE
B E—FEERFTE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

on 14 February 2025, the Company entered into the
convertible bond placing agreement (the “CB Placing”) with
the placing agent, pursuant to which the Company agreed
to issue and the placing agent agreed to procure, on a best
endeavour basis, no less than six placees to subscribe for the
convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of up to
HK$100,000,000 at the issue price of 100% of the principal
amount of the convertible bonds.

As at the approval date of these consolidated financial
statements, the completion of CB Placing has been partially
completed and the convertible bonds in the principal amount
of HK$32,000,000 have been issued by the Company to the
first placee.

For details of the CB Placing, please refer to the
announcements of the Company published on 14 February
2025, 24 February 2025, 7 March 2025 and 26 March 2025.

43. iR & HA

BA 5 SRR MY s

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—EMFE+ A =+—HIFE

®BE1E
RZE_AF_A+HB > ARQRE
HAREEREBIT LMK ESEEHE
(TR ESRE)) » BIL > AAF
FAERZET MEERERIERERAE
NEE REARDRANLEREARE
AL HEER S%£100,000,00078 THIAJ
BRES BTEAUTRKESAS
4BEEAI100% ©

RARGEMBRERAE QP TIRRE
SEEEMATN > ARABEMAEI
AP ANEITAEEE32,000,0007T
Z AR ES o

ERMRBRESEEZFHF BF2H
KRBl ZE_HAFE_R+MHHA-ZF
_AFE_RBRZ+WHB-ZE_AEF=
BtAKZE_RAF=A_+87
EPd/N
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MEERHEE

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities KEEHE_ZNF - ZZ2T=F-22Z

of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2024, 2023, 2022, _THE -8R E_EFE+_H
2021 and 2020, extracted from the audited financial statements in —t+—HIEFEZEHEEXEEUKREER
the annual reports is as follows: BERE BREFRAZKEZTERR)
wr
RESULTS: E 47—l
Year ended 31 December
B#E+-_B=1+—HILEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“ECNmE 2= B oHF BI-HF —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTR ARETR AREBTT ARBTT AREBT®
Revenue W@ 552,267 497,955 324,598 119,442 58,512
(Loss)/profit before taxation — B&¥iA1 (E518) /@A) (52,918) 18,001 22,937 6,166 15,155
Income tax credit/(expenses)  Frigfst A/ (Bixx) 742 (4,137) (7,511) 277 (2,270)
(Loss)/profit for the year TR (B18) &F (52,176) 13,864 15,426 6,443 12,885

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: BEERBE:

As at 31 December
w+=ZB=+—H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EIME - T fF -8 —ET°FTF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBFRT AEBETRT AR®TRT AR®TRx AR®FTx
Total assets BEEE 603,509 615,163 602,277 532,749 439,611
Total liabilities BER%E (301,422) (299,874) (291,460) (228,427) (136,299)
Total equity Em4asE 302,087 315,289 310,817 304,322 303,312
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